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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”)
and Section 21E of the Exchange Act (the “Exchange Act”) concerning us and other matters. These statements may discuss goals, intentions and expectations as to future plans,
trends, events, results of operations or financial condition, or otherwise, based on current beliefs of management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently
available to, management.

Forward-looking statements may be accompanied by words such as “achieve,” “aim,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “drive,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“forecast,” “future,” “grow,” “improve,” “increase,” “intend,” “may,” “outlook,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would,” or similar
words, phrases or expressions. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of our control, which could cause
actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, our ability to achieve or maintain profitability; the extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the
duration, spread, severity, and any recurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the duration and scope of related government orders and restrictions, the impact on our employees, and
the extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on overall demand for our products; local, regional, national, and international economic conditions that have deteriorated as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic including the risks of a global recession or a recession in one or more of our key markets, and the impact they may have on us and our customers
and management’s assessment of that impact; the projected financial information, anticipated growth rate, and market opportunity of our Branded Consumer Packaged Goods
(“Branded CPG”) and Flavors & Ingredients business segments; the ability to maintain the listing of our securities on Nasdaq; the potential liquidity and trading of our public
securities; our expected capital requirements and the availability of additional financing; our ability to attract or retain highly qualified personnel, including in accounting and
finance roles; extensive and evolving government regulations that impact the way we operate; the effect of the reclassification and treatment of warrants pursuant to ASC Topic
815-40; the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our suppliers, including disruptions and inefficiencies in the supply chain; factors relating to the business, operations and
financial performance of our Branded CPG and Flavors & Ingredients segments; the ongoing military conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East and related economic disruptions
and new governmental regulations on our business, including but not limited to the potential impact on our sales, operations and supply chain; adverse changes in the global or
regional general business, political and economic conditions, including the impact of continuing uncertainty and instability in certain countries, that could materially affect our
global markets and the potential adverse economic impact and related uncertainty caused by these items; our ability to continue to use, maintain, enforce, protect and defend owned
and licensed intellectual property, including the Whole Earth® brand; risks associated with the Merger (as defined below), including the ability of the parties to satisfy the
conditions precedent and consummate the Merger, the timing of consummation of the Merger, the ability of the parties to secure any required stockholder approval in a timely
manner or on the terms desired or anticipated, the ability of the parties to obtain the financing required to consummate the Merger, the ability to achieve anticipated benefits and
savings, potential disruption of management’s attention, and any legal proceedings related to the proposed Merger; and such other factors as discussed throughout, including in Part
I, Item 1A. Risk Factors and Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, our information may be incomplete or limited, and we cannot guarantee
future results. Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements for any reason, even if new information becomes available
in the future.
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PART I

Item 1.    Business.

Overview

We are a global food company enabling healthier lifestyles and providing access to high-quality, plant-based sweeteners, flavor enhancers and other foods through our diverse
portfolio of trusted brands and delicious products. We operate a proven platform organized into two reportable segments, Branded CPG and Flavors & Ingredients. Our portfolio
consists of three main product groups: sweeteners, adjacencies and ingredients.

We were originally formed on August 16, 2018 as Act II Global Acquisition Corp., a Cayman Islands exempted company formed as a blank check company (“Act II”), and
consummated our initial public offering (“IPO”) in April 2019. On June 24, 2020, we domesticated into a Delaware corporation and changed our name from “Act II Global
Acquisition Corp.” to “Whole Earth Brands, Inc.” On June 25, 2020, we consummated the indirect acquisition of Merisant Company (collectively with its subsidiaries, “Merisant”)
and Mafco Worldwide, LLC (collectively with its subsidiaries and affiliates, “Mafco Worldwide,” and together with Merisant, “Merisant and Mafco”) (the “Business
Combination”), and in connection therewith, became (i) a successor issuer to Act II by operation of Rule 12g-3(a) promulgated under the Exchange Act; and (ii) the ultimate parent
of Merisant and Mafco. See Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On November 10, 2020, we executed and closed a definitive Equity Purchase Agreement (the “Swerve Purchase Agreement”) with RF Development, LLC (“RF
Development”), Swerve, L.L.C. (“Swerve LLC”), and Swerve IP, L.L.C. (“Swerve IP” and together with Swerve LLC, “Swerve”). Swerve is a manufacturer and marketer of a
portfolio of zero and reduced sugar, keto-friendly, and plant-based sweeteners and grain free, gluten free, and low/no sugar baking mixes. We purchased all of the issued and
outstanding equity interests of both Swerve LLC and Swerve IP from RF Development, and both Swerve LLC and Swerve IP became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Whole Earth
Brands. The transaction was structured to simultaneously sign and close, was not subject to any closing conditions, and closed on November 10, 2020.

On December 17, 2020, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Wholesome Purchase Agreement”) with WSO Investments, Inc. (“WSO Investments” and together
with its subsidiaries, “Wholesome”), WSO Holdings, LP (“WSO Partnership”), Edwards Billington and Son, Limited (“EBS”), WSO Holdings, LLC (“WSO LLC,” and together
with WSO Partnership and EBS, the “WSO Sellers”), and WSO Partnership, in its capacity as representative for the WSO Sellers. WSO Investments is the direct parent of its
wholly-owned subsidiary Wholesome Sweeteners, Incorporated, which was formed to import, market, distribute, and sell organic sugars, unrefined specialty sugars, and related
products. The transaction closed on February 5, 2021.

On February 12, 2024, we entered into an Agreement of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Ozark Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Parent”) and
Sweet Oak Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”). Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth
in the Merger Agreement, upon the closing of the transaction, Merger Sub is expected to merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company surviving the Merger
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent. See Note 18 to our audited consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the Merger.

Our Business Segments

The table below describes the percentage of our total annual revenue attributable to each of our segments over each of the three years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021. For additional financial information relating to our reportable business segments, please refer to Note 17 in our audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2023 2022 2021
Branded CPG 77 % 79 % 64 %
Flavors & Ingredients 23 % 21 % 36 %
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Branded CPG

Branded CPG, comprised of our Merisant division of operating companies, Wholesome and Swerve, is a global CPG business focused on building a branded portfolio oriented
toward serving consumers seeking better-for-you sweeteners across the zero calorie, plant-based, organic, non GMO, and Fair Trade spaces in zero/low calorie sweeteners, sugar,
honey, agave, baking mix, and baking chocolate segments. Our Branded CPG products are sold under both our flagship brands as well as local and private label brands. Our
flagship brands include Whole Earth®, Pure Via®, Wholesome®, Swerve®, Canderel®, Equal® and existing branded adjacencies. Our Branded CPG segment offers a variety of
sweetener formulations under each brand to address local consumer preferences and price points. The key ingredients utilized in these products include stevia leaf extract, monk
fruit extract, organic sugar, honey, agave nectar, erythritol, xylitol, allulose, aspartame, sucralose and saccharin, all of which are sourced through our global supply chain.

Since the introduction of the original Canderel® and Equal® products in 1979 and 1982, respectively, we have offered consumers high quality alternatives to sugar for daily
use. As the global health crisis related to sugar consumption continues to grow, consumers remain focused on finding substitutes for tabletop sugar and sugar-laden products. In
recent years, we have met consumer demand by introducing new plant-based sweeteners made from stevia leaf extract, monk fruit extract, allulose and naturally derived sugar
alcohols under the Whole Earth®, Swerve® and Pure Via® brands (as well as under the Canderel® and Equal® brands) and introduced low- or no-sugar alternatives to
traditionally sugar-laden products such as chocolate, jams, and cereal bars. These initiatives have further established us as a leader in the “better for you” movement away from
sugar. Our sweetener products are sold under a variety of forms to satisfy consumers growing usage across diverse consumption occasions. Those forms include sweetener packets,
tablets, pouches, jars, and liquid bottles. We distribute our products via the retail, club, food service, and e-commerce channels.

We have expanded our product offerings in recent years into adjacent consumer packaged goods such as jams and chocolate under our well-known CPG brands. We also invest
in innovation to develop new product offerings to distribute under our various brands, providing differentiation from our competitors and exciting new products for customers. In
addition, our adjacent branded packaged goods such as jams and chocolate are sold in chocolate bars, dried chocolate powder, and jam jars.

Whole Earth®: Whole Earth® is a global brand of plant-based, zero/low-calorie sweeteners primarily marketed in North America, Australia and New Zealand and sold
through a variety of channels including grocery, supermarket, drugstores, mass, club, food-service, and e-commerce. Key Whole Earth® sweetener formulations include ingredients
such as stevia leaf extract, monk fruit extract, erythritol, and allulose.

Pure Via®: Pure Via® is a global brand of plant-based, low-calorie sweeteners that is primarily marketed in Western Europe and North America. Pure Via®-branded products
are sold through a variety of channels including grocery, drugstores, mass, club, food-service, and e-commerce. Key Pure Via® sweetener formulations include stevia leaf extract,
erythritol and xylitol.

Wholesome®: Wholesome® is a U.S. leader in organic, fair-trade certified sweeteners, including sugar, honey, agave nectar, molasses, allulose and other natural sweetener
products. We acquired this brand in February 2021.

Swerve®: Swerve® is a portfolio of zero and reduced sugar, keto-friendly, and plant-based sweeteners and gluten free, reduced sugar baking mixes and is marketed in North
America. Swerve® products contain no artificial ingredients, preservatives, flavors, or GMO ingredients. Swerve® sweetener formulations include erythritol, monk fruit, and
allulose, as well as no added sugar chocolate baking chips. We acquired this brand in November 2020.

Canderel®: Canderel® is a global brand of low-calorie sweeteners that is primarily marketed in Europe, the Middle East and Africa and, according to AC Nielsen retail data, is
the leading sugar-free sweetener in many of its key markets, including France, Belgium, the United Kingdom, and South Africa. Canderel®-branded products are sold through a
variety of sales channels including grocery, supermarket, drugstore, mass, club, food-service, and e-commerce. Key Canderel® sweetener formulations include aspartame,
sucralose, and stevia leaf extract.

Equal®: Equal® is a global brand of low-calorie sweeteners that is primarily marketed in North America, Asia Pacific, South Africa and Latin America and, according to AC
Nielsen retail data, is the leading sugar-free sweetener in many key markets including Australia, New Zealand and Thailand, and is a top-five sugar-free sweetener in the United
States. Equal®-branded products are sold through a variety of sales channels including grocery, supermarket, drugstores, mass, club, food-service, and e-commerce. Key Equal®
sweetener formulations include aspartame, saccharin, sucralose, and stevia leaf extract.

2
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Branded Adjacencies

We also utilize our flagship brands to sell branded products in adjacent packaged food categories. In order to address the growing shift in demand for sugar alternatives, we
have introduced new products in the chocolate, jams, cereal bars, and chocolate chip and bake mix categories under our well-known tabletop sweetener brands. These products
benefit from strong brand recognition in selected geographies and the ability for customers to easily identify them as low-sugar alternatives when making purchasing decisions.

Other Brands and Products

In addition to our flagship brands of tabletop sweeteners and branded adjacency products, we also utilize several local brands in specific countries. We believe that these
locally-targeted brands have better brand awareness in those countries than our international flagship brands, providing a differentiated product offering in those markets.

Flavors & Ingredients

Flavors & Ingredients, comprised of our Mafco Worldwide division of operating companies, is a global, business-to-business focused operation with a long history as a trusted
supplier of essential, functional ingredients to some of the CPG industry’s largest and most demanding customers. Our products provide a variety of solutions for our customers,
including flavoring enhancement, flavor / aftertaste masking, moisturizing, product mouthfeel modification and skin soothing characteristics. Our Flavors & Ingredients segment
operates as our licorice-derived products business.

Founded in 1850, Mafco Worldwide has been the leading global manufacturer and supplier of licorice derivative and extract products, primarily serving beverage,
confectionary, cosmetic, food, nutritional, pharmaceutical, personal care and tobacco end markets. Mafco Worldwide’s ability to reliably deliver a consistent, highly customized,
superior product has been at the core of its longevity and long-term customer relationships.

As of December 31, 2023, we sell over 200 customer-specific licorice products, consistently meeting taste, chemical, physical, microbiological and regulatory demands,
specifications and standards. Our ability to deliver this breadth of products is due to our extensive knowledge and experience with the raw material sourcing and manufacturing
processes. This is further supported by our industry-leading supply security and availability, which consists of best-in-class supply chain capabilities, long-standing relationships
with key raw material suppliers, and maintenance of substantial raw material reserve inventory around the world.

Our Flavors & Ingredients products are sold across two types of end product: Derivative Products and Extract Products.

Derivative Products are functional ingredients based on a unique compound found only in licorice root, glycyrrhizic acid, which are used in a variety of food, beverage,
pharmaceutical, personal care, cosmetic, and nutritional products around the world. In food, beverage and pharmaceutical products, licorice derivatives are used to provide flavor,
mask undesirable tastes and extend and intensify sweetness and other flavors. In personal care and cosmetics products, licorice derivatives are used to moisturize, soothe topical skin
conditions, and brighten and smooth skin. We sell derivative products both in a line of proprietary compound flavors under the Magnasweet® brand as well as in their pure isolated
form.

Magnasweet® is our proprietary line of functional taste modulators, which have highly-enhanced characteristics and specific uses compared to the pure derivatives themselves.
The backbone ingredients in Magnasweet® are our pure licorice derivatives, as well as proprietary blends of flavoring and other food ingredients. All Magnasweet® product
ingredients are GRAS (“Generally Recognized As Safe”) by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and/or the Flavor and Extract Manufacturers Association (“FEMA”),
and are regulated by the FDA under 21 CFR 184.1408. The base licorice derived component compounds are generally classified as “natural” in Mafco Worldwide’s largest end
markets and are also categorized as Non-GMO and Non-Allergenic, thereby they are a “clean label” ingredient.

Extract Products are a concentrated form of the water extracted solids from the raw licorice root which are converted into powder, semi-fluid or blocks, depending on the
customer’s requirements and are used in a variety of tobacco, alcohol and confectionary products around the world. In tobacco products, licorice extracts are used as flavor
enhancing and moistening agents in the manufacture of American Blend® cigarettes, moist snuff, and chewing and pipe tobacco. In confectionary products, licorice extract is used
as flavoring for licorice confections.
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Growth Strategies

Our platform can be leveraged to support new product development, distribution gains in North America, further geographic expansion and to pursue mergers and acquisitions
(“M&A”) activity. We will seek to expand our branded products platform through investment opportunities in the natural alternatives and clean label categories across the global
consumer products industry. Over time, we will look to become a portfolio of brands that Open a World of Goodness™ to consumers and their families.

Recent product launches across various geographical markets have been well-received by consumers, and we believe that sales of new products will continue to have a positive
impact on revenue going forward. We are able to adapt to changing market conditions, and our management team has identified opportunities for continued research and
development, and expansion of product offerings as consumer preferences shift towards natural products.

We believe that there is a large opportunity for growth in North America and that we have benefited from contacts and relationships, increasing distribution in the natural
retailer channel, innovation and reinvestment of cash flow. These efforts are intended to drive retailer support and engagement with club stores and regional grocers to help increase
distribution of our new products.

Additionally, we continue to pursue continued growth in developing economies and gaining entrance into new geographies. Sugar-related health problems are becoming a
critical concern to governments and populations in developing economies as diabetes and obesity rates rise. Our management team believes that the need for solutions, together with
rising incomes in these geographies, represent macro tailwinds driving local consumers to seek alternatives to sugar. Positive consumption and awareness trends are driving
sweetener penetration rates and expanding the category in these countries. Moreover, consumer affinity for developed economy brands such as Equal® and Canderel® position
them as premier products. We focus on accelerating brand-building, innovation and marketplace execution in geographies where Equal® and Canderel® are considered premier
brands.

We expect to have significant new opportunities for growth in India and China. We believe that we are under-penetrated in these two large markets and that our management
team can help drive increased distribution.

Marketing and Distribution Channels

Branded CPG

Recent marketing focus has been on identifying global and local consumer preferences, utilizing research & development (“R&D”) to co-develop a new pipeline of products,
and driving brand-building initiatives by leveraging digital, television, and in-store campaigns. In addition to in-house resources, we utilize agencies and experts in the areas of
advertising, brand-building, packaging, and in-store promotion / merchandising.

We distribute Branded CPG products in the United States and internationally through a variety of distribution channels including supermarket, grocery, drugstore, mass, club,
food-service, e-commerce, and through distributors and brokers. This distribution strategy enables our products to reach a wide variety of customer types at multiple points of sale
and consumption. In addition, we are able to leverage our existing distribution channels and relationships to sell incremental products to those customers.

We sell our CPG products principally across six geographic regions: North America, Europe, India, Middle East and Africa (“IMEA”), Asia Pacific, and Latin America
(“LATAM”).

Flavors & Ingredients

All Flavors & Ingredients sales in the United States are made through our offices located in Mount Laurel, New Jersey and Richmond, Virginia, with technical support from
our Flavors & Ingredients R&D department. Outside the United States, we sell our Flavors & Ingredients products from our Mount Laurel, New Jersey office, through our French
and Chinese subsidiaries and through exclusive agents as well as independent distributors.

Marketing activity is conducted through our website, digital marketing strategy, tradeshows, R&D newsletters, and email campaigns to effectively reach the individuals who
will make purchase to product development decisions at our customers at the R&D, procurement, and the executive levels.
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Suppliers, Raw Materials and Procurement

Branded CPG

The primary raw materials used in our Branded CPG manufacturing processes are stevia leaf extract, monk fruit extract, erythritol, allulose, aspartame, sucralose, saccharin,
organic sugar, organic honey, agave nectar and dextrose. Packaging material used in the manufacturing process includes paper, shipping boxes, glass jars, cartons, stand-up
pouches, and plastic bottles. Key ingredients are procured and available on a global scale. These ingredients are contracted forward, with additional supply available in all key
markets.

We believe we maintain excellent relationships with our Branded CPG suppliers and are not reliant on any one vendor for critical supply.

Flavors & Ingredients

The licorice root used to produce the products sold by our Flavors & Ingredients segment originates in the Middle East and Central Asia in countries such as Afghanistan, the
Peoples’ Republic of China, Pakistan, Iraq, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan, Turkmenistan, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, Georgia, Armenia, Russia and Turkey. Our strategy of maintaining
strong relationships across multiple markets and suppliers allows us to seamlessly source our licorice raw material requirements in the event supply from any one area or supplier
becomes temporarily unavailable or uneconomical.

We have an exclusive supply contract to purchase the output of licorice extract and certain licorice derivatives from a manufacturer with facilities in Central Asia. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, our purchases from this supplier totaled approximately $13.0 million, representing 32.1% of our licorice raw material purchases for the year. In addition
to a stable source of licorice raw material, we strive to maintain sufficient licorice raw material inventory and open purchase contracts to meet normal production needs for one or
more years to overcome the natural variability in wild collected licorice root quality from various regions and crop cycles and ensure against temporary disruptions in supply.

Our licorice manufacturing and raw material sourcing process is also uniquely flexible in that we are able to use multiple types of commercially available licorice raw material
including roots, intermediate licorice extracts and licorice derivatives produced by third parties. This manufacturing and raw material sourcing flexibility enables us to maximize the
value of our raw material purchases and inventory investments and to respond quickly to new business opportunities by utilizing intermediate raw material.

International Operations

We are a global company with sales in over 100 countries, and our principal markets outside the U.S. are in Europe, Asia, the Middle East, Africa and Latin America.
Management has identified significant opportunities for increasing the customer base via geographic expansion, distribution gains and product innovation. Our geographic diversity
allows us to draw on the skills of a worldwide workforce, provides greater stability to our operations, allows us to drive economies of scale, provides sales streams that may help
offset economic trends that are specific to individual economies and offers us an opportunity to access new markets for products. Our management team has strong global
relationships with many customers and channels, including grocery, club stores, distributors and food service operators across a number of key geographies that accelerates new
product placement and will help us expand our presence in currently under-penetrated markets, such as India and China. In addition, we believe that our future growth depends in
part on our ability to continue developing products and sales models that successfully target high-growth markets.

In 2023, we generated approximately 67% of our revenue in North America, approximately 17% of our revenue in Europe, approximately 10% of our revenue in Asia Pacific,
approximately 3% of our revenue in IMEA and approximately 3% of our revenue in Latin America. In 2023, one customer accounted for more than 10% of our total sales,
representing 13.8% of total sales. One customer accounted for more than 10% of total sales in both 2022 and 2021.

The manner in which our products and services are sold outside the U.S. differs by business and by region. Most of our sales in non-U.S. markets are made by our subsidiaries
located outside the U.S., though we also sell directly from the U.S. into non-U.S. markets through various representatives and distributors and, in some cases, directly. In countries
with low sales volumes, we generally sell through representatives and distributors.
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Information about the effects of foreign currency fluctuations on our business is set forth in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” For a discussion of risks related to our non-U.S. operations and foreign currency exchange, please refer to the section entitled “Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our
Business.”

Research & Development

We have dedicated R&D teams employed at each of our reportable business segments. R&D efforts are divided across geographies and focus on a number of areas including
new product launches, formulation development, and product expansion opportunities. Our R&D capabilities include supporting existing and potential customers on projects with
our products, education on proper use of the products through demonstrations, newsletters, and tradeshows, application development and new product development.

Intellectual Property

Our ability to create, obtain and protect intellectual property (“IP”) is important to the success of our business and our ability to compete. We create IP in our operations
globally, and we work to protect and enforce our IP rights. We consider our trademarks valuable assets, including well-known trademarks such as Whole Earth®, Wholesome®,
Swerve®, Equal®, Canderel®, Pure Via® and Magnasweet®.

In addition, we integrate licensed third-party technology and IP into certain aspects of our products.

Although certain third-party proprietary IP rights are important to our success, we do not believe we are materially dependent on any particular third-party patent, license, or
group.

Competition

We believe that we are a leader in many of our served markets. Although our businesses generally operate in highly competitive markets, our competitive position cannot be
determined accurately in the aggregate or by segment, since none of our competitors offer all of the same product and service lines or serve all of the same markets as we do.
Because of the range of the products and services we sell and the variety of markets we serve, we encounter a wide variety of competitors, including well-established regional
competitors and competitors who are more specialized than we are in particular markets.

Key competitive factors vary among our businesses and product and service lines, but include the specific factors noted above with respect to each segment and typically also
include price, quality, performance, delivery speed, applications expertise, distribution channel access, service and support, technology and innovation, breadth of product, service
and brand name recognition.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in distributing tabletop sweeteners are product taste, consumer brand recognition, ingredient preference, and price. The low-
calorie tabletop sweetener market is currently well served at a variety of price points by a number of well-established competitors. We believe that the entrance of a new competitor
using existing sweetening ingredients would find it challenging to overcome a highly loyal consumer base, established relationships with worldwide trade and distribution networks,
the expense of brand building and lack of product differentiation. As such, we have experienced very little new competition within the alternative sweetener market globally.

The functional ingredients market typically consists of ingredients that account for a small amount of the customer’s cost of sales, but are vitally important to functionality.
Within this market, the principal competitive factors for the licorice category include supply security and availability, product quality, proprietary formulations, price, and technical
support. Our Flavors & Ingredients segment is uniquely positioned given its global footprint, best-in-class supply chain capabilities, proprietary manufacturing processes, and
regulatory approved customer formulations that reliably provide customers with critical ingredients for their products. Our Flavors & Ingredients segment competes globally for
certain derivative products against divisions of larger flavor houses and chemical companies and we compete in local markets with a number of small, private, typically country-
focused manufacturers, brokers, and distributors.
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Regulation and Compliance

As a food and ingredient manufacturer, we operate in compliance with the requirements of the FDA and other regional food manufacturing guidelines. Our products comply
with the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, state unfair competition and deceptive trade practices statutes,
Food Allergen Labeling and Consumer Protection Act of 2004, the Organic Foods Production Act, and all comparable state and international laws and each of their applicable
implementing regulations.

Licorice extract and certain pure licorice derivatives used as additives are GRAS for use in food by the FDA. Global approval for the use of licorice extract and derivatives for
food consumption varies depending upon the country. Pure licorice derivatives have been successfully utilized in approved pharmaceutical and cosmetics products around the
world. Pure licorice derivatives are also approved for use under the EU Cosmetic Directive and by the U.S. Cosmetic Ingredient Review Board.

Our primary Flavors & Ingredients international manufacturing facilities are currently Global Food Safety Initiative (“GFSI”)-certified and all facilities are registered with the
FDA. Each manufacturing facility is monitored using coordinated quality departments located in the U.S., France and China to ensure that all product shipped is in compliance with
quality and regulatory requirements. In addition to food manufacturing regulations, we operate in compliance with OSHA requirements and with applicable federal, state, local and
international environmental laws and regulations. Safety training programs are maintained at each facility to educate employees on food safety and workplace safety requirements.

The Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act of 2009 (“TCA”) gave the FDA comprehensive authority to regulate the manufacturing, marketing and sale of
tobacco products in the U.S. The TCA requires tobacco companies to disclose the contents of tobacco products and any changes to their products, and requires FDA review and
approval of all new tobacco products. Among its broad powers, the FDA may order changes in cigarettes and other existing tobacco products to meet new product standards based
on medical, scientific and other technological evidence as appropriate for the protection of the public health. We work with our tobacco customers to ensure compliance with
applicable FDA standards and regulations.

Human Capital Resources

Whole Earth Brands is a global company, with approximately 590 employees operating in 14 countries. Our employees are engaged in a number of key functions, including
operations, sales, R&D and administration. Approximately 24% of our employees are based in North America and approximately 76% of our employees are based outside of North
America. The vast majority of our employees work full-time, with approximately 47% working at global production facilities and others working at office locations or R&D
facilities.

Our employees create our success, and below are some of the human capital components that enable our employees.

Mission, Vision and Values

At Whole Earth Brands, our vision is to help people enjoy life’s everyday moments and the celebrations that bring us together. As part of our quest to make this vision a
reality, we collectively work as a team to execute on our mission of enabling healthier lifestyles and providing access to high-quality plant-based sweeteners, flavor enhancers and
other foods through our diverse portfolio of trusted brands and delicious products. All of this work is supported by a talented, dedicated team, energized by our vision, and united in
our core values of accountability, agility, passion, and integrity.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

We believe that everyone should be welcomed, encouraged, and respected at Whole Earth Brands. By living our core values every day, we create an environment where the
diverse backgrounds and experiences of our employees enable us to thrive. Globally, approximately 54% of our employees are men and approximately 46% of our employees are
women.

Employee Health and Safety

The safety and well-being of our employees is of utmost importance. We train our employees on workplace safety, including how to follow our written safety standards and
procedures, the law pertaining to workplace safety, and how to watch for and report anything potentially harmful.

To ensure that Whole Earth Brands employees and their families in every country in which we operate have access to free support and resources for topics related to their health
and well-being, we provide our employees with a global employee assistance program at no cost to them.
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Total Rewards

In addition to the importance we place on the health, satisfaction and security of our employees and their families, our ability to attract and retain a workforce with the skills
critical to our business operations is equally important. We provide a total rewards package that offers valuable and market competitive compensation and benefit plans. These
programs reflect our commitment to attracting and retaining top talent, and keeping our employees and their families healthy and secure. Our compensation philosophy is to pay for
performance, and we do so through short-term and long-term incentives, all tied to business performance.

Given our diverse employee base with needs that are unique to each individual, we offer benefits that can be selected by each employee to best meet his or her needs. Our
benefits vary by region, but generally include medical, dental and vision insurance, retirement savings accounts, disability insurance and other voluntary benefits. We also offer
time-off benefits which are equally important to the well-being of our employees including vacation time, sick leave, company paid holidays, and parental leave. We have also
introduced a hybrid work model for office based employees to assist with balancing work and personal life.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) initiatives are intended to enable our business to have a positive impact across product development, ingredient sourcing,
manufacturing, and hiring. Our ESG priorities center on three pillars: advance sustainably, support thriving workers and communities, and enable healthier lifestyles. We have
developed certain measurable targets in order to guide our ESG efforts with respect to (i) climate; (ii) packaging; (iii) waste and water; (iv) responsible sourcing; (v) diversity,
equity and inclusion; (vi) innovation and transparency; and (vii) equitable access.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 125 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 1250, Chicago, IL 60606, and our telephone number is (312) 840-6000. We maintain a website at
www.wholeeearthbrands.com. The information contained on our website is not intended to form a part of, or be incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Access to all of our SEC filings, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, is provided, free of charge, on our website (www.wholeearthbrands.com) as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Additionally, the SEC maintains an internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors.

You should consider carefully all of the following risk factors and all the other information contained in this report, including the financial statements. If any of the following
risks occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our securities could decline, and
you could lose all or part of your investment. The risk factors described below are not necessarily exhaustive and you are encouraged to perform your own investigation with
respect to us and our business.

8



Table of Contents

Risks Related to Our Business

Industry competition, consolidation and costs may reduce sales and margins.

We operate in a highly competitive industry and compete with companies that have greater capital resources, facilities and diversity of product lines. Increased competition for
products could result in decreased demand for our products and reduced volumes and/or prices, each of which would reduce our sales and margins and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our Flavors & Ingredients customers are under pressure to reduce costs, which could cause them to
reformulate their products and substitute cheaper ingredients for our products. These industry pressures may result in lower sales of our Flavors & Ingredients products and/or lower
margins on our Flavors & Ingredients sales. With respect to our Branded CPG segment, our competitors might also introduce new low-calorie sweeteners and other alternatives to
sugar. In addition, competitors with larger marketing budgets can influence consumer preferences. There is no assurance that Branded CPG’s existing marketing spending is
sufficient to stay competitive with other product manufacturers.

Our margins are also under pressure from consolidation in the retail food industry in many regions of the world. In the U.S., we have experienced a shift in the channels where
consumers purchase our products from the higher margin retail to the lower margin club and mass merchandisers. Additionally, increased competition from private label
manufacturers of low-calorie tabletop sweeteners may have a negative impact on sales and/or margins. Consolidation within the industry we operate may significantly increase our
cost of doing business and may further result in lower sales of our products and/or lower margins on sales.

We are subject to risks related to our supply chain and the price, quality and availability of raw materials which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We operate a complex supply chain which is critical to our Flavors & Ingredients operations. In the event of disruption, we may face operational risk that could result in
carrying inadequate supplies to meet our customer demand. If we are unable to manage our supply chain efficiently, our operating costs could increase and our profit margins could
decrease. Our Flavors & Ingredients business is dependent on our relationships with suppliers of licorice raw materials (which includes licorice root, intermediary licorice extract
and licorice derivatives). If any material licorice raw materials supplier modifies its relationship with us, such a loss, reduction or modification could have a material adverse effect
on our Flavors & Ingredients business, results of operations and financial condition.

Further, licorice production is subject to a variety of agricultural risks. The stability of licorice raw materials is dependent upon the ability of the product to remain dry and free
of infestation. Increased governmental restrictions on the application of pesticides or fumigants could reduce our ability to maintain long-term storage of licorice root or result in
increased cost of operations. A sustained supply interruption could have a material adverse effect on our Flavors & Ingredients business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The manufacture of our Flavors & Ingredients products is a multi-stage process that requires the use of high-quality materials and sophisticated manufacturing technologies.
We are dependent on our suppliers to provide licorice raw materials meeting our quality standards. If we were not able to maintain our manufacturing processes or stringent quality
controls, or if contamination problems arise, the operating results of our Flavors & Ingredients business would be harmed.

Our failure to accurately forecast demand and manage inventory could result in an unexpected shortfall of our Flavors & Ingredients products, which could harm our
business.

We monitor our inventory levels based on our own projections of future demand. Because of the length of the supply chain cycle and the time necessary to produce licorice
products, we must make production decisions well in advance of sales. However, we may not accurately forecast demand and an inaccurate forecast of demand can result in the
unavailability of licorice products that may otherwise be in high demand. This unavailability may negatively impact sales volumes and adversely affect customer relationships.
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Climate change, or legal or market measures to address climate change, may negatively affect our business and operations.

There is growing concern that a gradual rise in global average temperatures due to increased concentration of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere will
cause significant changes in weather patterns around the globe, and increase the frequency, severity, and duration of extreme weather conditions and natural disasters, and water
scarcity and poor water quality. These events could adversely impact the manufacturing or delivery of raw materials required for our products, reduce crop yields, disrupt the
operation of our supply chain and the productivity of our contract manufacturers, increase our production costs, impose capacity restraints and impact the purchases of our products
and services.

In many countries, governmental bodies are proposing and enacting new or additional legislation and regulations to address the potential impacts of climate change, including,
among other regulations, like the European Union’s (the “EU”) Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (“CSRD”) which became effective in January 2023 (which requires us
to report detailed information on climate and other ESG-related matters in the coming years). If we, our suppliers or others in our value chain, are required to comply with these
laws and regulations in the future, or if we choose to take voluntary steps to reduce or mitigate our environmental impact, we may experience increased costs for compliance,
reporting, supply chain management and due diligence, energy, production, transportation, and raw materials, increased capital expenditures, or increased insurance premiums and
deductibles, which could adversely impact our operations. The impact of any future climate change legislation, regulations or industry standards, international treaties and accords,
is uncertain and could negatively affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our failure to adequately address sustainability and ESG concerns of stakeholders or respond to changing ESG regulations may harm our reputation and have a material
adverse impact on our business.

Governmental authorities, non-governmental organizations, customers, investors, external stakeholders and employees are increasingly sensitive to sustainability and ESG
concerns, such as diversity and inclusion, climate change, water use, recyclability or recoverability of packaging, and plastic waste. Our ability to compete could also be affected by
changing customer preferences and requirements, such as growing demand for more environmentally friendly products, packaging or supplier practices. Failure to meet such
customer expectations or demand, failure to achieve our publicly-disclosed sustainability and ESG goals or targets, or failure to meet the ESG expectations of our investors,
employees, customers, ESG ratings agencies and other stakeholders, could negatively impact our reputation, hinder our access to capital, lead to reduced demand for our products,
loss of customers, “greenwashing” and other similar claims, and other negative impacts on our business and results of operations.

Uncertain or unfavorable economic conditions, including during periods of high inflation, recessions or other economic disruption, could increase our costs, change
customer and consumer demand for our products, or otherwise adversely affect us.

Periods of adverse or uncertain economic conditions, including during periods of high inflation or recession concerns, may increase our costs and otherwise change customer
and consumer demand for our products. The willingness of consumers to purchase our products depends in part on general or local economic conditions and consumers’
discretionary spending habits. During periods of economic downturn or high inflation, consumers tend to shift their purchases to lower-priced or other perceived value offerings
which may make it more difficult to sell more premium products and could result in a reduction in sales. We cannot, however, predict any future economic conditions, including
trends in the rate of inflation or associated increases in our operating costs and how that may impact our business. To the extent inflation rates were to significantly exceed our
ability to achieve price increases or cost savings, our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affected by various global macro-economic factors as well as geopolitical events
and crises, such as public health emergencies and ongoing military conflicts.

We operate in many countries throughout the world. Economic and financial market conditions, including conditions resulting from public health emergencies, and geopolitical
events, such as the ongoing military conflict between Israel and Hamas and escalating tensions in the Middle East, and the ongoing military conflict between Ukraine and Russia
and related sanctions imposed by the U.S. Department of Treasury and other governing bodies in countries in which we conduct business, can create significant market volatility,
uncertainty and economic disruption in the global economy or specific international, regional and domestic markets, that may adversely affect our business and results of
operations. Economic or political instability, government intervention or civil unrest in countries and regions where we have manufacturing operations and where we source licorice
root and intermediary licorice extract, which include our operations and raw materials suppliers
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in the People’s Republic of China, and raw materials suppliers in Central Asia, could have a material adverse effect on our Flavors & Ingredients business, results of operations and
financial condition. We are continuing to monitor and assess the potential impact of various global macro-economic factors on our business. To the extent that our business,
financial condition, liquidity or results of operations are adversely affected by economic and financial market conditions, tariffs, taxes, sanctions, inflationary pressures, public
health emergencies and ongoing military conflicts, such events may also have the effect of heightening other risks described herein and in any future filings we make with the SEC.

If we fail to successfully implement our growth strategies on a timely basis, or at all, our ability to increase our revenue and operating profits could be materially and
adversely affected.

We believe that our consumer-packaged goods are broadly known and followed in the U.S. and many other countries in which we operate. Our future success depends, in large
part, on our ability to implement our growth strategies effectively. New products may be introduced into the market which could impact our net sales growth and our competitors
with substantially greater resources than us may be more responsive to changes within the industry and be better equipped to introduce new products more quickly. Our ability to
successfully expand our consumer packaged goods and ingredients brands and other growth strategies depends on, among other things, our ability to identify, and successfully cater
to, new demographics and consumer trends, develop new and innovative products, identify and acquire additional product lines and businesses, secure shelf space in grocery stores,
wholesale clubs and other retailers, increase consumer awareness of our brands, enter into distribution and other strategic arrangements with third-party retailers and other potential
distributors of our products, and compete with numerous other companies and products. For example, substantial advertising and promotional expenditures may be required to
maintain or improve our brands’ market positions or to introduce new products to the market, including through the use of engaging with non-traditional media, including consumer
outreach through social media and web-based channels, which may be costly and may not prove successful. We may not be successful in reaching and maintaining the loyalty of
new consumers to the same extent, or at all, as we have with our historical consumers. If we are unable to identify and capture new audiences and demographics, our ability to
successfully integrate additional brands will be adversely affected. In addition, we consistently evaluate our product lines to determine whether or not to discontinue certain
products which may increase our profitability but could reduce our sales and hurt our brands, and a reduction in sales of certain products could result in a reduction in sales of other
products. Accordingly, we may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategies, expand our brands, or continue to maintain growth in our sales at our current rate, or at
all. If we fail to implement our growth strategies or if we invest resources in growth strategies that ultimately prove unsuccessful, our sales and profitability may be negatively
affected, which would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in consumer preferences could decrease our revenues and cash flow.

We are subject to the risks of evolving consumer preferences and nutritional and health-related concerns. To the extent that consumer preferences evolve away from low-
calorie sweeteners, there will be a decreased demand for some of our Branded CPG products. Consumer perception that there are low-calorie tabletop and baking sweetener
alternatives that are healthier or more natural could decrease demand for our products. A portion of our Flavors & Ingredients revenues are derived from the sale of licorice to
worldwide confectioners. To the extent that consumer preferences shift away from licorice-flavored candy, operating results relating to the sale of licorice to worldwide
confectioners could be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, a portion of our revenues are
derived from the sale of licorice derivatives to food processors for use as flavoring or masking agents. To the extent that consumer preferences evolve away from products that use
licorice derivatives, our operating results relating to the sale of licorice derivatives could be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are heavily dependent on certain customers, suppliers, manufacturers, and other third parties.

The loss of or disruptions related to significant customers could result in a material reduction in sales or change in the mix of products we sell to a significant customer. In 2023,
our top five Branded CPG customers accounted for approximately 31.0% of our Branded CPG net revenues. In 2023, our ten largest Flavors & Ingredients customers, four of which
are manufacturers of tobacco products, accounted for approximately 59.6% of our Flavors & Ingredients net revenues. There can be no assurance that our customers will continue
to purchase our products in the same mix or quantities or on the same terms as in the past. This could materially and adversely affect our product sales, financial condition and
results of operations.
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Our Branded CPG business currently relies upon external manufacturers in the U.S., as well as internal manufacturing in the Czech Republic, a number of key tollers, external
manufacturers, packaging suppliers, ingredient suppliers, and 3PL (logistics) vendors globally. There are a limited number of manufacturing service suppliers, ingredient and
packaging suppliers with the capability and capacity to meet our strict product requirements effectively. Failure by any of these parties to manufacture, supply, or transport our
products, as applicable, in accordance with applicable regulations and the terms and conditions of our agreements with each third party could result in inventory shortages or other
impacts, which could negatively impact earnings and cash flows and impair our ability to operate our business. Additionally, we use exclusive distributors in certain jurisdictions for
our products. Our Branded CPG segment would suffer disruption if these distributors were to fail to perform their expected services or to effectively represent us, which could
adversely affect our business.

Our Flavors & Ingredients business is dependent on our relationships with suppliers of licorice raw materials (which includes licorice root, intermediary licorice extract and
licorice derivatives). The licorice raw materials we purchase originate in Afghanistan, the Peoples’ Republic of China, Pakistan, Iraq, Azerbaijan, Uzbekistan, Turkmenistan,
Kazakhstan, Tajikistan, Georgia, Armenia, Russia and Turkey. During 2023, one of our suppliers of licorice raw materials supplied approximately 32.1% of our total licorice raw
materials purchases. We have an exclusive supply arrangement with a manufacturer of licorice extract and crude derivatives in Central Asia. The agreement expires in October 2025
and gives us the right to purchase all of the licorice products manufactured at the facility. Although alternative sources of licorice raw materials are available to us, we could incur
higher costs if the supplier is unable to produce sufficient quantities of licorice raw materials at the quality levels required. If any material licorice raw materials supplier modifies
its relationship with us, such a loss, reduction or modification could have a material adverse effect on our Flavors & Ingredients business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our Business is subject to transportation risks.

Our ability to obtain adequate and reasonably priced methods of transportation to distribute our products is a key factor to our success. Delays in transportation including
weather-related delays, carrier capacity limitations, and extended interruptions could have a material adverse effect on our Branded CPG and our Flavors & Ingredients segments,
financial condition and results of operations. Further, higher fuel costs and increased line haul costs due to industry capacity constraints and customer delivery requirements could
also negatively impact our financial results. We cannot be sure that we would be able to transport or distribute our products by alternative means if we were to experience an
interruption due to labor strikes, natural disasters, epidemics or pandemics, political conflicts, civil unrest or otherwise, in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Negative information, including inaccurate information, about us on social media may harm our reputation and brand, which could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Many social media platforms immediately publish the content their subscribers and participants post, often without filters or checks on accuracy of the content posted which
may result in increased scrutiny by consumers, third parties, the media, governments, stockholders and other stakeholders. Information concerning our business and/or products,
including public health concerns, illness, safety, security breaches of confidential consumer or employee information, employee related claims relating to alleged employment
discrimination, health care and benefit issues or government or industry findings about our retailers, distributors, manufacturers or others across the industry supply chain may be
posted on such platforms at any time. Negative views regarding our products have been posted on various social media platforms, may continue to be posted in the future, and are
outside of our control. Regardless of their accuracy or authenticity, such information and views may adversely impact our interests and may harm our reputation and brand without
any opportunity for redress or correction. The risks associated with any such negative publicity cannot be eliminated and may materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our international operations involve the use of foreign currencies, which subjects us to exchange rate fluctuations and other currency risks.

The revenues and expenses of our international operations generally are denominated in local currencies, which subject us to exchange rate fluctuations between such local
currencies and the U.S. dollar. These exchange rate fluctuations subject us to currency translation risk with respect to the reported results of our international operations, as well as
to other risks associated with international operations. In the future, we could experience fluctuations in financial results from our operations outside of the U.S., and there can be
no assurance we will be able, contractually or otherwise, to reduce the currency risks associated with our international operations.
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Inability to protect our trademarks and other proprietary rights could damage our competitive position.

Any infringement or misappropriation of our intellectual property could damage its value, dilute the value of our brand
in the marketplace and limit our ability to compete. We rely on copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality provisions and licensing arrangements to establish and protect
our intellectual property. We may have to engage in litigation to protect our rights to our intellectual property, which could result in significant litigation costs and require
significant amounts of management’s time. One or more adverse judgments with respect to these intellectual property rights could negatively impact our ability to compete and
could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. We believe that the formulas and blends for our products are trade secrets. We rely on security procedures
and confidentiality agreements to protect this proprietary information; however, such agreements and security procedures may be insufficient to keep others from acquiring this
information. The laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S., and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights
in some foreign countries may be inadequate. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon, misappropriating or otherwise
violating our technology and intellectual property.

If we fail to comply with the many laws applicable to our business, we may incur significant fines and penalties.

Our facilities and products are subject to laws and regulations administered by the FDA, the Environmental Protection Agency, and other federal, state, local, and foreign
governmental agencies relating to the processing, packaging, storage, distribution, advertising, labeling, quality, and safety of food products. Our failure to comply with applicable
laws and regulations could subject us to administrative penalties and injunctive relief, civil remedies, including fines, injunctions and recalls of our products, and negative publicity.
Any new legislation or regulations enacted in the future in domestic and foreign jurisdictions, including, without limitation, changes in food and drug laws, accounting standards,
taxation requirements (including tax rate changes, new tax laws and revised tax law interpretations) and environmental laws, or any changes in how existing or future laws or
regulations are enforced, administered or interpreted, as well as any material cost incurred in connection with liabilities or claims from these regulations may lead to an increase in
costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, our consolidated financial condition, results of operations and/or liquidity.

The countries in which we operate and from which we purchase raw materials could result in exposure to liability under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or under regulations
promulgated by OFAC. Our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could subject us to administrative penalties and injunctive relief, civil remedies, including fines,
injunctions and product recalls. The complexity of the many laws and regulations applicable to our business and the cost of compliance increases our costs of operations compared
to some foreign competitors which are subject to less regulation.

Any acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures that we enter into could disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

From time to time, we may evaluate potential strategic acquisitions of businesses, including partnerships or joint ventures with third parties. We may not be successful in
identifying acquisition, partnership and joint venture candidates. In addition, we may not be able to continue the operational success of such businesses or successfully finance or
integrate any businesses that we acquire or with which we form a partnership or joint venture. We may have potential write-offs of acquired assets and/or an impairment of any
goodwill recorded as a result of acquisitions. Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition may divert management’s time and resources from our core business and disrupt our
operations or may result in conflicts with our business. Any acquisition, partnership or joint venture may not be successful, may reduce our cash reserves, may negatively affect our
earnings and financial performance and, to the extent financed with the proceeds of debt, may increase our indebtedness. We cannot ensure that any acquisition, partnership or joint
venture we make will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involved in various legal proceedings relating to matters incidental to the ordinary course of our business, including intellectual property,
commercial, product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower and other litigation and claims, and governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such
matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources, cause us to incur significant expenses or liability or require us to change our business practices.
Because litigation is inherently unpredictable, we cannot give any assurance that the results of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Changes in tax laws or regulations may increase tax uncertainty and adversely affect results of our operations and our effective tax rate.

We are subject to taxes in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions, including the U.S., may be
subject to change. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of
deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in tax laws or their interpretation. In addition, we may be subject to income tax audits by various tax jurisdictions. Although we
believe our income tax liabilities are reasonably estimated and accounted for in accordance with applicable laws and principles, an adverse resolution by one or more taxing
authorities could have a material impact on the results of our operations.

Information security events, or real or perceived errors, failures, or bugs in our systems; other technology disruptions; or failure to comply with laws and regulations
relating to information security could negatively impact our business, our reputation and our relationships with customers.

Our continued success depends in part on our systems, applications, and software continuing to operate to meet our business demands. We rely on information technology
systems and infrastructure for substantially all aspects of our business operations. Our business involves the storage and transmission of confidential information and intellectual
property, including information pertaining to consumers, vendors, distributors, and suppliers, and employees. We also may maintain financial and strategic information about us
and our business partners. Such use gives rise to cybersecurity risks, including security incidents, espionage, system disruption through material errors, failures, vulnerabilities, or
bugs, theft, and inadvertent release of information. Our technology and information systems may be subject to computer viruses or malicious code, break-ins, phishing
impersonation attacks, attempts to overload our servers with denial-of-service or other attacks, ransomware, and similar incidents or disruptions from unauthorized access or use of
our computer systems, as well as unintentional incidents causing data leakage, any of which could lead to interruptions, delays, or website shutdowns, disable or otherwise cripple
our operations. The breadth and scope of this threat has grown over time, and the techniques and sophistication used to conduct cyber-attacks, as well as the sources and targets of
the attacks, change frequently. While we invest time, effort and capital resources to secure our key systems and networks, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in
preventing or responding to all such attacks.

The theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, misuse, or release of sensitive or confidential information or intellectual property, or interference with our information
technology systems or the technology systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, reputational harm, violation of privacy laws,
loss of customers, and liability, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Additionally, as a result of a security
incident, we could be subject to demands, claims, and litigation by private parties and investigations, related actions, and penalties by regulatory authorities. Moreover, we could
incur significant costs in notifying affected persons and entities and otherwise complying with the multitude of laws and regulations relating to the unauthorized access to, or
acquisition, use, or disclosure of personal information.

If we are, or a third party on which we rely is, subject to a successful cyber-attack, we may suffer damage to our key systems and/or data that could interrupt our operations,
adversely impact our reputation and brands and expose us to increased risks of governmental investigation, litigation and other liability, any of which could adversely affect our
business. Furthermore, responding to such an attack and mitigating the risk of future attacks could result in additional operating and capital costs in systems technology, personnel,
monitoring and other investments.

Our operations depend on the continuing and efficient operation of our information technology, communications systems and infrastructure, and on cloud-based platforms,
including platforms operated by vendors. Any of these systems and infrastructure are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, vandalism, sabotage, terrorist attacks,
floods, fires, power outages, telecommunications failures, computer viruses or other deliberate attempts to harm the systems. The occurrence of a natural or intentional disaster, any
decision to close a facility we are using without adequate notice, or particularly an unanticipated problem at a cloud- based virtual server facility, could result in harmful
interruptions in our service, resulting in adverse effects to our business. Although we have invested in the protection of data and information technology, there can be no assurances
that our efforts will protect us against significant breakdowns, breaches in our systems, or other cyber incidents that could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business,
operations, or financial condition of the company.
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Our collection, use, and disclosure of information, including personal information, is subject to federal, state and foreign privacy and information security regulations and
binding industry standards; new or changed regulations could impose significant costs to our operation and failure to comply with those regulations or to adequately secure the
information we hold could result in significant liability or reputational harm.

We are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations relating to the collection, processing, storing, sharing, disclosure, use, and security of personal
information and other data. We are or may in the future be subject to contractual obligations to protect data. We may incur significant expenses to comply with the laws, regulations,
and other obligations that apply to us. Additionally, the privacy- and data protection-related laws, rules, and regulations applicable to us may be interpreted and applied in new
ways or in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices. Further, new laws, rules, and regulations could be
enacted with which we are not familiar or with which our practices do not comply.

Approximately one-fifth of U.S. states have passed omnibus privacy laws that are or will go into effect within the next several years. These laws apply or may apply to us in the
future as we grow and expand, and other jurisdictions are considering imposing additional restrictions. To the extent that certain of these laws are applicable to us, and to the extent
that other states enact laws in the future that are or may be applicable to us, we will need to expend resources to evaluate such regulations and implement compliance solutions. If
we engage in email marketing or certain telemarketing activities, we will be subject to issue-specific laws pertaining to the use of information, including laws on marketing and
advertising, such as the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the Telemarketing Sales Rule and the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of
2003, and their state counterparts.

Further, given our operations outside of the U.S., including in the EU, we are subject to certain risks in connection with the requirements of the General Data Protection
Regulation (E.U.) 2016/679, and other data protection regulations. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with privacy or data protection laws, policies, or industry
standards or any security incident that results in the unauthorized release of personal information may result in governmental enforcement actions and investigations, fines and
penalties, litigation and/or adverse publicity, including by consumer advocacy groups, and could cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our
reputation and business. Such failures could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations. If the third parties we work with violate applicable laws,
contractual obligations or suffer a security incident, such violations may also put us in breach of our obligations under privacy laws and regulations and/or could in turn have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Our success significantly depends on key personnel.

Our performance significantly depends upon the continued contributions of our executive officers and key employees, both individually and as a group, and our ability to retain
and motivate them. Our officers and key personnel have many years of experience in our industry and it may be difficult to replace them. If we lose key personnel or are unable to
recruit qualified personnel, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Product liability claims, product recalls and health-related allegations could adversely affect our business reputation and financial results.

The sale of food products for human consumption involves the risk of injury to consumers, which could result from tampering by unauthorized third parties; product
contamination; the presence of foreign objects, substances, chemicals and other agents; or residues introduced during the manufacturing, packaging, storage, handling or
transportation phases. Some of the products we sell are produced for us by third parties and such third parties may not have adequate quality control standards to ensure that such
products are not adulterated, misbranded, contaminated or otherwise defective. Any of the above circumstances could necessitate a voluntary or mandatory recall, a need to change
a product’s labeling or other consumer safety concerns. Any widespread product recall, whether voluntary or mandatory, may result in significant loss due to the costs of a recall,
related legal claims, including claims arising from bodily injury or illness caused by our products, the destruction of product inventory, lost sales due to product unavailability, or
unfavorable change in customer sentiment toward our products. In addition, we license our brands for use on products produced and marketed by third parties, for which we receive
royalties. We, as well as the manufacturers of our products, may be subject to claims made by consumers as a result of products manufactured by these third parties which are
marketed under our brand names.
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Consumption of adulterated products may cause serious illnesses and we may be subject to claims or lawsuits relating to such matters. Even an inadvertent shipment of
adulterated products is a violation of law and may lead to an increased risk of exposure to product liability claims, product recalls and increased scrutiny by federal and state
regulatory agencies. Such claims or liabilities may not be covered by our insurance or by any rights of indemnity or contribution which we may have against third parties. In
addition, the negative publicity surrounding any assertion that our products caused illness or injury could have a material adverse effect on our reputation with existing and potential
consumers and on our brand image, all of which could negatively impact our earnings and cash flows. For example, allegations have been made that natural and artificial
sweeteners lead to various health problems. Although we believe that we have been successful in presenting scientific evidence to dispute these claims and restore consumer
confidence in the face of each of these claims, there can be no assurance that we will be similarly successful if new health-related allegations are made in the future. Furthermore,
actions by the FDA and other federal, state or local agencies or governments, domestically or abroad, may impact the acceptability and public perception of or access to certain
sweeteners. If consumers lose confidence in the safety of our products, regardless of the accuracy or scientific support for such claims, our sales and margins would be negatively
impacted.

Our business is heavily dependent on sales to the worldwide tobacco industry, and negative developments and trends within the tobacco industry could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In 2023, approximately 31.6% of our Flavors & Ingredients sales and 7.2% of our consolidated net revenues were to the worldwide tobacco industry for use as tobacco flavor
enhancing and moistening agents in the manufacture of American blend cigarettes, moist snuff, chewing tobacco and pipe tobacco. Continued negative developments and trends
within the tobacco industry including evolving public attitudes toward tobacco products, an increased emphasis on the public health aspects of tobacco product consumption,
increases in excise and other taxes on tobacco products and an expansion of tobacco regulations in a number of countries have contributed significantly to a worldwide decline in
consumption, which could have a material adverse effect on our Flavors & Ingredients business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, the tobacco industry has been subject to increased governmental taxation and regulation and in recent years has been subject to substantial litigation and these
trends are likely to continue and will likely negatively affect tobacco product consumption and tobacco product manufacturers. Producers of tobacco products are subject to
regulation in the U.S. at the federal, state and local levels, as well as in foreign countries. The U.S. government has expressly prohibited the use of characterizing flavors (other than
tobacco or menthol) in cigarettes. The FDA also has the power to limit the type or quantity of additives that may be used in the manufacture of tobacco products in the U.S., which
expressly includes prohibiting menthol in cigarettes. This power has been extended to include e-cigarettes and other electronic nicotine delivery systems (“ENDS”), either through
the issuance of a product standard or through review of premarket tobacco product applications. Actions by the FDA and other federal, state or local agencies or governments may
impact the acceptability of or access to tobacco products, limit consumer choice as to tobacco products, delay or prevent the launch of new or modified tobacco products, or enact
other measures that would otherwise significantly increase the cost of doing business. For example, FDA may require a recall as a result of product contamination; issue a
rulemaking that bans menthol in cigarettes (which is currently proposed); determine that one or more new tobacco products do not satisfy the statutory requirements for substantial
equivalence; withdraw a marketing authorization after determining that removal is necessary for the protection of public health; restrict communications to tobacco consumers; or
otherwise significantly increase the cost of doing business, or restrict or prevent the use of specified tobacco products in certain locations or the sale of tobacco products by certain
retail establishments.

Similarly, countries outside the U.S. have rules restricting the use of various ingredients in tobacco products. In 2005, the World Health Organization promulgated its
Framework Convention for Tobacco Control (the “FCTC”). The FCTC is the first international public health treaty and establishes a global agenda for tobacco regulation in order
to limit the use of tobacco products. More than 160 countries, as well as the EU, have become parties to the FCTC. In November 2010, the governing body of the FCTC issued
guidelines that provide non-binding recommendations to restrict or ban flavorings and additives that increase the attractiveness of tobacco products and require tobacco product
manufacturers to disclose ingredient information to public health authorities who would then determine whether such ingredients increase attractiveness. Future tobacco product
regulations may be influenced by these FCTC recommendations. The EU and individual governments are also considering regulations to further restrict or ban various cigarette
ingredients. For example, pursuant to the Tobacco Products Directive (“TPD”), a directive of the EU that places limits on the sale and merchandising of tobacco and tobacco
related products in member countries, European Union regulators are currently evaluating the health effects of 15 ingredients, including licorice, used in tobacco products. Earlier
this year, France also proposed a ban of all disposable ENDS products, and Britain’s government proposed banning younger generations from ever buying cigarettes.
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Over the years, there has been substantial litigation between tobacco product manufacturers and individuals, various governmental units and private health care providers
regarding increased medical expenditures and losses allegedly caused by use of tobacco products. There may be an increase in health-related litigation against the tobacco industry,
and it is possible that Mafco Worldwide, as a supplier to the tobacco industry, may become a party to such litigation, which, if successful, could have a material adverse effect on
our Flavors & Ingredients business.

The tobacco business, including the sale of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco, has been subject to federal, state, local and foreign excise taxes for many years. In recent years,
federal, state, local and foreign governments have increased such taxes as a means of both raising revenue and discouraging the consumption of tobacco products. New proposals to
increase taxes on tobacco products are also regularly introduced in the U.S. and foreign countries. Additional taxes may lead to an accelerated decline in tobacco product sales. We
are unable to predict whether there will be additional price or tax increases for tobacco products or the size of any such increases, or the effect of other developments in tobacco
regulation or litigation or consumer attitudes on further declines in the consumption of either tobacco products containing licorice extract or on sales of licorice extract to the
tobacco industry. Further material declines in sales to the tobacco industry are likely to have a significant negative effect on the financial performance of our Flavors & Ingredients
business.

Changes in, or interpretations of, regulations regarding licorice or its components may reduce our sales and profits.

Restrictions on certain licorice components vary worldwide, as countries, or states may have varying limits on specific components. Regulations issued by state, federal and
foreign governments and agencies and any modification to interpretation and/or enforcement of those regulations, may impact the potential markets for our Flavors & Ingredients
products. As further research is conducted on raw materials and testing technology and capabilities increase, additional items may be identified within the natural licorice matrix
which may reduce the demand of our Flavors & Ingredients products. Our Flavors & Ingredients products are currently marketed as natural flavors in the U.S. and other major
markets. As the definition of “natural” varies throughout the world, changes in worldwide governmental regulatory agency definitions of natural may impact the potential market
for our Flavors & Ingredients products. EU regulators are currently evaluating the health effects of 15 ingredients, including licorice, used in tobacco products pursuant to the TPD,
a directive that places limits on the sale and merchandising of tobacco and tobacco related products in member countries. An adverse recommendation by the EU to reduce or
eliminate the use of licorice in cigarettes sold in the EU would have a negative impact on our revenues and operations in Europe. While the EU has not enacted any new rules or
regulations regarding the inclusion of licorice as an additive in cigarettes, in recent years, our sales of licorice to be used in tobacco products to be sold in Europe have declined.

Though the price of licorice raw materials was generally stable in 2023, the price of licorice raw materials is affected by many factors, including monetary fluctuations and
economic, political and weather conditions, natural or man-made disasters, consumer demand and changes in governmental trade or agriculture programs in countries where our
flavors and ingredients suppliers are located. For example, we import licorice raw materials from various countries and export products from the U.S., France and China, therefore
the imposition of tariffs by a country from which we import goods or to which we export goods could result in increased costs of production and higher prices and reduced demand
for our Flavors & Ingredients products. Although we often enter into purchase contracts for these products, significant or prolonged increases in the prices of licorice raw materials
could have a material adverse effect on our Flavors & Ingredients business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Capital Structure

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and we may incur additional debt.

The total indebtedness under our credit facility as of December 31, 2023 was $421.7 million, net of unamortized discounts. The obligations under our credit facilities are
guaranteed by certain direct or indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of ours. Our credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our personal property and the guarantor
subsidiaries (in each case, subject to certain exclusions and qualifications). We are also permitted, under the terms of our credit facilities, to incur additional indebtedness, both
under our credit facilities and otherwise. If such additional indebtedness is incurred, we may exacerbate the risks of our indebtedness described herein.

We intend to comply with the terms and financial covenants in our credit facilities for the foreseeable future, however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with
all of these covenants at all times. Our existing substantial indebtedness and any future indebtedness, if incurred, could:

• require us to dedicate a substantial portion of cash flow from operations to payments in respect of our indebtedness, instead of funding working capital, capital expenditures,
potential acquisition opportunities, a level of marketing necessary to maintain the current level of sales and other general corporate purposes;
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• increase the amount of interest that we have to pay, because our borrowings are at variable rates of interest, which will result in higher interest payments if interest rates
increase, and, if and when we are required to refinance any of our indebtedness, an increase in interest rates would also result in higher interest costs;

• increase our vulnerability to adverse general economic or industry conditions;
• require refinancing, which we may not be able to do on reasonable terms;
• limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, competition and/or changes in our business or the industry in which we operate;
• limit our ability to borrow additional funds;
• restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or necessary divestitures, introducing new brands and/or products or exploiting business opportunities; and
• place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt and/or more financial resources.

Our ability to meet expenses and debt service obligations will depend on our future performance, which will be affected by financial, business, economic and other factors,
including potential changes in consumer and customer preferences and behaviors, the success of product and marketing innovation and pressure from competitors. If we do not
generate enough cash to pay our debt service obligations, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt, sell assets, reduce or delay capital expenditures, borrow
more money or issue additional equity.

Our credit facilities contain financial and other covenants. The failure to comply with such covenants could have an adverse effect.

Our credit facilities contain certain financial and other covenants, and limitations on our and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness and
make guarantees; incur liens on assets; engage in mergers or consolidations, dissolutions or other fundamental changes; sell assets; pay dividends and distributions or other
restricted payments or repurchase stock; make investments, loans and advances, including acquisitions; amend organizational documents or other material agreements; enter into
certain agreements that would restrict our and our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends; repay certain junior, unsecured or subordinated indebtedness; issue certain equity; engage in
certain activities; and engage in certain transactions with affiliates, in each case, subject to customary exceptions materially consistent with credit facilities of such type and size.
Any failure to comply with the restrictions of our credit facilities may result in an event of default under the credit facilities. Our credit facilities bear interest at variable rates. If
market interest rates increase, variable rate debt will create higher debt service requirements, which could adversely affect our cash flow.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

The price of our common stock and warrants may be volatile.

The trading price of our common stock as well as our warrants may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, regardless of our operating performance, including:
• changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate, including developments involving our competitors;
• variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;
• publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;
• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;
• additions and departures of key personnel;
• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;
• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the company;
• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;
• the volume of shares of our common stock available for public sale; and
• general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability and acts of war or

terrorism.

In the past, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their shares. This type of litigation
could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on us.
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If we do not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner or prevent fraud,
which may adversely affect investor confidence in our financial reporting and adversely affect our business and operating results and the market price for our common stock.

Effective internal control over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. In the future, we may discover areas of our internal control over
financial reporting that need improvement. If we fail to properly and efficiently maintain an effective internal control over financial reporting, we could fail to report our financial
results accurately. Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud.

Our Certificate of Incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings
that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other
employees.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of
us, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, other employees, agents or stockholders to us or our stockholders, or any
claim for aiding and abetting such alleged breach, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us or any of our directors, officers, other employees, agents or stockholders arising
pursuant to any provision of Delaware’s General Corporation Law (DGCL), our Certificate of Incorporation, our Bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us or any of our
directors, officers, other employees, agents or stockholders governed by the internal affairs doctrine must be brought in the Delaware Court of Chancery, unless the Delaware Court
of Chancery determines that there is an indispensable party not subject to its jurisdiction (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the Court of
Chancery within ten days following such determination), jurisdiction is exclusively vested in a court or forum other than the Delaware Court of Chancery, the Court of Chancery
does not have subject matter jurisdiction, or the case arises under federal securities laws, including the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”). Those provisions of the
Certificate of Incorporation will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or any
other claim for which the U.S. federal district courts shall be the sole and exclusive forum.

Any person or entity acquiring any interest in any shares of our capital stock will be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum provisions in the Certificate
of Incorporation. This choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, stockholders, agents or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of the Certificate of Incorporation
inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in
other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our
management and board of directors.

Delaware law, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take
certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and the DGCL contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition deemed
undesirable by the Board which could depress the trading price of our stock and also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors or taking
other corporate actions, including effecting changes in management.

Among other things, the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include provisions regarding:
• The ability of the Board to issue “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without

stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;
• The limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;
• The right of the Board to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Company Board or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents

stockholders from being able to fill vacancies;
• The requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by Board or the chairman of the Board, which could delay the ability of stockholders to force

consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;
• Controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of the Board and stockholder meetings;
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• The ability of the Board to amend the Bylaws, which may allow the Board to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to
amend the Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• Advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to the Company Board or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’
meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in the Board and also may
discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
Company.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in the Company Board or management. Any provision of the
Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control could limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive a
premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

Risks Related to the Merger

We may fail to consummate the Merger, and uncertainties related to the consummation of the Merger may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition and negatively impact the price of our common stock.

The Merger is subject to the satisfaction of a number of conditions beyond our control. Failure to satisfy these conditions could prevent or delay the completion of the Merger.
Further, regulators may impose conditions, obligations or restrictions on the Merger that may have the effect of delaying or preventing its completion. If the Merger does not close,
we may suffer other consequences that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and stock price, and our stockholders would be exposed to
additional risks, including, but not limited to:

• potential decrease in the market price of our common stock, to the extent that the current market price of our common stock reflects an assumption that the Merger will be
completed;

• reduced investor confidence, stockholder litigation, and adverse impacts to relationships with existing and prospective customers, service providers, investors, lenders and
other business partners. and key personnel;

• significant expenses for professional services in connection with the Merger for which we will have received little or no benefit if the Merger is not consummated;
• any disruptions to our business resulting from the announcement and pendency of the Merger may continue or intensify in the event the Merger is not consummated or is

significantly delayed; and
• the requirement that we pay a termination fee under certain circumstances.

In addition, the efforts and costs to satisfy the closing conditions of the Merger may place a significant burden on management and internal resources, and the Merger and
related transactions, whether or not consummated, may result in a diversion of management’s attention from day-to-day operations. Any significant diversion of management’s
attention away from ongoing business and difficulties encountered in the Merger process could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We are subject to various uncertainties and interim covenants while the Merger is pending, which could disrupt our relationships with third parties and employees, divert
management’s attention, or result in negative publicity or legal proceedings, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We have expended, and continue to expend, significant management time and resources in an effort to complete the Merger. Uncertainty about the pendency of the Merger and
the effect of the Merger on employees, customers and other third parties who deal with us may impair our ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel or cause customers
and other third parties who deal with us to seek to change existing business relationships with us or fail to extend an existing relationship with us, either of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and market price of our common stock.
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The pendency of the Merger may also result in negative publicity and a negative impression of us in the financial markets and may lead to litigation against us and our directors
and officers. Litigation is very common in connection with the sale of public companies, regardless of whether the claims have any merit. Such litigation would be distracting to
management and, may, in the future, require us to incur significant costs. Further, one of the conditions to consummating the Merger is that no material order preventing or
materially delaying the consummation of the Merger shall have been issued by any court. Consequently, if any lawsuit challenging the Merger is successful in obtaining an order
preventing the consummation of the Merger, that order may delay or prevent the Merger from being completed. While we will evaluate and defend against any lawsuits, the time
and costs of defending against litigation relating to the Merger may adversely affect our business.

Further, the Merger Agreement generally requires us to operate our business in the ordinary course, subject to certain exceptions, including as required by applicable law,
pending consummation of the Merger, and subjects us to customary interim operating covenants that restrict us from taking certain specified actions until the Merger is completed
or the Merger Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms. These restrictions could prevent us from pursuing certain business opportunities that may arise prior to the
consummation of the Merger and may affect our ability to execute our business strategies and attain financial and other goals and may impact our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. The occurrence of any of these events individually or in combination could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The Merger Agreement limits our ability to pursue alternatives to the Merger and may discourage other companies from trying to acquire us for greater consideration than
what Parent has agreed to pay pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

The Merger Agreement contains provisions that make it more difficult for us to sell our business to a party other than Parent. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the
Company is subject to a customary “no-shop” provision that restricts the Company and its representatives from soliciting a Takeover Proposal (as defined in the Merger Agreement)
from third parties or providing information to or participating in any discussions or negotiations with third parties regarding any Takeover Proposal, subject to certain exceptions.
These restrictions, including the added expense of the termination fees that may become payable by us in certain circumstances, might discourage a third party that has an interest
in acquiring all or a significant part of the Company from considering or proposing that acquisition, even if that party were prepared to pay consideration with a higher per share
value than the consideration payable in the Merger pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

We will continue to incur substantial transaction-related costs in connection with the Merger and we may, under certain circumstances, be obligated to pay a termination
fee to Parent if the Merger Agreement is terminated.

We have incurred significant legal, advisory and financial services fees in connection with Merger. We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, additional costs in
connection with the satisfaction of the various conditions to closing of the Merger, including seeking approval from our stockholders and from applicable regulatory agencies. If
there is any delay in the consummation of the Merger, these costs could increase significantly. Further, if the Merger is not completed, in certain circumstances, we could be
required to pay a termination fee of $20 million. Payment of any such termination fee may require us to use available cash that would have otherwise been available for general
corporate purposes or other uses. For these and other reasons, termination of the Merger Agreement could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations or
financial condition, which in turn would materially and adversely affect the price of our common stock.

If the Merger is consummated, our stockholders will not be able to participate in any further upside to our business.

If the Merger is consummated, our stockholders will receive $4.875 in cash per share of common stock owned by them, without interest, and will not receive any equity
interests of Parent. As a result, if our business following the Merger performs well, our current stockholders will not receive any additional consideration and will therefore not
receive any benefit from any such future performance of our business.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 1C.    Cybersecurity.

We maintain a comprehensive process for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our cybersecurity risk management processes include
security controls, monitoring systems, employee training, and cybersecurity risk insurance. Our processes include overseeing and identifying risks from cybersecurity threats
associated with the use of tools and services from third-party providers.

We conduct quarterly assessments to identify cybersecurity threats. Based on these assessments, we design, implement and maintain risk-based controls to protect our
information, our information systems and our business operations, address any identified gaps in existing controls, update existing controls, as necessary, and monitor the
effectiveness of our controls. We have allocated adequate resources and have designated appropriate personnel, including our Global IT Senior Director, to manage the
cybersecurity risk management process and engage with consultants, auditors, and other third parties in connection with our cybersecurity risk management process. Senior
leadership, including our Global IT Senior Director who has extensive cybersecurity knowledge and skills gained from 20 years of work experience, is responsible for our overall
enterprise risk management program and has integrated the cybersecurity risk management processes into the overall enterprise risk management program.

The Board of Directors, in coordination with the Audit Committee, oversees the Company’s enterprise risk management processes, including the management of risks arising
from cybersecurity threats. The Audit Committee generally receives quarterly reports from our Global IT Senior Director regarding cybersecurity risks, which may address a range
of topics including recent developments, risk assessments, third-party and independent reviews and technology trends. We have protocols in place by which certain cybersecurity
incidents that meet established reporting thresholds are escalated internally, and as appropriate, reported to the Audit Committee or Board in a timely manner.

The Global IT Senior Director oversees the Company’s incident response plan and related processes designed to assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats.
The Company’s Global IT Senior Director also coordinates with internal audit and other third parties to assess and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats and is
responsible for informing the Audit Committee of cybersecurity incidents that may be material.

In the three year period ending December 31, 2023, we have not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents, and expenses incurred from cybersecurity incidents were
immaterial. For additional information regarding whether risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially affected or
are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, see Item 1A. Risk Factors — “Risks Related to
Our Business,” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 2.    Properties.

As of December 31, 2023, our facilities included 28 office, manufacturing, warehousing and administration facilities. Fifteen of these facilities are located in the United States
in eight states, and the remaining locations are outside the U.S., primarily in Europe and Asia and, to a lesser extent, in Latin America and the Middle East. These facilities cover
approximately 1,675,000 square feet, of which approximately 223,000 square feet are owned and 1,452,000 square feet are leased.

We produce a majority of our Branded CPG products at a production facility that we currently operate in Teplice, Czech Republic and at various external manufacturers
throughout the world. We produce our Flavors & Ingredients products at production facilities we currently own or operate in Richmond, Virginia, Zhangjiagang, China, Shanghai,
China, Gardanne, France and Camden, New Jersey.

We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future and that suitable additional space will be available to accommodate any expansion of our
operations as needed.

We currently maintain our principal executive offices at 125 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 1250, Chicago, IL 60606, and our telephone number is (312) 840-6000.
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Item 3.    Legal Proceedings.

We are from time to time subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims,
lawsuits and other proceedings may involve highly complex issues that are subject to substantial uncertainties, and could result in damages, fines, penalties, non-monetary sanctions
or relief. However, we do not consider any such claims, lawsuits or proceedings that are currently pending, individually or in the aggregate, to be material to our business or likely
to result in a material adverse effect on our future operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

PART II

Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock, with a par value of $0.0001 per share, is traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “FREE”.

Holders

On March 11, 2024, there were approximately 16 holders of record of our common stock, which does not include the number of persons whose stock is in nominee or “street”
name accounts through brokers.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part III, Item 12 for information regarding securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.
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Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph compares the cumulative total return of our common stock since it began trading on the NASDAQ on June 25, 2020 through
December 31, 2023 with the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500 Packaged Foods & Meats Index. The graph assumes the value of the investment in our
common stock and each index was $100 on June 25, 2020 and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance below is not necessarily indicative of future
stock price performance.

Company Name / Index June 25, 2020 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
Whole Earth Brands, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 107.92 $ 106.34 $ 40.30 $ 33.76 
S&P 500 $ 100.00 $ 122.84 $ 158.11 $ 129.47 $ 163.51 
S&P Composite 1500 Packaged Foods & Meats Index $ 100.00 $ 110.00 $ 124.34 $ 134.50 $ 125.26 

Item 6.    Reserved.
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Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Item 1. Business,” and our
audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains a number of forward looking statements, all of which are based on our
current expectations and could be affected by the uncertainties and other factors described throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K and particularly in “Item 1A. Risk
Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Overview

We are a global food company enabling healthier lifestyles and providing access to high-quality plant-based sweeteners, flavor enhancers and other foods through our diverse
portfolio of trusted brands and delicious products. We operate a proven platform organized into two reportable segments.

• Branded CPG, comprised of our Merisant division of operating companies, Wholesome and Swerve, is a global CPG business focused on building a branded portfolio
oriented toward serving consumers seeking better-for-you sweeteners across the zero calorie, plant-based, organic, non GMO, and Fair Trade spaces in zero/low calorie
sweeteners, honey, agave, baking mix, and baking chocolate segments. Our Branded CPG products are sold under both our flagship brands, as well as local and private label
brands. Our flagship brands include Whole Earth®, Pure Via®, Wholesome®, Swerve®, Canderel®, Equal® and existing branded adjacencies.

• Flavors & Ingredients, comprised of our Mafco Worldwide division of operating companies, is a global, business-to-business focused operation with a long history as a
trusted supplier of essential, functional ingredients to some of the CPG industry’s largest and most demanding customers. Our products provide a variety of solutions for our
customers, including flavoring enhancement, flavor / aftertaste masking, moisturizing, product mouthfeel modification and skin soothing characteristics. Our Flavors &
Ingredients segment operates as our licorice-derived products business.

Agreement and Plan of Merger

On February 12, 2024, we entered into the Merger Agreement with Parent and Merger Sub. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement,
upon the closing of the transaction, Merger Sub is expected to merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent.
See Note 18 to our audited consolidated financial statements for more information on the Merger Agreement and the Merger.

Significant Acquisitions

On December 17, 2020, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Wholesome Purchase Agreement”) with WSO Investments, Inc. (“WSO Investments” and together
with its subsidiaries “Wholesome”), WSO Holdings, LP (“WSO Partnership”), Edwards Billington and Son, Limited (“EBS”), WSO Holdings, LLC (“WSO LLC,” and together
with WSO Partnership and EBS, the “WSO Sellers”), and WSO Partnership, in its capacity as representative for the WSO Sellers. WSO Investments is the direct parent of its
wholly-owned subsidiary Wholesome Sweeteners, Incorporated, which was formed to import, market, distribute, and sell organic sugars, unrefined specialty sugars, and related
products.

On February 5, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Wholesome Purchase Agreement, (i) we purchased and acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of
WSO Investments from the WSO Sellers, for (x) an initial cash purchase price of $180 million (subject to customary post-closing adjustments), plus (y) as more thoroughly
described below, up to an additional $55 million (the “Earn-Out Amount”) upon the satisfaction of certain post-closing financial metrics by Wholesome; and (ii) WSO Investments
became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (collectively, the “Wholesome Transaction”). Subject to the terms and conditions of the Wholesome Purchase
Agreement, and as more thoroughly described therein, payment of the Earn-Out Amount, in whole or in part, was subject to Wholesome achieving certain EBITDA thresholds at or
above approximately $30 million during the period beginning August 29, 2020, and ending December 31, 2021 (the “Earn-Out Period”). A portion of the Earn-Out Amount (up to
$27.5 million) could be paid, at our election, in freely tradeable, registered shares of Company common stock calculated using the 20-day volume weighted average trading price
per share as of the date of determination. Calculation of the achievement of the Earn-Out Amount is subject to certain adjustments more thoroughly described in the Wholesome
Purchase Agreement.
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Following the completion of the Earn-Out Period, we determined, in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement, that the sellers were entitled to receive the Earn-Out
Amount in full. We elected to satisfy part of the Earn-Out Amount in common stock and on February 23, 2022, issued 2,659,574 shares of the Company’s common stock. The
remaining $30 million portion of the $55 million Earn-Out Amount was paid in cash which was funded from available capacity under our revolving credit facility. The settlement
of the earn-out resulted in a non-cash gain of $1.1 million that was recorded in the first quarter of 2022, which represents the difference in the value of the common stock issued
using the 20-day volume weighted average trading price per share as compared to the trading price on the date of issuance.

In connection with the closing of the Wholesome Transaction, on February 5, 2021, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into an amendment and restatement agreement
(the “Amendment Agreement”) with Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent, and certain lenders signatory thereto, which amended and restated its existing senior
secured loan agreement dated as of June 25, 2020 (as amended on September 4, 2020, the “Existing Credit Agreement,” and as further amended by the Amendment Agreement, the
“Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), by and among Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent, certain lenders signatory thereto and certain other parties.
See Note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements for further description of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Inflation and Supply Chain Impact

During 2023, we have continued to experience inflationary cost increases in raw materials and transportation costs; however, we have recently seen a stabilization in certain of
these costs. These cost increases have resulted in, and could continue to result in, negative impacts to our results of operations. However, we continue to monitor the inflationary
environment and impacts on our operations and have taken measures to mitigate the impact of these inflationary pressures.

Other Events

In connection with an investigation conducted under the supervision of the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”), the Audit
Committee, based upon information from independent investigative counsel to the Audit Committee, determined that the most recent former chief executive officer of the
Company, and the most recent former chief financial officer of the Company at the request of such former chief executive officer of the Company, disclosed to representatives of
the largest stockholder of the Company material non-public information belonging to the Company without a non-disclosure agreement and in violation of the Company’s internal
policies. The Company has received a written Affidavit Certification from such stockholder that, notwithstanding receipt of such material non-public information, such stockholder
and its affiliates did not trade in any Company securities, did not direct any other party to trade in any Company securities and did not disclose such material non-public
information to any third party, in each case, prior to the public disclosure of such information by the Company. The investigation was ongoing as of December 31, 2023 but
subsequently concluded prior to the date of this filing.

Notwithstanding the above, we have concluded that the audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present, in all material
respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP.

The Nominating and Governance Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, with input and guidance from the Audit Committee and based upon information from
independent investigative counsel to the Audit Committee, is considering appropriate modifications to the Company’s policies and procedures regarding disclosure of the
Company’s information.
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Results of Operations

Consolidated
(In thousands of dollars)

Year Ended Change
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 23-22 22-21

Product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 +2.3 % +9.0 %
Cost of goods sold 407,236 398,060 335,218 +2.3 % +18.7 %
Gross profit 143,677 140,212 158,755 +2.5 % -11.7 %

Selling, general and administrative expenses 102,354 99,735 113,141 +2.6 % -11.8 %
Amortization of intangible assets 18,698 18,623 18,295 +0.4 % +1.8 %
Goodwill impairment charges 7,230 46,500 — -84.5 % *
Restructuring and other expenses — — 4,503 * *

Operating income (loss) 15,395 (24,646) 22,816 * *

Interest expense, net (43,974) (30,600) (24,589) +43.7 % -24.4 %
Loss on extinguishment and debt transaction costs — — (5,513) * *
Other (expense) income, net (3,188) 2,283 225 * *
Loss before income taxes (31,767) (52,963) (7,061) -40.0 % *
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 6,329 5,789 (7,144) +9.3 % *

Net (loss) income $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 83 -35.2 % *

* Represents positive or negative change equal to, or in excess of 100%

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $550.9 million, an increase of $12.6 million, or 2.3%, from $538.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022 due to a $9.0 million increase in product revenues at Flavors & Ingredients and a $3.6 million increase in product revenues at Branded CPG. The
increase in Flavors & Ingredients revenues was primarily driven by volume growth and price increases, as further discussed below. The increase in Branded CPG revenues was
primarily a result of price increases, partially offset by declines in volume and unfavorable impacts from foreign exchange, as further discussed below.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $407.2 million, an increase of $9.2 million, or 2.3%, from $398.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to higher sales, higher raw materials costs due to inflationary pressures and the sale of higher cost inventory resulting from
increased freight and warehousing costs, as well as $2.5 million of favorable purchase accounting adjustments related to inventory revaluations that did not reoccur in 2023 as all
inventory revaluation purchase accounting adjustments were fully amortized as of June 30, 2022, partially offset by a decline in costs associated with the supply chain reinvention at
Branded CPG.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $102.4 million, an increase
of $2.6 million, or 2.6%, from $99.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to a $2.0 million increase in stock-based compensation
expense, $1.9 million of costs associated with the Company’s strategic review, a $1.7 million impairment of fixed assets related to idled production lines and a $0.4 million right-
of-use lease asset impairment both related to our Decatur, Alabama operation that was shut down, a $0.8 million increase in amortization of capitalized software implementation
costs, a $0.7 million increase in severance and related expenses and a $0.6 million increase in service contract costs, partially offset by a $2.7 million decline in bonus expense,
which includes a favorable adjustment to prior year bonus accruals, a $1.6 million decrease in commission expense, a $0.8 million decrease in salary expense and a $0.7 million
decline in acquisition related transaction expenses that did not reoccur in 2023.

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2023 was essentially unchanged compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Goodwill impairment charges. Goodwill impairment charges were $7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to $46.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. At December 31, 2023, the Company determined that the carrying value of the IMEA reporting unit within Branded CPG exceeded its respective fair value and
as a result, recognized a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $7.2 million. At December 31, 2022, the Company determined that the carrying values of the North America and
LATAM reporting units within Branded CPG exceeded their respective fair values and as a result, the Company recognized non-cash goodwill impairment charges of $42.5 million
related to the North America reporting unit and $4.0 million related to the LATAM reporting unit.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $44.0 million, an increase of $13.4 million, or 43.7%, from $30.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to rising interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Other (expense) income, net. Other (expense) income, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 was expense of $3.2 million, compared to income of $2.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. The change was primarily due to a $3.3 million increase in foreign exchange losses, a $1.2 million reduction in the non-operating gain on the change in
the fair value of warrant liabilities and the prior year included a $1.1 million gain related to the settlement of the Wholesome acquisition earn-out.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $6.3 million which relates primarily to current and deferred
taxes in connection with our operations in the U.S., China and France. The tax benefit on our U.S. operating loss was limited as it included interest deductions for which no tax
benefit was provided given the restrictions on tax deductibility under Section 163(j). The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $5.8 million.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 was (19.9)%. The effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal rate of 21% primarily due to the impairment
of non-deductible goodwill for which no tax benefit was provided, limited benefit on current year interest deductions within the U.S. given the restrictions on the tax deductibility
under Section 163(j), state and local taxes, and various non-deductible permanent differences.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2022 was (10.9)%. The effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal rate of 21% primarily due to the impairment
of non-deductible goodwill for which no tax benefit was provided, the U.S. tax effect of international operations including Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) and a
limited benefit on current year interest deductions within the U.S. given the restrictions on deductibility under Section 163(j).

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $538.3 million, an increase of $44.3 million, or 9.0% from $494.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021, due to a $33.5 million increase in product revenues at Branded CPG and a $10.8 million increase in product revenues at Flavors & Ingredients. The
increase in Branded CPG revenues was primarily a result of a full year of Wholesome (acquired February 5, 2021), as well as price increases, partially offset by declines in volume
and unfavorable impacts from foreign exchange, as further discussed below. The increase in Flavors & Ingredients revenues was primarily driven by volume growth and price
increases, partially offset by unfavorable impacts from foreign exchange, as further discussed below.
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Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $398.1 million, an increase $62.8 million, or 18.7%, from $335.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to a $36.3 million increase in costs as a result of a full year of Wholesome (acquired February 5, 2021), as well as costs
associated with the supply chain reinvention at Branded CPG and increased logistics, energy and raw materials costs due to inflationary pressures, partially offset by a $1.0 million
decline in stock-based compensation expense.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $99.7 million a decrease of $13.4 million, or 11.8%, from $113.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to a $13.5 million decline in public company readiness and acquisition related transaction expenses,
a $5.3 million decrease in marketing costs, and a $2.2 million decrease in stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by $1.4 million of severance and related expenses, a
$2.1 million increase in bonus expense, higher salaries from increased headcount in the second half of 2021 and increases in other corporate expenses including higher professional
fees and insurance expense.

Amortization of intangible assets. Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $18.6 million, an increase of $0.3 million, or 1.8%, from $18.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to amortization expense related to the intangible assets acquired as part of the Wholesome acquisition on February 5,
2021.

Goodwill impairment charges. Goodwill impairment charges were $46.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Company determined that the carrying values of
the North America and LATAM reporting units within Branded CPG exceeded their respective fair values and as a result, the Company recognized non-cash goodwill impairment
charges of $42.5 million related to the North America reporting unit and $4.0 million related to the LATAM reporting unit.

Restructuring and other expenses. Restructuring and other expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 were $4.5 million and related primarily to certain disposal costs at
our Camden, New Jersey facility, which was sold in the second quarter of 2021.

Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $30.6 million, an increase of $6.0 million, or 24.4% from $24.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher debt levels under our revolving credit facility and rising interest rates during the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other (expense) income, net. Other (expense) income, net for the year ended December 31, 2022 was income of $2.3 million, an increase of $2.1 million, from income of $0.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to a $1.1 million non-cash gain related to the settlement of the Wholesome acquisition earn-out and a
non-operating gain of $1.2 million on the change in fair value of warrant liabilities.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes. The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $5.8 million, which relates primarily to current and deferred
foreign taxes in connection with our operations in China, France and Switzerland, partially offset by a deferred tax benefit in the U.S. The tax benefit on our U.S. operating loss was
limited as it included an impairment of non-deductible goodwill and interest deductions within the U.S for which no tax benefit was provided. The benefit for income taxes for the
year ended December 31, 2021 was $7.1 million.

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2022 was (10.9)%. The effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal rate of 21% primarily due to the impairment
of non-deductible goodwill for which no tax benefit was provided, the U.S. tax effect of international operations including GILTI and a limited benefit on current year interest
deductions within the U.S given the restrictions on deductibility under Section 163(j).

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2021 was 101.2%. The effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal rate of 21% primarily due to state and local
taxes, non-deductible expenses including executive compensation, stock-based compensation and transaction related costs coupled with the finalization of the Switzerland tax
ruling, changes in U.K. tax laws and the reversal of uncertain tax liabilities as a result of the lapse of applicable statute of limitations.
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Results of Operations by Segment

Branded CPG

Year Ended Change
(In thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 23-22 22-21
Product revenues, net $ 426,287 $ 422,638 $ 389,174 +0.9 % +8.6 %

Operating income (loss) 8,167 (30,182) 34,918 * *

* Represents positive or negative change equal to, or in excess of 100%

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Segment product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for Branded CPG for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $426.3 million, an increase of $3.6 million, or 0.9%, from
$422.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by a $21.4 million increase in sales due to higher pricing, partially offset by a $17.4 million decline due to
lower volumes and a $0.3 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency exchange.

Segment operating income (loss). Operating income for Branded CPG for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $8.2 million, an increase of $38.3 million, from an operating
loss of $30.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to a $39.3 million decline in non-cash goodwill impairment charges ($7.2 million in 2023 compared to
$46.5 million in 2022), a $7.8 million decline in costs associated with the supply chain reinvention, a $2.2 million decrease in duty cost on imported sugar, a $1.6 million decline in
commission expense and a $1.1 million decrease in bonus expense, which includes a favorable adjustment to prior year bonus accruals, partially offset by the sale of higher cost
inventory resulting from increased raw materials, freight and warehouse costs, a $1.7 million impairment of fixed assets related to idled production lines and a $0.4 million right-of-
use lease asset impairment both associated with the Decatur, Alabama plant shut down, higher stock-based compensation expense of $1.5 million and a $0.7 million increase in
severance and related expenses.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Segment product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for Branded CPG for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $422.6 million, an increase of $33.5 million, or 8.6%,
from $389.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily driven by a $40.1 million increase in revenues at Wholesome due to a full year of results in 2022 (acquired
February 5, 2021) as well as both higher pricing and volume. This increase was partially offset by a $6.6 million decline in revenues for all other Branded CPG business as a $10.1
million increase in sales largely due to higher pricing was more than offset by a $6.2 million decline in sales due to the discontinuance of certain private label contracts and a $10.5
million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange.

Segment operating income (loss). Operating loss for Branded CPG for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $30.2 million, a decrease of $65.1 million from operating
income of $34.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily due to the $46.5 million non-cash goodwill impairment charge, an increase in costs associated with the
supply chain reinvention of $14.9 million, increased logistics, energy and raw materials costs due to inflationary pressures, partially offset by a $6.4 million increase in operating
income at Wholesome driven by a full year of results (acquired February 5, 2021), a $5.3 million decrease in marketing costs, and a $1.2 million reduction in stock-based
compensation expense in the segment.

Flavors & Ingredients

Year Ended Change
(In thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 23-22 22-21
Product revenues, net $ 124,626 $ 115,634 $ 104,799 +7.8 % +10.3 %
Operating income 35,681 32,505 21,860 +9.8 % +48.7 %
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Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Segment product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for Flavors & Ingredients for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $124.6 million, an increase of $9.0 million, or
7.8%, from $115.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by $5.4 million of volume growth and $3.6 million of price increases. The volume growth was
attributable to increases in pure derivatives and licorice extracts, partially offset by volume declines in our Magnasweet product lines.

Segment operating income. Operating income for Flavors & Ingredients for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $35.7 million, an increase of $3.2 million, or 9.8%, from
$32.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by higher revenues and favorable product mix, partially offset by $2.5 million of favorable purchase
accounting adjustments related to inventory revaluations that did not reoccur in 2023, a $0.6 million increase in bonus expense and a $0.4 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Segment product revenues, net. Product revenues, net for Flavors & Ingredients for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $115.6 million, an increase of $10.8 million, or
10.3%, from $104.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, primarily driven by increases in licorice extracts and pure derivatives primarily due to volume and price growth,
partially offset by a $2.2 million unfavorable impact of foreign exchange.

Segment operating income. Operating income for Flavors & Ingredients for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $32.5 million, an increase of $10.6 million, or 48.7%,
from $21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily driven by increased revenue of $10.8 million and a $4.5 million decrease in restructuring and other expenses
included in the prior year results that did not re-occur in 2022, partially offset by a $4.6 million increase in cost of goods sold. The increase in costs of goods sold was largely due to
the increase in revenue as well as a $2.9 million unfavorable change in amortization of purchase accounting adjustments related to inventory revaluations in the year ended
December 31, 2022 (benefit of $2.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to a benefit of $5.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2021).

Corporate

Year Ended Change
(In thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 23-22 22-21
Operating loss $ (28,453) $ (26,969) $ (33,962) +5.5 % -20.6 %

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2022

Operating loss. Operating loss for Corporate for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $28.5 million, an increase of $1.5 million, or 5.5%, from $27.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by $1.9 million of costs associated with the Company’s strategic review, a $0.8 million increase in amortization of capitalized software
implementation costs, a $0.7 million increase in other professional fees, and a $0.5 million increase in stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by a $1.6 million decrease
in bonus expense largely due to a favorable adjustment to prior year bonus accruals, and a $0.8 million reduction in salary expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Operating loss. Operating loss for Corporate for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $27.0 million, a decrease of $7.0 million, or 20.6%, from $34.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021, primarily driven by an $11.7 million decrease in acquisition related transaction expenses and public company readiness expenses, partially offset by a
$2.0 million increase in compensation expense (primarily due to increased headcount in the second half of 2021) and increases in other corporate expenses including professional
fees and insurance expense.

31



Table of Contents

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically funded operations with cash flow from operations and, when needed, with borrowings, which are described below.

As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $30.5 million. Our principal source of liquidity is our cash from operations. We also have access to credit
markets, if needed, for liquidity or general corporate purposes, including our revolving credit facility. We believe our sources of liquidity and capital, and our credit facilities will be
sufficient to finance our continued operations, growth strategy and additional expenses we expect to incur for at least the next twelve months. Overall, we do not anticipate negative
effects to our funding sources that would have a material effect on our liquidity.

The following table shows summary cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2023, December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 25,318 $ (5,810) $ 9,482 
Net cash used in investing activities (5,643) (8,419) (197,913)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (17,679) 16,525 199,330 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (159) (1,916) 499 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,837 $ 380 $ 11,398 

Operating activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $25.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash used in operating activities of $5.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in cash was primarily attributable to favorable working capital changes and lower cash paid for income taxes, partially
offset by higher interest payments during the year ended December 31, 2023. Cash paid for interest for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $41.8 million compared to $28.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Cash paid for income taxes, net of income tax refunds, was $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to $9.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net cash used in operating activities was $5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to cash provided by operating activities of $9.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2021. The decrease in cash was primarily attributable to unfavorable working capital changes, higher income tax and interest payments and lower cash flows
from operating results during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and primarily included capital expenditures of $5.7 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which included capital expenditures of $8.9 million and proceeds from the sale of
fixed assets of $0.5 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $197.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which included cash paid of $191.2 million, net of cash acquired, related to the
acquisition of Wholesome, $1.0 million of cash received for the final working capital settlement related to the acquisition of Swerve, capital expenditures of $12.2 million and
proceeds from the sale of one of our facilities of $4.5 million.

We expect 2024 capital expenditures to be approximately $9 million which includes manufacturing equipment and upgrades at our production facilities and information
technology expenditures.

Financing activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $17.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and reflects repayments of the revolving credit facility of
$12.0 million, repayments of long-term debt of $3.8 million, payments of $1.5 million for employee tax withholdings related to net share settlements of share awards and payments
of debt issuance costs of $0.5 million.
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Net cash provided by financing activities was $16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and reflects $54.0 million of proceeds from the revolving credit facility,
repayments of the revolving credit facility of $3.0 million, repayments of long-term debt of $3.8 million, cash payment for the Wholesome acquisition earn-out of $29.1 million
(amount is net of $0.9 million related to transaction bonuses paid in connection with the earn-out and reflected in operating activities), payments of $0.9 million for employee tax
withholdings related to net share settlements of share-based awards and payments of debt issuance costs of $0.7 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $199.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 and reflects $400 million of proceeds from the Credit Facilities (as defined
and described below), repayment of the revolving credit facility of $47.9 million, repayments of long-term debt of $139.3 million, payments of debt issuance costs of $11.6 million
and payments of $1.9 million for tax withholdings related to net share settlements of share-based awards.

Debt

At December 31, 2023, the Company’s senior secured loan agreement consisted of a senior secured term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) of $375 million and a
revolving credit facility of up to $125 million (the “Revolving Facility,” and together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”). See Note 7 to our audited consolidated
financial statements for additional information on our Credit Facilities.

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, term loan borrowings were $357.7 million and $359.9 million, respectively, net of unamortized discount and debt issuance
costs of $7.0 million and $8.5 million, respectively. There were $64.0 million and $76.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively. Additionally, as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s unamortized debt issuance costs related to the revolving credit
facility were $1.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively, which are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
there were $3.3 million and $2.1 million, respectively, of outstanding letters of credit that reduced our availability under the revolving credit facility.

As further described in the Acquisition section above, following the completion of the Wholesome Earn-Out Period, we determined, in accordance with the terms of the
Purchase Agreement, that the sellers were entitled to receive the Earn-Out Amount in full. We elected to satisfy part of the Earn-Out Amount in common stock and on February 23,
2022, issued 2,659,574 shares of the Company’s common stock. The remaining $30 million portion of the $55 million Earn-Out Amount was paid in cash which was funded from
available capacity under our revolving credit facility.

On June 15, 2022, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into a first amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Agreement dated as of February 5, 2021.
The Amendment increased the aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Facility from $75 million to $125 million (the “Amended Revolving Credit Facility”) and
transitioned from LIBOR to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as the benchmark for purposes of calculating interest for all loans outstanding under the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement. At the election of the Company, loans outstanding under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement will accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to
(i) term SOFR plus 0.10%, 0.15%, or 0.25% in case of, respectively, a one-month, three-month, or six-month interest period (“Adjusted Term SOFR”), or (ii) the greater of the
prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and one-month Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00%, in each case plus the applicable margin which is equal to (i) with respect to
the Amended Revolving Credit Facility and letters of credit, (A) 2.75%, in the case of base rate advances, and (B) 3.75% in the case of SOFR advances, and (ii) with respect to the
Term Loan Facility, (A) 3.50%, in the case of base rate advances, and (B) 4.50% in the case of SOFR advances, with a SOFR floor of 1.00%. In connection with the Amendment,
we paid fees and incurred transactions costs of $0.7 million, all of which was deferred. The transition to SOFR did not materially impact the interest rates applied to our borrowings.
No other material changes were made to the terms of our Amended and Restated Agreement as a result of the Amendment.

On April 24, 2023, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into a second amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. The
Second Amendment changed the maximum consolidated total leverage ratio covenant as follows: (i) the consolidated total leverage ratio temporarily increased by 0.25 turns for the
first quarter of 2023, 0.5 turns on a quarterly basis through the fourth quarter of 2023, and 0.25 turns in the first quarter of 2024; and (ii) beginning in the second quarter of 2024, the
consolidated total leverage ratio will return to a level not to exceed 5.5x. No other material changes were made to the terms of our Amended and Restated Loan Agreement as a
result of the Second Amendment.
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On October 5, 2023, we and certain of our subsidiaries entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. The Third
Amendment revised a clause in the definition of consolidated EBITDA used for determining compliance with financial covenants effective beginning with the second quarter of
2023 through the first quarter of 2024. The amendment did not impact the calculation of consolidated EBITDA previously determined for the second quarter of 2023.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes certain of our obligations as of December 31, 2023 and the estimated timing and effect that such obligations are expected to have on liquidity
and cash flows in future periods (in thousands):

 Total Current Long-Term
Debt $ 428,688 $ 3,750 $ 424,938 
Interest on debt (1) 162,370 42,160 120,210 
Minimum lease obligations (2) 24,823 8,215 16,608 
Raw materials purchase obligations 84,232 80,471 3,761 
Other purchase obligations 3,678 2,496 1,182 

Total $ 703,791 $ 137,092 $ 566,699 

(1) Calculated based on debt outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and the interest rates as of that date.
(2) Minimum lease obligations have not been reduced by sublease rental income.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements. These policies conform with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and reflect practices appropriate to our businesses. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes thereto. Actual results
could differ from these estimates. We evaluate our policies, estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis.

Our critical accounting policies and estimates relate to revenue recognition, goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets, impairment review of long-lived assets,
income taxes, and foreign currency translation. Management continually evaluates the development, selection and disclosure of our critical accounting policies and estimates and
the application of these policies and estimates. In addition, there are other items within the consolidated financial statements that require the application of accounting policies and
estimation, but are not deemed to be critical accounting policies and estimates. Changes in the estimates used in these and other items could have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition—In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” the Company recognizes revenue
when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for
those goods or services. Revenues are primarily derived from customer orders for the purchase of products and are generally recognized when the product is shipped or delivered
depending on the arrangement with the customer. The Company made an accounting policy election to exclude from the measurement of the transaction price sales taxes and all
other items of a similar nature, and also elected to account for shipping and handling activities as a fulfillment of the promise to transfer the goods. Accordingly, shipping and
handling costs are included in cost of sales.

Branded CPG may offer promotional activities (e.g. coupons, trade discounts and other promotional activities) to its customers. These variable consideration amounts are
estimated for each customer based on specific arrangements/agreements, an analysis of historical volume, and/or current activity with that customer. Reassessment of variable
consideration estimates is done at each reporting date throughout the contract period until the uncertainty is resolved (e.g. promotional campaign is closed and settled with
customer).
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Historically, the Company has encountered limited instances whereby customers rejected products as a result of orders being materially inaccurate and/or products being
defective. The Company tracks the reason codes for those customer returns. Based on that, the materiality of such returns is assessed. A return reserve is calculated (based on
historical data as described above) every month to record an adjustment to net sales; these adjustments have not been significant.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets—We review goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired, in accordance with ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other.” Under ASC Topic 350, the
impairment review of goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization must be based on estimated fair values.

Our annual impairment review measurement date is in the fourth quarter of each year. In performing the annual assessment, we have the option of performing a qualitative
assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit has been impaired. As part of the qualitative assessment for the reporting units, we evaluate the factors that
are specific to the reporting units as well as industry and macroeconomic factors (including changes in interest and discount rates). The reporting unit specific factors may include
cost factors, a comparison of current year results to prior year, current year budget and future projected financial performance. We also consider the change in the overall enterprise
value of the Company compared to the prior year.

If we determine that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit is impaired or if we elect not to perform the optional qualitative assessment, a quantitative assessment is
performed utilizing both the income and market approaches to estimate the fair value of its reporting units. The income approach involves discounting future estimated cash flows.
The discount rate used is the value-weighted average of the reporting unit’s estimated cost of equity and debt derived using both known and estimated customary market metrics
adjusted for company specific risks. We perform sensitivity tests with respect to growth rates and discount rates used in the income approach. In applying the market approach,
valuation multiples are derived from historical and projected operating data of selected guideline companies; evaluated and adjusted, if necessary, based on the strengths and
weaknesses of the reporting unit relative to the selected guideline companies; and applied to the appropriate historical and/or projected operating data to arrive at an indication of
fair value. We typically weight the results of the income and market approaches equally. If the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its estimated fair value, then an impairment
is recorded for the difference, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.

As disclosed in Note 6 to our audited consolidated financial statements, as a result of our 2023 impairment test, the Company recorded a non-cash goodwill impairment charge
related to our IMEA reporting unit within the Branded CPG segment of $7.2 million. The non-cash goodwill impairment charge was the full amount of goodwill associated with that
reporting unit. After the impairment, the goodwill carrying amount of the IMEA reporting unit was $0 million. In addition, as of our 2023 impairment test, our North America
reporting unit has 10% or less excess fair value over carrying amount and a heightened risk of future impairments. The remaining reporting units have more than 10% excess fair
value over carrying amounts as of the latest 2023 impairment test. The determination of estimated fair values requires significant judgments in estimating several factors, including,
future cash flows, terminal growth rates, income tax considerations and discount rates. If current expectations of future cash flows are not met, if market factors outside of the
Company’s control change, including those impacting discount rates, income tax rates and foreign currency exchange rates, or if management’s expectations or plans otherwise
change, then one or more of our reporting units might become impaired in the future.

The discount rate and long-term growth rate used to estimate the fair value of the reporting unit with 10% or less excess fair value over carrying amount, as well as the goodwill
carrying amount, as of the 2023 impairment test, were as follows:

Reporting Unit
Goodwill Carrying Amount

 (in thousands) Discount Rate Long-Term Growth Rate
North America $ 80,486 13.5% 2.5%

Assumptions used in impairment testing are made at a point in time and require significant judgment; therefore, they are subject to change based on the facts and circumstances
present at each annual impairment test date. Additionally, these assumptions are generally interdependent and do not change in isolation. However, as it is reasonably possible that
changes in assumptions could occur, as a sensitivity measure, we have presented the estimated effects of isolated changes in the discount rate and long-term growth rate on the fair
values of our reporting unit with 10% or less excess fair value over carrying amount. These estimated changes in fair value are not necessarily representative of the actual
impairment that would be recorded in the event of a fair value decline.

35



Table of Contents

If we had changed the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of our reporting unit with 10% or less excess fair value over carrying amount, as of the 2023 impairment test,
these isolated changes, which are reasonably possible to occur, would have led to the following increase/(decrease) in the aggregate fair value of the reporting unit (in thousands):

Discount Rate Long-Term Growth Rate
50-Basis-Point 25-Basis-Point

Reporting Unit Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
North America $ (6,513) $ 7,134 $ 1,034 $ (989)

We typically evaluate impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, which relates to our product formulations, by first performing a qualitative assessment. If we elect to
bypass the qualitative assessment or we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the product formulations is less than its carrying value, a quantitative
assessment is then performed using the relief from royalty method under the income approach to estimate the fair value. Some of the more significant assumptions inherent in
estimating the fair value include the estimated future annual sales, royalty rates (as a percentage of sales that would hypothetically be charged by a licensor of the brand to an
unrelated licensee), income tax considerations and a discount rate that reflects the level of risk.

See Note 6 to our audited consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Impairment Review of Long-Lived Assets—In accordance with ASC Topic 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment,” we evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets to be
held and used whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group may be impaired. When such events occur, we
compare the sum of the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the asset or asset group over its remaining depreciable life to the carrying value. If this
comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the carrying amount of the long-lived asset would then be reduced to the estimated fair value, which generally approximates
discounted cash flows. We also evaluate the amortization periods of assets to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. Our applicable
long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets.

Income Taxes—The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The asset and
liability method provides that deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and
laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed
more likely than not to be realized.

The Company made a policy election to treat the income tax due on U.S. inclusion of the global intangible low taxed income (“GILTI”) provisions as a period expense when
incurred.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes—The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the authoritative guidance issued under ASC 740, which addresses the
determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. The Company may recognize the tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the
position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company provides loss contingencies for federal, state and international tax matters relating to potential tax examination issues,
planning initiatives and compliance responsibilities. The development of these reserves requires judgements about tax issues, potential outcomes and timing, which if different, may
materially impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with income taxes as a component of the
provision (benefit) for income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Foreign Currency Translation—The Company has determined that the functional currency for each consolidated subsidiary is its local currency, except for certain entities
whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets and liabilities of entities outside the U.S. are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the end of each period;
income and expense items are translated at each period’s average exchange rate; and any resulting translation difference is reported and accumulated as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the balance sheet, except for any entities which may operate in highly inflationary economies. Gains and losses resulting from
transactions in other than functional currencies are reflected in operating results, except for transactions of a long-term nature.

Remeasurements of European entities whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar as well as translation adjustments for entities operating in highly inflationary economies and
impacts of foreign currency transactions are recognized currently in other expense (income), net.

Beginning January 1, 2019, the Company was required to apply highly-inflationary accounting to its Argentinian subsidiary. This accounting treatment requires a change in the
subsidiary’s functional currency from the local currency (Argentinian Peso) to the parent’s reporting currency (USD). This highly-inflationary classification results from the fact
that the cumulative inflation rate for the preceding 3 year period exceeded 100 percent as of June 30, 2018. When the Company changed the functional currency, it revalued the
subsidiary’s financial statements as if the new functional currency (USD) were the reporting currency. Accordingly, effective January 1, 2019, all Argentinian Peso denominated
monetary assets and liabilities are considered foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and are revalued to USD (the functional currency) with remeasurement
adjustments in the period recorded in the statement of operations. The USD will be the functional currency until the economic environment in Argentina ceases to be considered
highly-inflationary.

Certain non-monetary assets and liabilities that were previously recorded at the applicable historical exchange rates are recorded in USD using the exchange rate as of June 25,
2020. Argentinian Peso denominated monetary assets and liabilities continue to be revalued to USD (the functional currency) with remeasurement period adjustments in the period
recorded in the statement of operations.

New Accounting Standards

See Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The principal market risks affecting our business are exposures to interest rates on debt, foreign exchange rates and fair value of Private Warrants.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates of our variable rate debt under our Loan Agreement, which consists of a Term Loan Facility and a Revolving
Credit Facility. At December 31, 2023, we had $365 million and $64 million of aggregate principal amounts outstanding under our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit
Facility, respectively.

Loans outstanding under the Term Loan Facility currently accrue interest at a rate per annum equal to 90-day SOFR subject to a floor of 1% plus a margin of 4.50% and the
Revolving Credit Facility currently accrues interest at a rate per annum equal to 90-day SOFR plus a margin of 3.75%. Based on the amounts outstanding under the Term Loan
Facility and Revolving Credit Facility at December 31, 2023, adding 1% to the applicable interest rate under the Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility would result in
an increase of approximately $4.3 million in our annual interest expense, which may be mitigated by the interest rate swap with a notional value of $183.3 million, as described
below.

As discussed in Note 9 to our audited consolidated financial statements, we are party to an interest rate swap with a notional value of $183.3 million that involves the exchange
of variable for fixed rate interest payments in order to reduce future interest rate volatility of the variable rate interest payments related to the Term Loan Facility. While the current
expectation is to maintain the interest rate swap through maturity, due to risks for hedging gains and losses, cash settlement costs or changes to our capital structure, we may not
elect to maintain the interest rate swap with respect to our variable rate indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully mitigate interest rate risk.
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Foreign Currency Risk

The revenues and expenses of our international operations generally are denominated in local currencies, which subject us to exchange rate fluctuations between such local
currencies and the U.S. Dollar (“USD”). These exchange rate fluctuations subject us to currency translation risk with respect to the reported results of our international operations,
as well as to other risks sometimes associated with international operations. In the future, we could experience fluctuations in financial results from our international operations,
and there can be no assurance we will be able, contractually or otherwise, to reduce the currency risks associated with our international operations. Foreign currency risk is
primarily related to operations in Europe, Asia and South America. A 10% increase or decrease in the Swiss Franc, Euro, Chinese Yuan, British Pound Sterling and Argentinian
Peso against the USD would result in approximately a 3% change in our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. See Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements
for further information on our accounting policies for foreign currency translation.

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may also impact our Stockholders’ Equity. Amounts invested in our foreign subsidiaries are translated into USD at the exchange rates
as of the last day of each reporting period. Any resulting cumulative translation adjustments are recorded in Stockholders’ Equity as Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss). The cumulative translation adjustments component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) changed by $11.8 million for the period of December 31, 2023.

Changes in Fair Value Risk

We account for the Private Warrants in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification “ASC” Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging.” Under the guidance contained in
ASC Topic 815-40, the Private Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, we classify the Private Warrants as liabilities
at their fair value and adjust the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. The liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value is
recognized in our statement of operations. Changes in the fair value of the Private Warrants each reporting period will be adjusted through earnings, subjecting us to non-cash
volatility in our results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect
to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its
internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1987.
New York, NY
March 12, 2024
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Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands of dollars, except for share and per share data)

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 30,513 $ 28,676 
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $1,460 and $1,614, respectively) 74,012 66,653 
Inventories 209,271 218,975 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,429 10,530 
Total current assets 320,225 324,834 

Property, Plant and Equipment, net 54,937 58,092 

Other Assets
Operating lease right-of-use assets 19,223 18,238 
Goodwill 193,610 193,139 
Other intangible assets, net 229,936 245,376 
Deferred tax assets, net 500 539 
Other assets 7,266 8,785 

Total Assets $ 825,697 $ 849,003 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 55,662 $ 47,002 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 32,173 27,488 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 7,370 8,804 
Current portion of long-term debt 3,750 3,750 
Total current liabilities 98,955 87,044 

Non-Current Liabilities
Long-term debt 417,929 432,172 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 31,579 32,585 
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 14,336 12,664 
Other liabilities 11,208 9,987 
Total Liabilities 574,007 574,452 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10) — — 
Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred shares, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding — — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 220,000,000 shares authorized; 42,853,468 and 41,994,355 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively 4 4 
Additional paid-in capital 365,721 360,777 
Accumulated deficit (123,284) (85,188)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 9,249 (1,042)
Total stockholders’ equity 251,690 274,551 

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 825,697 $ 849,003 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands of dollars, except for per share data)

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 
Cost of goods sold 407,236 398,060 335,218 
Gross profit 143,677 140,212 158,755 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 102,354 99,735 113,141 
Amortization of intangible assets 18,698 18,623 18,295 
Goodwill impairment charges 7,230 46,500 — 
Restructuring and other expenses — — 4,503 

Operating income (loss) 15,395 (24,646) 22,816 

Interest expense, net (43,974) (30,600) (24,589)
Loss on extinguishment and debt transaction costs — — (5,513)
Other (expense) income, net (3,188) 2,283 225 
Loss before income taxes (31,767) (52,963) (7,061)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 6,329 5,789 (7,144)

Net (loss) income $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 83 

Net (loss) earnings per share:
Basic $ (0.90) $ (1.42) $ 0.00 
Diluted $ (0.90) $ (1.42) $ 0.00 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(In thousands of dollars)

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net (loss) income $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 83 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Net change in pension benefit obligations recognized, net of taxes of $(164), $640,
and $26, respectively (748) 2,740 98 

Unrealized gains and losses on cash flow hedges, net of taxes of $(9), $0, and $0,
respectively (28) — — 

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges reclassified to net income, net of taxes of
$(252), $0, and $0, respectively (720) — — 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 11,787 (13,469) 984 
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 10,291 (10,729) 1,082 

Comprehensive (loss) income $ (27,805) $ (69,481) $ 1,165 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Equity

(In thousands of dollars, except for share data)

Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount
Balance at December 31, 2020 38,426,669 $ 4 $ 325,679 $ (25,442) $ 8,605 $ 308,846 
Reclassification of Private Warrants — — (7,062) (1,077) — (8,139)
Transfer of Private Warrants to Public Warrants — — 6,057 — — 6,057 
Net income — — — 83 — 83 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — — 1,082 1,082 
Warrant exercises 100 — 1 — — 1 
Stock-based compensation — — 7,854 — — 7,854 
Net share settlements of stock-based awards 444,877 — (1,913) — — (1,913)
Balance at December 31, 2021 38,871,646 4 330,616 (26,436) 9,687 313,871 
Transfer of Private Warrants to Public Warrants — — 605 — — 605 
Net loss — — — (58,752) — (58,752)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax — — — — (10,729) (10,729)
Stock-based compensation — — 4,636 — — 4,636 
Net share settlements of stock-based awards 259,372 — (418) — — (418)
Net share settlements under management bonus plan 203,763 — 1,402 — — 1,402 
Shares issued for payment of contingent consideration 2,659,574 — 23,936 — — 23,936 
Balance at December 31, 2022 41,994,355 4 360,777 (85,188) (1,042) 274,551 
Transfer of Private Warrants to Public Warrants — — 133 — — 133 
Net loss — — — (38,096) — (38,096)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax — — — — 10,291 10,291 
Stock-based compensation — — 6,264 — — 6,264 
Net share settlements of stock-based awards 854,759 — (1,468) — — (1,468)
Net share settlements of liability-based awards 4,354 — 15 — — 15 

Balance at December 31, 2023 42,853,468 $ 4 $ 365,721 $ (123,284) $ 9,249 $ 251,690 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands of dollars)

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 83 

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 7,029 4,933 8,715 
Depreciation 6,638 6,001 4,727 
Amortization of intangible assets 18,698 18,623 18,295 
Deferred income taxes (1,054) (456) (12,300)
Goodwill impairment charges 7,230 46,500 — 
Amortization of inventory fair value adjustments — (2,537) (3,396)
Non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt — — 4,435 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issue discount 2,252 1,982 1,783 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (78) (1,232) (29)
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (5,455) 1,222 964 
Inventories 10,282 (7,684) (22,957)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,572 201 (1,030)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and income taxes 14,266 (11,574) 12,050 

Other, net 2,034 (3,037) (1,858)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 25,318 (5,810) 9,482 

Investing activities
Capital expenditures (5,661) (8,887) (12,198)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired — — (190,231)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 18 468 4,516 
Net cash used in investing activities (5,643) (8,419) (197,913)

Financing activities
Proceeds from revolving credit facility — 54,000 25,000 
Repayments of revolving credit facility (12,000) (3,000) (47,855)
Long-term borrowings — — 375,000 
Repayments of long-term borrowings (3,750) (3,750) (139,314)
Debt issuance costs (461) (719) (11,589)
Payment of contingent consideration — (29,108) — 
Proceeds from sale of common stock and warrants — — 1 
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of stock-based awards (1,468) (898) (1,913)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (17,679) 16,525 199,330 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
45



Table of Contents

Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

(In thousands of dollars)

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (159) (1,916) 499 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,837 380 11,398 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 28,676 28,296 16,898 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 30,513 $ 28,676 $ 28,296 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid $ 41,770 $ 28,386 $ 21,203 
Taxes paid, net of refunds $ 4,815 $ 9,113 $ 4,523 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing
Non-cash capital expenditures $ — $ — $ 3,796 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTE 1: BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Whole Earth Brands, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (“Whole Earth Brands” or the “Company”) is a global industry-leading platform, focused on the “better for you”
consumer packaged goods (“CPG”) and ingredients space. The Company has a global platform of branded products and ingredients, focused on the consumer transition towards
natural alternatives and clean label products.

On June 24, 2020, Act II Global Acquisition Corp., a Cayman Islands exempted company (“Act II”), domesticated into a Delaware corporation (the “Domestication”), and on
June 25, 2020 (the “Closing”), consummated the indirect acquisition (the “Business Combination”) of (i) all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Merisant Company
(“Merisant”), Merisant Luxembourg Sarl (“Merisant Luxembourg”), Mafco Worldwide LLC (“Mafco Worldwide”), Mafco Shanghai LLC (“Mafco Shanghai”), EVD Holdings
LLC (“EVD Holdings”), and Mafco Deutschland GmbH (together with Merisant, Merisant Luxembourg, Mafco Worldwide, Mafco Shanghai, and EVD Holdings, and their
respective direct and indirect subsidiaries, “Merisant and Mafco Worldwide”), and (ii) certain assets and liabilities of Merisant and Mafco Worldwide included in the Transferred
Assets and Liabilities (as defined in the Purchase Agreement (as hereafter defined)), from Flavors Holdings Inc. (“Flavors Holdings”), MW Holdings I LLC (“MW Holdings I”),
MW Holdings III LLC (“MW Holdings III”), and Mafco Foreign Holdings, Inc. (“Mafco Foreign Holdings,” and together with Flavors Holdings, MW Holdings I, and MW
Holdings III, the “Sellers”), pursuant to that certain Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) entered into by and among Act II and the Sellers dated as of December 19,
2019, as amended. In connection with the Domestication, Act II changed its name to “Whole Earth Brands, Inc.”

Upon the completion of the Domestication, each of Act II’s then-issued and outstanding ordinary shares converted, on a one-for-one basis, into shares of common stock of
Whole Earth Brands. Additionally, immediately after the Business Combination, the Company issued an aggregate of 7,500,000 shares of Whole Earth Brands common stock and
5,263,500 private placement warrants exercisable for 2,631,750 shares of Whole Earth Brands common stock to certain investors. On the date of Closing, the Company’s common
stock and warrants began trading on The Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbols “FREE” and “FREEW,” respectively.

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Whole Earth Brands, Inc., and its indirect and wholly owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications—Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all cash on hand, money market funds, and other highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity, when purchased, of
three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses—Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for credit
losses is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable losses in its existing accounts receivable based on historical and expected losses and current economic conditions.
Account balances are charged against the allowance when the Company believes it is probable the receivable will not be recovered. The Company does not have any off-balance
sheet credit exposure related to its customers. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously offset against the allowance are recorded in the consolidated statements of operations
when received.
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A summary of the activity with respect to the accounts receivable allowances is as follows (in thousands):

Accounts receivable allowance balance at December 31, 2020 $ 955 
2021 additions charged to revenues, costs and expenses 1,783 
2021 deductions and other (1,453)

Accounts receivable allowance balance at December 31, 2021 $ 1,285 
2022 additions charged to revenues, costs and expenses 2,711 
2022 deductions and other (2,382)

Accounts receivable allowance balance at December 31, 2022 $ 1,614 
2023 additions charged to revenues, costs and expenses 2,671 
2023 deductions and other (2,825)

Accounts receivable allowance balance at December 31, 2023 $ 1,460 

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. The cost of inventory is determined by the first in, first out or average cost methods.

Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Additions, improvements, and replacements that extend asset life are capitalized.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property, plant and equipment in
service currently ranges as follows: 3 to 40 years for buildings and 1 to 20 years for all other equipment.

When property and equipment are disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and any gains or losses are included in
income from operations. Ordinary repairs and maintenance costs are charged to operating expense as incurred.

Deferred Software Costs—Deferred implementation costs for hosted cloud computing service arrangements are stated at historical cost and amortized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the hosting arrangement that the implementation costs relate to. Deferred implementation costs are included in other assets and amortized to selling, general and
administrative expenses (“SG&A”). The corresponding cash flows related to deferred software costs will be reported within operating activities consistent with the treatment for
payments associated with the service component of the hosting arrangement. The Company reviews the deferred implementation costs for impairment when it believes the deferred
costs may no longer be recoverable. As of both December 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred software costs associated with cloud computing arrangements were $2.1 million. Costs of
$0.8 million were amortized during 2023. No costs were amortized during 2022 or 2021.

Leases—The Company accounts for leases pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 842, “Leases.” Under ASC Topic 842, a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability is recorded for all leases with a term greater than 12 months. Lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are initially recognized based on the present value of the
future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date calculated using our incremental borrowing rate applicable to the lease asset, unless the implicit rate is
readily determinable.

The Company’s leases include manufacturing facilities, office space, warehouses, material handling equipment, vehicles and office equipment. All of our leases are classified
as operating leases.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets—Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are summarized in Note 6. The Company reviews goodwill
and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired, in accordance
with ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other.” Under ASC Topic 350, the impairment review of goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization must
be based on estimated fair values.
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The Company’s annual impairment review measurement date is in the fourth quarter of each year. In performing the annual assessment, the Company has the option of
performing a qualitative assessment to determine if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit has been impaired. As part of the qualitative assessment for the reporting units, the
Company evaluates the factors that are specific to the reporting units as well as industry and macroeconomic factors (including changes in interest and discount rates). The
reporting unit specific factors may include cost factors, a comparison of current year results to prior year, current year budget and future projected financial performance. The
Company also considers the change in the overall enterprise value of the Company compared to the prior year.

If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that a reporting unit is impaired or if the Company elects not to perform the optional qualitative assessment, a
quantitative assessment is performed utilizing both the income and market approaches to estimate the fair value of its reporting units. The income approach involves discounting
future estimated cash flows. The discount rate used is the value-weighted average of the reporting unit’s estimated cost of equity and debt derived using both known and estimated
customary market metrics adjusted for company specific risks. The Company performs sensitivity tests with respect to growth rates and discount rates used in the income approach.
In applying the market approach, valuation multiples are derived from historical and projected operating data of selected guideline companies; evaluated and adjusted, if necessary,
based on the strengths and weaknesses of the reporting unit relative to the selected guideline companies; and applied to the appropriate historical and/or projected operating data to
arrive at an indication of fair value. The Company typically weights the results of the income and market approaches equally. If the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its
estimated fair value, then an impairment is recorded for the difference, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit.

The Company typically evaluates impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, which relates to our product formulations, by first performing a qualitative assessment. If the
Company elects to bypass the qualitative assessment or determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the product formulations is less than its carrying value, a
quantitative assessment is then performed using the relief from royalty method under the income approach to estimate the fair value. Some of the more significant assumptions
inherent in estimating the fair value include the estimated future annual sales, royalty rates (as a percentage of sales that would hypothetically be charged by a licensor of the brand
to an unrelated licensee), income tax considerations and a discount rate that reflects the level of risk.

Impairment Review of Long-Lived Assets—In accordance with ASC Topic 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment,” the Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived
assets to be held and used whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group may be impaired. When such events
occur, the Company compares the sum of the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated from the asset or asset group over its remaining depreciable life to the
carrying value. If this comparison indicates that there is an impairment, the carrying amount of the long-lived asset would then be reduced to the estimated fair value, which
generally approximates discounted cash flows. The Company also evaluates the amortization periods of assets to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised
estimates of useful lives. The Company’s applicable long-lived assets include its property, plant and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and definite-lived intangible
assets.

Derivative Instruments—The Company’s earnings and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in interest rates. The Company uses derivative financial
instruments, including interest rate swaps, to manage interest rate exposures and hedge the variability of interest payments on future debt obligations. The Company does not use
derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
hedge transactions. This process includes linking the derivatives designated as cash flow hedges to specific forecasted transactions or variability of cash flows. The Company also
formally assesses, both at the inception of a hedge transaction and on an ongoing basis, whether the designated derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged items as well as monitors the credit worthiness of the counterparties to ensure no issues exist which would affect the value of the
derivatives. When a derivative is determined not to be highly effective as a hedge or the underlying hedged transaction is no longer probable, the Company discontinues hedge
accounting prospectively and reclassifies any hedge related gains or losses previously recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) to other (expense) income within the
statement of operations.
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To the extent the hedge is effective, the Company records derivative financial instruments at fair value in its consolidated balance sheet and changes in the fair value are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified to earnings when the hedged item affects earnings. Cash flows from derivative instruments are
classified in the consolidated statements of cash flows based on the nature of the derivative contract. Additional information pertaining to the Company’s derivative instruments is
provided in Note 9.

Income Taxes—The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC Topic 740, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The
asset and liability method provides that deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is
believed more likely than not to be realized.

The Company made a policy election to treat the income tax due on United States (“U.S.”) inclusion of the global intangible low taxed income (“GILTI”) provisions as a period
expense when incurred.

Uncertainty in Income Taxes—The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the authoritative guidance issued under ASC Topic 740, which
addresses the determination of whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. The Company may recognize
the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical
merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such position should be measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company provides loss contingencies for federal, state and international tax matters relating to potential tax examination
issues, planning initiatives and compliance responsibilities. The development of these reserves requires judgements about tax issues, potential outcomes and timing, which if
different, may materially impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with income taxes as a
component of provision (benefit) for income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations.

Pension Plans—The Company has defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution 401(k) plans, which cover certain current and former employees of the Company
who meet eligibility requirements. Benefits for the defined benefit pension plans are based on years of service and, in some cases, the employee’s compensation. Participation was
frozen to all employees hired on or after August 1, 2017. The Company’s policy is to contribute annually the amount required pursuant to the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act. The Company froze the qualified pension plan for all participants on December 31, 2019 and froze the non-qualified pension plans on December 31, 2022. The
Company terminated the qualified pension plan in 2022 and settled the pension obligations through lump sum payments in 2021 and the purchase of non-participating annuity
contracts in 2022 to settle the remaining liabilities of the plan. Certain subsidiaries of the Company outside the U.S. have retirement plans that provide certain payments upon
retirement. The Company recognizes in its balance sheet the funded status of its defined benefit pension plans, measured as the difference between the fair value of the plan assets
and the benefit obligation and recognizes changes in the funded status of the defined benefit pension plans as accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, within accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) to the extent such changes are not recognized in earnings as components of periodic net benefit cost (see Note 12). These amounts are
subsequently amortized within other (expense) income in future periods using the corridor approach. The corridor is 10% of the greater of the market-related value of the plan’s
assets or projected benefit obligation. Any actuarial gains and losses in excess of the corridor are then amortized over an appropriate term.

Research and Development Costs—The Company expenses costs as incurred for product research and development within SG&A. Research and development expenses were
approximately $3.8 million for 2023, $3.9 million for 2022, and $3.4 million for 2021.

Stock-Based Compensation—In accordance with ASC Topic 718, “Compensation—Stock Compensation,” the Company recognizes stock-based compensation cost in its
consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date for equity-classified awards and at the end of each reporting period for liability-
classified awards based on the estimated fair value of the awards. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period. Additional information pertaining to the Company’s stock-based compensation is provided in Note 13.
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Revenue Recognition—In accordance with ASC Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” the Company recognizes revenue when control of the promised goods
or services is transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Revenues are
primarily derived from customer orders for the purchase of products and are generally recognized when the product is shipped or delivered depending on the arrangement with the
customer. The Company made an accounting policy election to exclude from the measurement of the transaction price sales taxes and all other items of a similar nature, and also
elected to account for shipping and handling activities as a fulfillment of the promise to transfer the goods. Accordingly, shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

Branded CPG may offer promotional activities (e.g. coupons, trade discounts and other promotional activities) to its customers. These variable consideration amounts are
estimated for each customer based on specific arrangements/agreements, an analysis of historical volume, and/or current activity with that customer. Reassessment of variable
consideration estimates is done at each reporting date throughout the contract period until the uncertainty is resolved (e.g. promotional campaign is closed and settled with
customer).

Historically, the Company has encountered limited instances whereby customers rejected products as a result of orders being materially inaccurate and/or products being
defective. The Company tracks the reason codes for those customer returns. Based on that, the materiality of such returns is assessed. A return reserve is calculated (based on
historical data as described above) every month to record an adjustment to net sales; these adjustments have not been significant.

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by product categories (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Sweeteners and adjacencies $ 426,287 $ 422,638 $ 389,174 
Licorice products 124,626 115,634 104,799 

Total product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 

The following table presents revenues disaggregated by business and geographic region (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Branded CPG:
North America $ 305,849 $ 299,871 $ 266,661 
Europe 70,405 67,962 76,392 
India, Middle East and Africa 13,854 17,828 13,363 
Asia-Pacific 21,436 22,371 20,787 
Latin America 14,743 14,606 11,971 

Flavors & Ingredients 124,626 115,634 104,799 

Total product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 

The Company records an allowance for credit losses as an estimate of the inability of its customers to make their required payments. The determination of the allowance
requires the Company to make assumptions about the future ability to collect amounts owed from customers.

Marketing, Advertising, Consumer Incentives and Trade Promotions—The Company promotes its products with marketing activities, including advertising, consumer
incentives and trade promotions. On an annual basis, advertising costs are expensed as incurred or in the year in which the related advertisement initially appears. Marketing and
advertising expense was $12.0 million in 2023, $11.8 million in 2022, $17.0 million in 2021.

Consumer incentive and trade promotion activities are deducted from revenue based on amounts estimated as being or becoming due to customers and consumers at the end of
a period, based principally on the Company’s historical utilization and redemption rates. These deductions are estimated and recorded upon sale of product by the Company and
revised as necessary at each period end.
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Fair Value Measurements—The Company measures fair value using a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers
include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of
the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the asset or liability.

Major Customers and Credit Concentration—The Company sells products to customers in the U.S. and internationally. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations
of customers, and generally does not require collateral on trade accounts receivable. Allowances are maintained for potential credit losses and such losses have been within
management’s expectations.

Foreign Currency Translation—The Company has determined that the functional currency for each combined subsidiary is its local currency, except for certain entities
whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets and liabilities of entities outside the U.S. are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the end of each period
and income statement accounts are translated at each period’s average exchange rate. Translation adjustments arising from the use of differing exchange rates from period to period
are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the balance sheet, except for any entities which may operate in highly inflationary economies.
Gains and losses resulting from transactions in other than functional currencies are reflected in operating results, except for transactions of a long-term nature.

Remeasurements of European entities whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar as well as translation adjustments for entities operating in highly inflationary economies and
impacts of foreign currency transactions are recognized currently in other income (expense), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company had
foreign exchange losses, net of $3.3 million in 2023, foreign exchange gains, net of $0.1 million in 2022, and foreign exchange losses of $0.2 million in 2021.

Beginning January 1, 2019, the Company was required to apply highly-inflationary accounting to its Argentinian subsidiary. This accounting treatment requires a change in the
subsidiary’s functional currency from the local currency (Argentinian Peso) to the parent’s reporting currency (USD). This highly-inflationary classification results from the fact
that the cumulative inflation rate for the preceding 3 year period exceeded 100 percent as of June 30, 2018. Accordingly, effective January 1, 2019, all Argentinian Peso
denominated monetary assets and liabilities are considered foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and are revalued to USD (the functional currency) with
remeasurement adjustments in the period recorded in the statement of operations. The USD will be the functional currency until the economic environment in Argentina ceases to be
considered highly-inflationary. The Company recorded $1.8 million of expense related to remeasurement adjustments for Argentina in the consolidated statements of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2023, $1.2 million of expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 and $0.3 million of expense for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Restructuring and other expenses—In previous years the Company adopted restructuring plans to streamline processes and realize cost savings by consolidating facilities
and eliminating various positions in operations and general and administrative areas.

In connection with the restructuring plans, the Company recognized restructuring and other expenses of $4.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2021. This included
facility exit and other related costs of $3.9 million and employee termination benefits of $0.6 million in 2021. The Company had no accrued severance expense related to the
restructuring plans as of both December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Termination benefits are payable when an employee is involuntarily terminated, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary termination in exchange for termination benefits.
One-time involuntary termination benefits are recognized as a liability when the termination plan meets certain criteria and has been communicated to employees. If employees are
required to render future service in order to receive these one-time termination benefits, the liability is recognized ratably over the future service period.
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Warrant Liabilities—The Company accounts for the Private Warrants in accordance with ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging.” Under the guidance contained in ASC
Topic 815-40, the Private Warrants do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. Accordingly, the Company classifies the Private Warrants as
liabilities at their fair value and adjusts the warrants to fair value at each reporting period. The liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date, and any change in
fair value is recognized in the Company’s statement of operations.

Based on the views expressed in the SEC’s Staff Statement of April 12, 2021 in which the SEC staff clarified its interpretations of certain generally accepted accounting
principles related to certain terms common in warrants issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”), the Company determined that the Private Warrants should be
treated as derivative liabilities rather than as components of equity, as previously presented as of December 31, 2020. Accordingly, the Company recorded out of period
adjustments at January 1, 2021 to reclassify warrant liabilities of $8.1 million and transaction costs incurred by Act II of $1.1 million related to the issuance of the Private Warrants.
Additionally, during the first quarter of 2021, the Company recognized the cumulative effect of the error on prior periods by recording a $1.2 million gain in the Statement of
Operations to reflect the cumulative decrease in the fair value of the Private Warrants from the date of issuance through December 31, 2020. The Company concluded that this
misstatement was not material to the previously filed financial statements.

Accounting Standards Adopted in the Current Year—The Company qualifies as an emerging growth company (an “EGC”) and as such, has elected the extended transition
period for complying with certain new or revised accounting pronouncements. During the extended transition period, the Company is not subject to certain new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public companies. The accounting pronouncements pending adoption below reflect effective dates for the Company as an EGC with the extended
transition period.

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic
326).” The standard requires entities to estimate losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost, including trade receivables, debt securities and loans, using an expected credit
loss model. The expected credit loss model should consider reasonable and supportable forecasts in addition to the previously considered past events and current conditions. This
guidance also includes enhanced requirements for disclosures related to credit loss estimates. Entities must apply the standard provision as a cumulative-effect adjustment to
retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company adopted this standard on January 1, 2023. The adoption of this
standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures and a cumulative-effect adjustment was not deemed necessary.

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted—In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures”. The standard expands segment disclosure requirements for reportable segments, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07 on its consolidated financial statement disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures”. The standard requires enhanced disclosures and
greater disaggregation of information related to the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-09 on its consolidated financial statement disclosures.

NOTE 2: ACQUISITIONS

On December 17, 2020, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Wholesome Purchase Agreement”) with WSO Investments, Inc. (“WSO Investments” and
together with its subsidiaries “Wholesome” and affiliates). WSO Investments is the direct parent of its wholly-owned subsidiary Wholesome Sweeteners, Incorporated, which was
formed to import, market, distribute, and sell organic sugars, unrefined specialty sugars, and related products. Wholesome is included within the Company’s Branded CPG
reportable segment. Wholesome’s results are included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition.
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On February 5, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Wholesome Purchase Agreement, the Company purchased and acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital
stock for an initial cash purchase price of $180 million plus up to an additional $55 million (the “Earn-Out Amount”) upon the satisfaction of certain post-closing financial metrics.
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Wholesome Purchase Agreement payment of the Earn-Out Amount, in whole or in part, was subject to Wholesome achieving certain
EBITDA thresholds at or above approximately $30 million during the period beginning August 29, 2020, and ending December 31, 2021 (the “Earn-Out Period”). A portion of the
Earn-Out Amount (up to $27.5 million) could be paid, at the Company’s election, in freely tradeable, registered shares of Company common stock calculated using the 20-day
volume weighted average trading price per share as of the date of determination. Calculation of the achievement of the Earn-Out Amount is subject to certain adjustments more
thoroughly described in the Wholesome Purchase Agreement. In connection with the acquisition of Wholesome, the Company incurred transaction-related costs of $0.2 million and
$4.7 million in the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Following the completion of the Earn-Out Period, the Company determined, in accordance with the terms of the Purchase Agreement, that the sellers were entitled to receive
the Earn-Out Amount in full. The Company elected to satisfy part of the Earn-Out Amount in common stock and on February 23, 2022, issued 2,659,574 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The remaining $30 million portion of the $55 million Earn-Out Amount was paid in cash which was funded from available capacity under the Company’s revolving
credit facility. The settlement of the earn-out resulted in a non-cash gain of $1.1 million that was recorded in the first quarter of 2022 which represents the difference in value of the
common stock issued using the 20-day volume weighted average trading price per share as compared to the trading price on the date of issuance.

The following summarizes the purchase consideration (in thousands):

Base cash consideration $ 180,000 
Closing adjustment 13,863 
Fair value of Earn-Out Amount 52,395 

Total Purchase Price $ 246,258 

The Company recorded the fair value of the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,664 
Accounts receivable 15,868 
Inventories 76,879 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,322 
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,134 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 7,585 
Intangible assets 104,500 
Other assets 1,189 
Total assets acquired 213,141 
Accounts payable 5,251 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 10,576 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 1,435 
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 6,150 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 24,234 
Total liabilities assumed 47,646 
Net assets acquired 165,495 
Goodwill 80,763 

Total Purchase Price $ 246,258 
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The values allocated to identifiable intangible assets and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Identifiable intangible assets
Fair Value

(in thousands)
Useful Life
(in years)

Customer relationships $ 55,700 10
Tradenames 48,800 25

$ 104,500 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed and
represents the future economic benefits expected to arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for separate recognition, including assembled workforce and
expected future market opportunities. Of the purchase price allocated to goodwill, a total of $4.7 million will be deductible for income tax purposes pursuant to IRC Section 197
over a 9-year period.

The Company’s allocation of purchase price was based upon valuations performed to determine the fair value of the net assets as of the acquisition date and is subject to
adjustments for up to one year after the closing date of the acquisition to reflect final valuations. The allocation of purchase price was finalized in the first quarter of 2022.

In 2021, the Company recorded measurement period adjustments to its initial allocation of purchase price as a result of ongoing valuation procedures on assets and liabilities
assumed, including (i) an increase in purchase price of $3.6 million due to the finalization of the closing adjustment; (ii) a decrease to inventory of $1.8 million; (iii) an increase in
prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.5 million; (iv) an increase in property, plant and equipment of $0.4 million; (v) a decrease to intangible assets of $1.9 million; (vi) a
decrease to other assets of $0.1 million; (vii) a decrease to accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.7 million; (viii) a decrease to deferred tax liabilities, net of
$2.8 million; and (ix) an increase to goodwill of $1.0 million due to the incremental measurement period adjustments discussed in items (i) through (viii). The impact of
measurement period adjustments to the results of operations was immaterial.

The results of the Company’s operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes the results of Wholesome since February 5, 2021. Product revenues, net and operating
income of Wholesome included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 were $179.6 million and $20.6 million, respectively.

Pro Forma Financial Information—The following unaudited pro forma financial information summarizes the results of operations for the Company as though the Business
Combination and the acquisition of Swerve, L.L.C. (“Swerve LLC”), and Swerve IP, L.L.C. (“Swerve IP” and together with Swerve LLC, “Swerve”) on November 10, 2020 had
occurred on January 1, 2019 and the Wholesome acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2020 (in thousands):

Pro Forma
Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Revenue $ 514,353 
Net income $ 14,082 

The unaudited pro forma financial information does not assume any impacts from revenue, cost or other operating synergies that could be generated as a result of the
acquisitions. The unaudited pro forma financial information is for informational purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved had
the Business Combination and Swerve acquisitions been consummated on January 1, 2019 and the Wholesome acquisition been consummated on January 1, 2020.
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The pro forma financial information includes adjustments to reflect intangible asset amortization based on the economic values derived from definite-lived intangible assets,
interest expense on the new debt financing, depreciation expense for certain property, plant and equipment that have been adjusted to fair value, and the release of the inventory fair
value adjustments into cost of goods sold. These adjustments are net of taxes. The results of the Company’s operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 include
Wholesome for the entire period and therefore pro forma financial information is not required.

NOTE 3: LEASES

The Company’s lease portfolio includes factory buildings, office space, warehouses, material handling equipment, vehicles and office equipment. The Company subleases
some of its unused office space to third parties. All leases are classified as operating leases.

Certain leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one to five years or more. The exercise of lease renewal options is
at the Company’s sole discretion. For purposes of calculating operating lease liabilities, lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option.

Lease liabilities and their corresponding right-of-use assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term. The interest rate implicit in
lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As such, the Company utilizes the appropriate incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a
collateralized basis over a similar term at an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees. Some leases include variable payments that are based on the usage and occupancy of the leased
asset. The Company has elected not to record leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on the balance sheet.

For real estate and vehicle leases, the Company elected the practical expedient to not separate lease from non-lease components within the contract. Electing this practical
expedient means the Company accounts for each lease component and the related non-lease component together as a single component. For equipment leases, the Company has not
elected this practical expedient and separates the non-lease components from the lease component.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured throughout the lease term at the carrying amount of the lease liability. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Operating lease expense $ 9,221 $ 8,370 $ 5,658 
Variable lease expense 1,645 1,634 1,022 
Short-term lease expense 1,717 711 988 
Sublease income (403) (326) (508)

Total $ 12,180 $ 10,389 $ 7,160 
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The following table presents the future maturities of the Company’s lease obligations as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

2024 $ 8,215 
2025 5,456 
2026 3,192 
2027 2,802 
2028 2,380 
Thereafter 2,778 
Total lease payments 24,823 
Less: imputed interest (3,117)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 21,706 

The weighted-average remaining lease term was 4.2 years and the weighted-average discount rate was 5.99% as of December 31, 2023. The weighted-average remaining lease
term was 3.0 years and the weighted-average discount rate was 4.19% as of December 31, 2022.

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of the lease liability was $10.2 million, $8.9 million and $5.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively. Right-of -use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities was $10.2 million, $0.7 million and $12.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

NOTE 4: INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Raw materials and supplies $ 125,421 $ 129,131 
Work in process 1,505 1,835 
Finished goods 82,345 88,009 

Total inventories $ 209,271 $ 218,975 

NOTE 5: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Machinery, equipment and other $ 42,276 $ 39,695 
Buildings and improvements 22,431 21,565 

64,707 61,260 
Accumulated depreciation (16,169) (11,410)

48,538 49,850 
Land 5,930 5,951 
Construction in progress 469 2,291 

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 54,937 $ 58,092 
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NOTE 6: GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and other intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Gross
Accumulated
Amortization Net Gross

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Other intangible assets subject to
amortization

Customer relationships (useful life of 5 to 10
years) $ 105,616 $ (38,074) $ 67,542 $ 105,298 $ (26,137) $ 79,161 

Tradenames (useful life of 25 years) 174,495 (22,801) 151,694 171,013 (15,498) 155,515 

Total $ 280,111 $ (60,875) $ 219,236 $ 276,311 $ (41,635) $ 234,676 
Other intangible assets not subject to

amortization
Product formulations 10,700 10,700 
Total other intangible assets, net 229,936 245,376 
Goodwill 193,610 193,139 

Total goodwill and other intangible assets $ 423,546 $ 438,515 

The Company amortizes its intangible assets subject to amortization on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives. The remaining intangible assets subject to
amortization as of December 31, 2023 have a weighted-average remaining useful life of approximately 17.0 years, including weighted-average remaining useful lives of
approximately 6.3 years for customer relationships and approximately 21.8 years for tradenames. Amortization expense for intangible assets was $18.7 million, $18.6 million and
$18.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

Amortization expense relating to amortizable intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 for the next five years is expected to be as follows (in thousands):

2024 $ 18,704 
2025 18,460 
2026 18,229 
2027 17,015 
2028 15,024 
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The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

Branded CPG Flavors & Ingredients Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 238,857 $ 3,804 $ 242,661 

Currency translation adjustment (2,870) (152) (3,022)
Gross balance at December 31, 2022 $ 235,987 $ 3,652 $ 239,639 

Accumulated impairment loss at December 31, 2022 (46,500) — (46,500)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 189,487 $ 3,652 $ 193,139 

Impairment (7,230) — (7,230)
Currency translation adjustment 7,695 6 7,701 

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 189,952 $ 3,658 $ 193,610 

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets—As disclosed in Note 1, the Company reviews goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets
for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired, in accordance with ASC Topic 350.

The Company performs its annual impairment procedures for all of its reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fourth quarter of each year. In 2023 and
2022, the Company performed a quantitative impairment test and estimated the fair values of the reporting units utilizing both the income and market approach to determine the fair
values of the Company’s reporting units.

As a result of the 2023 impairment test, the Company determined that the carrying value of the IMEA reporting unit within the Branded CPG segment exceeded fair value and
as a result, the Company recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $7.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2023. The impairment was primarily due to current macroeconomic
conditions, including rising interest rates and higher supply chain costs and other inflationary pressures, which contributed to lower earnings forecasts for the reporting unit. The
income approach incorporated estimated future cash flows and a terminal value discounted to present value using an appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate. The estimated future
cash flows reflected management’s best estimate of economic and market conditions over the projected period including forecasted revenue, gross margins, tax rates, capital
expenditures, depreciation and amortization, changes in working capital requirements and terminal growth rates. The market approach estimated the fair value of the IMEA
reporting unit using Company specific and guideline company valuation metrics and was equally weighted with the income approach to determine the fair value of the IMEA
reporting unit. After the impairment, the goodwill carrying amount of the IMEA reporting unit was $0 million.

As a result of the 2022 impairment test, the Company determined that the carrying values of the North America and LATAM reporting units within the Branded CPG segment
exceeded their respective fair values and as a result, the Company recognized a non-cash impairment charge of $46.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2022, which included $42.5
million related to the North America reporting unit and $4.0 million related to the LATAM reporting unit. The impairment was primarily due to current macroeconomic conditions,
including rising interest rates and continued currency devaluation in LATAM, and higher supply chain costs and other inflationary pressures which contributed to lower earnings
forecasts for our North America and LATAM reporting units. The income approach incorporated estimated future cash flows and a terminal value discounted to present value using
an appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate. The estimated future cash flows reflected management’s best estimate of economic and market conditions over the projected period
including forecasted revenue, gross margins, tax rates, capital expenditures, depreciation and amortization, changes in working capital requirements and terminal growth rates. The
market approach estimated the fair value of the North America reporting unit using Company specific and guideline company valuation metrics and was equally weighted with the
income approach to determine the fair value of the North America reporting unit. The Company used the income approach to determine the fair value of the LATAM reporting unit.
After the impairments, the goodwill carrying amount of the North America and LATAM reporting units was approximately $80.5 million and $0 million, respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company performed a quantitative impairment test and concluded that the fair values for all of its reporting units exceeded their respective
carrying values and therefore, there was no impairment.
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NOTE 7: DEBT

Debt consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Term loan, due 2028 $ 364,688 $ 368,438 
Revolving credit facility, due 2026 64,000 76,000 
Less: current portion (3,750) (3,750)
Less: unamortized discount and debt issuance costs (7,009) (8,516)

Total long-term debt $ 417,929 $ 432,172 

Maturities—The Company’s debt and other obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2023 mature as shown below (in thousands):

2024 $ 3,750 
2025 3,750 
2026 67,750 
2027 3,750 
2028 349,688 
Thereafter — 
Total debt 428,688 
Unamortized discounts (7,009)

Total debt, net of unamortized discounts $ 421,679 

Loan Agreement—At December 31, 2023, the Company’s senior secured loan agreement consisted of a senior secured term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) of
$375 million and a revolving credit facility of up to $125 million (the “Revolving Facility,” and together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”).

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, term loan borrowings were $357.7 million and $359.9 million, respectively, net of unamortized discount and debt issuance
costs of $7.0 million and $8.5 million, respectively. There were $64.0 million and $76.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively. Additionally, as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s unamortized debt issuance costs related to the revolving credit
facility were $1.7 million and $2.0 million, respectively, which are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
there were $3.3 million and $2.1 million, respectively, of outstanding letters of credit that reduced the Company’s availability under the revolving credit facility.

In connection with the closing of the Wholesome Transaction, on February 5, 2021, further discussed in Note 2, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an
amendment and restatement agreement (the “Amended and Restated Agreement”) with Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, which amended and restated its existing senior secured
loan agreement dated as of June 25, 2020 (as amended on September 4, 2020, the “Existing Credit Agreement,” and as further amended by the Amendment Agreement, the
“Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), by and among Toronto Dominion (Texas), LLC, as administrative agent, certain lenders signatory thereto and certain other parties. As
of the date of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the aggregate unamortized debt issuance costs totaled $6.2 million, of which $4.4 million was expensed as a loss on
extinguishment of debt in the first quarter of 2021. Additionally, in connection with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Company paid fees to certain lenders of
$3.8 million, which was considered a debt discount, all of which was deferred, and incurred transaction costs of $8.9 million, of which $7.8 million was deferred and $1.1 million
was expensed as part of loss on extinguishment and debt transaction costs in the first quarter of 2021.

As further described in Note 2, following the completion of the Wholesome Earn-Out Period, the Company determined, in accordance with the terms of the Purchase
Agreement, that the sellers were entitled to receive the Earn-Out Amount in full. The Company elected to satisfy part of the Earn-Out Amount in common stock and on February 23,
2022, issued 2,659,574 shares of the Company’s common stock. The remaining $30 million portion of the $55 million Earn-Out Amount was paid in cash which was funded from
available capacity under the Company’s revolving credit facility.
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On June 15, 2022, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a first amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Agreement dated as of
February 5, 2021. The Amendment increased the aggregate principal amount of the Revolving Credit Facility from $75 million to $125 million (the “Amended Revolving Credit
Facility”) and transitioned from LIBOR to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as the benchmark for purposes of calculating interest for all loans outstanding under the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. At the election of the Company, loans outstanding under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement will accrue interest at a rate per
annum equal to (i) term SOFR plus 0.10%, 0.15%, or 0.25% in case of, respectively, a one-month, three-month, or six-month interest period (“Adjusted Term SOFR”), or (ii) the
greater of the prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and one-month Adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00%, in each case plus the applicable margin which is equal to (i)
with respect to the Amended Revolving Credit Facility and letters of credit, (A) 2.75%, in the case of base rate advances, and (B) 3.75% in the case of SOFR advances, and (ii) with
respect to the Term Loan Facility, (A) 3.50%, in the case of base rate advances, and (B) 4.50% in the case of SOFR advances, with a SOFR floor of 1.00%. In connection with the
Amendment, the Company paid fees and incurred transactions costs of $0.7 million, all of which was deferred. The transition to SOFR did not materially impact the interest rates
applied to the Company’s borrowings. No other material changes were made to the terms of the Company’s Amended and Restated Agreement as a result of the Amendment.

On April 24, 2023, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a second amendment (the “Second Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement.
The Second Amendment changed the maximum consolidated total leverage ratio covenant as follows: (i) the consolidated total leverage ratio temporarily increased by 0.25 turns for
the first quarter of 2023, 0.5 turns on a quarterly basis through the fourth quarter of 2023, and 0.25 turns in the first quarter of 2024; and (ii) beginning in the second quarter of 2024,
the consolidated total leverage ratio will return to a level not to exceed 5.5x. No other material changes were made in terms of the Company’s Amended and Restated Agreement as
a result of the Second Amendment.

On October 5, 2023, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a third amendment (the “Third Amendment”) to the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement. The
Third Amendment revised a clause in the definition of consolidated EBITDA used for determining compliance with financial covenants effective beginning with the second quarter
of 2023 through the first quarter of 2024. The amendment did not impact the calculation of consolidated EBITDA previously determined for the second quarter of 2023.

The obligations under the Credit Facilities are guaranteed by certain direct or indirect wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries of the Company, other than certain excluded
subsidiaries, including, but not limited to, immaterial subsidiaries and foreign subsidiaries. The Credit Facilities are secured by substantially all of the personal property of the
Company and the guarantor subsidiaries (in each case, subject to certain exclusions and qualifications).

The Credit Facilities require the Company to make certain mandatory prepayments, with (i) 100% of net cash proceeds of all non-ordinary course asset sales or other
dispositions of property in excess of $5 million in any fiscal year, subject to the ability to reinvest such proceeds and certain other exceptions, (ii) 100% of the net cash proceeds of
any debt incurrence, other than debt permitted under the definitive agreements (but excluding debt incurred to refinance the Credit Facilities) and (iii) 50% of “Excess Cash Flow,”
as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, with a reduction to 25% if the total net leverage ratio for the fiscal year is less than or equal to 3.50 to 1.00 but greater
than 3.00 to 1.00, and a reduction to 0% if the total net leverage ratio for the fiscal year is less than or equal to 3.00 to 1.00. The Company also is required to make quarterly
amortization payments equal to 0.25% per annum of the original principal amount of the Term Loan Facility (subject to reductions by optional and mandatory prepayments of the
loans).

NOTE 8: WARRANTS

As of the date of the Business Combination, the Company had approximately 20,263,500 warrants outstanding, consisting of (i) 15,000,000 public warrants originally sold as
part of the units issued in Act II’s initial public offering (the “Public Warrants”) and (ii) 5,263,500 Private Warrants that were sold by Act II to the PIPE Investors in conjunction
with the Business Combination (collectively with the Public Warrants, the “Warrants”). Each warrant is exercisable for one-half of one share of the Company’s common stock at a
price of $11.50 per whole share, subject to adjustment. Warrants may only be exercised for a whole number of shares as no fractional shares will be issued. As of December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had 20,193,120 and 19,491,320 Public Warrants outstanding, respectively, and 70,180 and 771,980 Private Warrants outstanding,
respectively.
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The exercise price and number of ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a share dividend,
extraordinary dividend or recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation. If the number of shares of common stock purchasable upon the exercise of the Warrants is
adjusted, the Warrant price shall be adjusted proportionally. In no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the Warrants. Additionally, the Warrants became
exercisable as of July 27, 2020 and expire five years from the date of the Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

There were no Warrants exercised for shares of the Company’s common stock in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Public Warrants—The Public Warrants are subject to redemption by the Company:

• in whole and not in part;
• at a price of $0.01 per public warrant;
• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and
• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the ordinary shares for any 20 trading days within a 30-day trading period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on

which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders equals or exceeds $18 per share (as adjusted).

The Company may not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the ordinary shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those ordinary shares is available throughout the 30-day redemption period. If any such
registration statement does not remain effective after closing of the Business Combination, the Company has the right to redeem the warrants on a “cashless” exercise basis. The
public warrant holders only have the right to exercise their warrants pursuant to a “cashless” exercise if the Company does not maintain an effective registration statement.

Private Warrants—The Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that so long as they are held by the PIPE Investors or any permitted transferees, as
applicable, the Private Warrants: (i) may be exercised for cash or on a cashless basis, (ii) were not allowed to be transferred, assigned or sold until thirty (30) days after the closing
of the Business Combination, and (iii) shall not be redeemable by the Company. Upon the transfer of a Private Warrant to a party other than a PIPE Investor or a permitted
transferee, the Private Warrants become Public Warrants and the fair market value of the Private Warrants at the date of transfer is reclassified to equity. See Note 1 for additional
discussion.

NOTE 9: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company measures and records in its consolidated financial statements certain assets and liabilities at fair value. ASC Topic 820 “Fair Value Measurement and
Disclosures,” establishes a fair value hierarchy for instruments measured at fair value that distinguishes between assumptions based on market data (observable inputs) and the
Company’s own assumptions (unobservable inputs). This hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

• Level 1 – Assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market.

• Level 2 – Assets and liabilities whose values are based on inputs other than those included in Level 1, including quoted market prices in markets that are not active; quoted
prices of assets or liabilities with similar attributes in active markets; or valuation models whose inputs are observable or unobservable but corroborated by market data.

• Level 3 – Assets and liabilities whose values are based on valuation models or pricing techniques that utilize unobservable inputs that are significant to the overall fair value
measurement.

Certain assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value
adjustments in certain circumstances (for example, when there is evidence of impairment).

Current Assets and Other Financial Assets and Liabilities—Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable are measured at carrying value,
which approximates fair value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments. Certain of the Company’s cash equivalents are held in money market funds and are valued
using Net Asset Value.
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Investment in Securities—The Company has assets in an investment fund that holds surplus funds from its terminated qualified pension plan that will be used to fund future
contributions to the defined contribution plan at Flavors & Ingredients and is presented in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The investment is classified as available-
for-sale and carried at fair market value. At December 31, 2023, both the estimated fair value and cost basis of the investment fund was $2.2 million. At December 31, 2022, both
the estimated fair value and cost basis of the investment fund was $0.1 million. The estimated fair value of the investment fund utilized Level 2 inputs.

Debt—The Company measures its term loan and revolving facilities at original carrying value, net of unamortized deferred financing costs and fees. At December 31, 2023,
the estimated fair value of the term loan was $317.3 million as compared to a carrying value of $357.7 million. At December 31, 2022, the estimated fair value of the term loan was
$338.0 million compared to a carrying value of $359.9 million. The estimated fair value of the outstanding principal balance of the term loan utilized Level 2 inputs as it is based on
quoted market prices for identical or similar instruments. The fair value of the revolving facility at both December 31, 2023 and 2022 approximated carrying value.

On June 9, 2023, the Company entered into an interest rate swap with a notional value of $183.3 million that matures on February 5, 2026 to exchange variable for fixed rate
interest payments related to the Term Loan Facility. The effective date of the interest rate swap was June 30, 2023. The interest rate swap is designated as a cash flow hedge and is
considered highly effective. As a result, no ineffectiveness has been recognized in the consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2023. As of
December 31, 2023, the fair value of the interest rate swap was recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in the amount of
approximately $1.0 million with the unrealized loss recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). The change in fair value will subsequently be reclassified from other
comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense, net in the periods when the hedge transaction affects earnings. Realized gains, net of tax of $0.7 million were reclassified to net
income during the year ended December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the Company expects approximately $0.8 million of unrealized gain to be reclassified from other
comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense, net over the next twelve months. The interest rate swap fair value is considered Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy as it
includes quoted market prices for similar instruments as well as interest rates and yield curves that are observable in the market.

NOTE 10: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to various claims, pending and possible legal actions for product liability and other damages, and other matters arising out of the conduct of the
business. The Company believes, based on current knowledge and consultation with counsel, that the outcome of such claims and actions will not have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had obligations to purchase approximately $80.5 million and $3.8 million of raw material during 2024 and 2025, respectively. In
addition, the Company had commitments under purchase obligations related to market data research and technology services totaling approximately $3.7 million, of which $2.5
million was short-term and $1.2 million was long-term.

NOTE 11: INCOME TAXES

The Company’s provision for income taxes consists of U.S. federal, state and local, and foreign taxes. The Company has significant operations in various locations outside the
U.S. The annual effective tax rate is a composite rate reflecting the earnings in the various locations at their applicable statutory tax rates.

On October 8, 2021 the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development “OECD”) released a statement on the OECD/G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion
and Profit Sharing, which agreed to a two-pillar solution to address tax challenges of the digital economy. On December 20, 2021, the OECD released Pillar Two model rules
defining a 15 percent global minimum tax rate for large multinational corporations with consolidated revenue above €750 million. The OECD continues to release additional
guidance and countries are implementing legislation with widespread adoption of the Pillar Two Framework expected by calendar year 2024. The Company continues to evaluate
the Pillar Two Framework and its potential impact on future periods, however based on the current proposed revenue thresholds, the Company does not expect to be subject to tax
changes associated with Pillar Two.
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Components of the income tax provision (benefit) were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Current:
Federal $ 1,912 $ (364) $ 916 
State and local 725 419 283 
Foreign 4,746 6,190 3,957 

7,383 6,245 5,156 
Deferred:

Federal (1,082) (2,944) (6,498)
State and local (70) (581) (2,801)
Foreign 98 3,069 (3,001)

(1,054) (456) (12,300)

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 6,329 $ 5,789 $ (7,144)

The following is a reconciliation of income tax provision (benefit) computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate to income tax provision (benefit) in the consolidated statements
of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

(Loss) income before income taxes:
Domestic $ (43,041) $ (86,952) $ (36,205)
Foreign 11,274 33,989 29,144 

Total (loss) income before income taxes $ (31,767) $ (52,963) $ (7,061)

Federal income tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
Federal income taxes $ (6,671) $ (11,122) $ (1,483)
State and local taxes (1,449) (1,666) (3,572)
Foreign rate differential (325) (545) (1,431)
Change in tax rates (5) 295 225 
Change in uncertain tax positions 9 6 (1,005)
Change in valuation allowance 12,480 4,588 2,657 
Goodwill impairment 1,531 9,765 — 
U.S. effects of international operations 3,263 5,603 3,041 
Tax credits (3,667) (3,250) (2,763)
Section 162(m) limitation 475 87 206 
Transaction costs — 31 385 
Stock-based compensation 929 422 502 
Switzerland tax ruling — — (4,057)
Foreign withholding taxes 128 1,043 350 
Other (369) 532 (199)

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 6,329 $ 5,789 $ (7,144)

Effective tax rate (19.9)% (10.9)% 101.2%
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Significant components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Accounts receivable $ 354 $ 441 
Accrued expenses 5,442 4,938 
Inventory 3,450 4,112 
Deferred rent 24 — 
Other assets 1,690 1,184 
Pension asset 2,466 2,320 
Hedging 275 — 
Capitalized research and development expense 979 445 
Lease accounting 5,695 5,458 
U.S. and foreign net operating losses 19,568 19,150 
Deferred interest expense 21,280 11,241 
Tax credits 1,028 887 
Total deferred tax assets 62,251 50,176 

Less valuation allowance (27,747) (16,592)
Net deferred tax assets $ 34,504 $ 33,584 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (6,714) (6,270)
Operating lease right-of-use asset (4,971) (4,621)
Intangible assets (43,477) (45,964)
Deferred rent — (63)
Unremitted earnings (2,447) (2,295)
Other liabilities (7,974) (6,417)
Total deferred tax liabilities (65,583) (65,630)

Net deferred tax liability $ (31,079) $ (32,046)

In assessing the recoverability of its deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, management considers whether it is more likely than not (more than 50%)
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation allowance, if needed, reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income prior to the expiration of any net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. The
Company evaluates all positive and negative evidence when determining the amount of the net deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to be realized. This evidence
includes, but is not limited to, prior earnings history, reversal of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and projected future taxable income. Significant weight is
given to positive and negative evidence that is objectively verifiable.

Based on the weight of available evidence, including the scheduling of existing taxable temporary differences into future taxable income, the Company determined that as of
December 31, 2023 its deferred tax assets were realizable on a more-likely-than not basis with the exception of certain U.S. federal and state interest carryforward deductions of
$12.8 million for which the tax deduction is generally restricted to 30% of future tax adjusted earnings before interest and taxes (“EBIT”), foreign tax credits of $1.0 million,
certain state net operating loss carry forwards of $10.4 million predominately related to Illinois, and $3.5 million of foreign net operating loss carry forwards in India, Luxembourg,
Mexico, China and Argentina. The Company’s valuation allowance during 2023 increased by approximately $11.2 million, of which $12.5 million was charged to income tax
expense in 2023 (as shown in the rate reconciliation table above), partially offset by foreign exchange translation adjustments.

The Company received a beneficial Switzerland tax ruling in 2021 permitting a step up in the tax basis of intangible assets. The Company will be able to amortize the intangible
assets over a 10-year period for Swiss tax purposes, resulting in future cash tax savings. The Company recognized a discrete tax benefit of $4.1 million in 2021 related to this
change.
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards and tax credits which will expire if not utilized, including: $123.7 million in Illinois state net
operating losses expiring between 2029 and 2043, $1.0 million of U.S. federal foreign tax credits expiring in 2030 through 2033, $86.8 million of federal deferred interest
carryforward under IRC Section 163(j) that can be carried forward indefinitely but is limited to 30% tax adjusted EBIT, $1.2 million of net operating losses in Mexico substantially
expiring in 2023 and through 2032, $9.8 million of net operating losses in Luxembourg substantially expiring in 2035 and through 2040, $1.1 million of net operating losses in India
expiring in 2024 through 2028, $0.4 million of net operating losses in China expiring in 2023 through 2026 and $1.6 million of net operating losses in Argentina expiring in 2027
through 2028.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had accrued future income taxes and withholding taxes for future remittances to its Switzerland and Hong Kong affiliates of
$2.4 million and $2.3 million, based on foreign earnings of $57.1 million and $56.1 million, respectively.

As of both December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had a liability for unrecognized tax positions of $0.1 million. As of December 31, 2023, the entire amount if
recognized, would reduce the Company’s effective tax rate. The Company records both accrued interest and penalties related to income tax matters in the provision for income taxes
in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions is not material. The Company does not
expect its unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the next 12 months.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s U.S. federal and state income tax periods are generally open to
examination for the tax years 2019 through 2023. The Company’s French, Argentina, Luxembourg and Swiss tax years 2018 through 2023 also remain open for examination. In
addition, open tax years related to the Company’s other foreign jurisdictions remain subject to examination but are not considered material.

NOTE 12: PENSION AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Certain current and former employees of the Company are covered under a funded qualified defined benefit retirement plan at Flavors & Ingredients which was frozen on
December 31, 2019. Plan provisions covering certain of the Company’s salaried employees generally provide pension benefits based on years of service and compensation. Plan
provisions covering certain of the Company’s union members generally provide stated benefits for each year of credited service. In addition, the Company has unfunded non-
qualified plans also at Flavors & Ingredients covering certain salaried employees with additional retirement benefits in excess of qualified plan limits imposed by federal tax law,
which were frozen by the Company on December 31, 2022. The Company uses December 31 as a measurement date for the plans. The Company’s funding policy was to contribute
annually the statutory required amount as actuarially determined.

In February 2021, the Compensation Committee approved the termination of the Company’s qualified defined benefit retirement plan. During the fourth quarter of 2021, the
Company offered the option of receiving a lump sum payment to certain participants with vested benefits in lieu of receiving monthly annuity payments. Approximately 125
participants elected to receive the settlement, and lump sum payments of approximately $16.8 million were paid from plan assets to these participants in December 2021. The
benefit obligation settled approximated payments to plan participants and a pre-tax settlement gain of $0.5 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2021. During 2022, the
Company purchased non-participating annuity contracts to settle the remaining liabilities of the plan for approximately $9.3 million which was fully funded by plan assets. The
annuity contracts purchased along with the plan termination activities resulted in a settlement gain of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. During the first quarter of
2023, the Company transferred the remaining surplus of the plan of approximately $2.5 million to a suspense account held within a trust for the Flavors & Ingredients defined
contribution plan. The surplus consists of an investment fund measured at fair value which is being used, as prescribed in the applicable regulations, to fund current and future
contributions to the defined contribution plan. See Note 9 for additional information.
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The following table reconciles the funded status of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Accumulated benefit obligations $ 7,941 $ 7,706 
Changes in projected benefit obligations:

Projected benefit obligations at beginning of year $ 7,706 $ 20,314 
Service cost — 41 
Interest cost 377 326 
Actuarial loss (gain) 208 (3,084)
Benefits paid (350) (9,891)
Projected benefit obligations at end of year 7,941 7,706 

Change in plans’ assets:
Fair value of plans’ assets at beginning of year 2,522 12,902 
Actual returns on plans’ assets 10 (349)
Employer contributions 350 360 
Benefits paid (419) (9,891)
Transfers related to plan termination (2,463) (500)
Fair value of plans’ assets at end of year — 2,522 

Net pension liability $ (7,941) $ (5,184)

The projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 included $7.9 million and $7.7 million, respectively, related to the Company’s unfunded non-
qualified plans.

Amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets consisted of (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Other assets $ — $ 2,522 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (355) (355)
Other liabilities (7,586) (7,351)

Net amount recognized $ (7,941) $ (5,184)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, which have not yet been recognized as a component of net periodic pension expense for the
Company’s defined benefit pension plans, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net actuarial gain $ (1,323) $ (1,523) $ (207)
$ (1,323) $ (1,523) $ (207)
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The components of the changes in unrecognized amounts included in pension obligation, net in other comprehensive income (loss) for the Company’s defined benefit pension
plans were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 152 $ (1,316) $ 527 
Amortization of actuarial gain (loss) 48 — (36)

Total loss (gain) recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) $ 200 $ (1,316) $ 491 

The components of net periodic benefit cost (credit) for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Service cost $ — $ 41 $ 63 
Interest cost 377 326 1,047 
Expected return on plan assets — 144 (1,310)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss (63) — 36 
Settlement loss (income) 59 (1,178) (644)

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $ 373 $ (667) $ (808)

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) is reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Selling, general and administrative expense $ — $ 41 $ 63 
Other expense (income), net 373 (708) (871)

Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $ 373 $ (667) $ (808)

Assumptions—The following assumptions were used to determine the net periodic benefit cost during 2022 for the Company’s funded defined benefit pension plan:

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:

Discount rate 2.38 %
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1.70 %
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The following assumptions were used to determine the benefit obligation at year end and net periodic benefit cost during the year for the Company’s unfunded supplemental
defined benefit pension plan:

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation at year end:
Discount rate 4.81 % 5.01 %

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:
Discount rate 5.01 % 2.78 %
Rate of compensation increase — % 3.50 %

The Company bases the discount rate assumption on current investment yields of high quality fixed income investments during the retirement benefits maturity period. The rate
of increase in future compensation assumptions reflects the Company’s long-term actual experience and future and near-term outlook.

The Company considered a number of factors to determine its expected rates of return on the assets in its plan, including, without limitation, historical performance of the plan
assets, investment style, asset allocations and other third-party studies and surveys. The Company considered the plan portfolio’s asset allocation over a variety of time periods and
compared them with third-party studies and reviewed performance of the capital markets in recent years and other factors and advice from various third parties, such as the pension
plan’s advisors, investment managers and actuaries. While the Company considered recent performance and the historical performance of its plan assets, the Company’s
assumptions are based primarily on its estimates of long-term, prospective rates of return. Differences between actual and expected asset returns are recognized in the net periodic
benefit cost over the remaining service period of the active participating employees.

Plan Assets—The investment committee for the Company’s plan adopted investment policies with the objective of meeting and exceeding over time, the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets assumptions, weighted against a reasonable risk level and considering the appropriate liquidity levels. In connection with this objective, the plan’s
assets were mainly invested in mutual funds, common and collective funds, corporate bonds, government bonds, private equity funds, as well as a real estate fund, in order to
achieve the Company’s goals to enhance the expected returns of its investments together with their liquidity and protect the plan’s funded status. As a result of the planned
termination of the qualified pension plan, certain of the plan’s assets were liquidated during the fourth quarter of 2021 and used to satisfy lump sum benefit payments as further
described above, and any remaining plan assets were liquidated during 2022. Therefore, at December 31, 2022 the remaining plan assets were invested in cash and cash
equivalents. As discussed above, during the first quarter of 2023, the Company transferred the remaining surplus of the plan to a suspense account held within a trust for the Flavors
& Ingredients defined contribution plan.

The following tables set forth, by category, the Company’s pension plan assets as of December 31, 2022, using the fair value hierarchy established under ASC Topic 820 and
as described in Note 9 (in thousands):

Pension Plan Assets as of December 31, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Pension plan assets measured at fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,522 $ — $ — $ 2,522 

Total pension plan assets measured at fair value $ 2,522 $ — $ — $ 2,522 

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value. There were no transfers between levels within the three-tier fair value hierarchy in 2022.
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Contributions—The Company does not expect to make further contributions to its funded defined benefit pension plan due to its termination.

Expected Future Benefit Payments—The projected benefit payments for the unfunded non-qualified defined benefit pension plans are as follows (in thousands):

2024 $ 355 
2025 425 
2026 592 
2027 588 
2028 583 
2029-2033 3,177 

The Company also participates in certain state-sponsored defined benefit plans covering certain non-U.S. employees with total net liabilities of $2.6 million and $1.9 million as
of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The primary state-sponsored plan relates to Merisant employees in Switzerland and France, which had pension benefit
obligations of $5.3 million and plan assets of $2.7 million as of December 31, 2023 and a pension benefit obligation of $5.5 million and plan assets of $3.6 million as of
December 31, 2022. Net periodic pension cost for 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $0.1 million, $0.4 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.

Defined Contribution Pension Plans—The Company has defined contribution 401(k) plans covering certain eligible domestic employees, as defined by the plans. The plans
provide for certain employer matching contributions. The Company recorded compensation expense related to its defined contribution plans of $1.2 million for both 2023 and 2022,
and $1.0 million for 2021.

NOTE 13: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

On June 24, 2020, the Whole Earth Brands, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) was approved for the purpose of promoting the long-term financial interests and
growth of the Company and its subsidiaries by attracting and retaining management and other personnel and key service providers. On June 8, 2023, the Company’s stockholders’
approved the Amended and Restated Whole Earth Brands, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Amended 2020 Plan”), which increased the number of shares authorized under
the Amended 2020 Plan by 4,000,000 shares. Subsequent to the amendment and restatement, an aggregate of 13,300,000 shares of common stock are authorized for issuance under
the Amended 2020 Plan. The Plan provides for the granting of stock options (“SOs”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), performance shares, performance share units (“PSUs”) and other stock-based awards to officers, employees and non-employee directors of, and certain other service
providers to, the Company and its subsidiaries. These awards are settled in shares of the Company’s stock and therefore classified as equity awards.

The RSUs and RSAs are accounted for as equity awards and have a grant-date fair value equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the grant date. RSUs granted
generally vest ratably on the anniversary of the grant date over a period of one to three years, depending on the specific terms of each RSU agreement. The RSAs granted to non-
employee board members cliff vest over a service period of approximately 24 months. The Company records compensation expense over the expected vesting period and recognizes
forfeitures in the period incurred.

PSU awards generally cliff vest subsequent to the completion of the cumulative three-year performance period, depending on the period specified in each respective PSU
agreement. The number of PSUs that ultimately vest depends on the Company’s performance relative to a specified cumulative financial targets established for each grant and are
expected to be settled in stock.

Stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $7.0 million, $4.9 million, and $8.7 million, respectively. Stock-based
compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 included $0.9 million of expense related to 2021 management bonuses that were settled in stock during the second
quarter of 2022. The tax benefit recognized related to stock-based compensation was $0.9 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.
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A summary of activity and weighted average fair values related to the RSUs is as follows:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair Value (per
share)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,538,759 $ 6.65 0.71
Granted 3,023,061 2.55 
Vested (1,224,235) 6.25 
Forfeited (1,220,914) 2.97 

Outstanding and nonvested at December 31, 2023 2,116,671 $ 3.19 1.12

The weighted average grant date fair value per share of RSUs granted during the year was $2.55 in 2023, $5.42 in 2022 and $13.48 in 2021.

The aggregate fair value of RSUs upon vesting during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $4.2 million, $1.5 million and $7.2 million, respectively.
A summary of activity and weighted average fair values related to the RSAs is as follows:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair Value (per
share)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 131,470 $ 8.75 1.19
Granted 141,280 4.07 
Vested (58,194) 11.00 

Outstanding and nonvested at December 31, 2023 214,556 $ 5.06 1.16

The weighted average grant date fair value per share of RSAs granted during the year was $4.07 in 2023, $6.96 in 2022, and $11.77 in 2021.

The aggregate fair value of RSAs upon vesting during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively. No RSAs vested during
the year ended December 31, 2021.

A summary of activity and weighted average fair values related to the PSUs is as follows:

Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date

Fair Value (per
share)

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 631,377 $ 8.49 1.88
Granted 1,934,388 2.20 
Forfeited (1,035,405) 3.06 

Outstanding and nonvested at December 31, 2023 1,530,360 $ 4.21 1.81
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The weighted average grant date fair value per share of PSUs granted during the year was $2.20 in 2023, $7.19 in 2022 and $13.65 in 2021.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had not yet recognized compensation cost on nonvested awards as follows (in thousands):

Unrecognized
Compensation Cost

Weighted Avg.
Remaining

Recognition Period
(in years)

Nonvested awards $ 7,243 1.39

The nonvested awards excludes unvested PSUs that are deemed not probable of vesting constituting $4.4 million of unrecognized compensation expense at December 31,
2023.

NOTE 14: EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per common share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period.
Warrants issued are not considered outstanding at the date of issuance. RSUs and RSAs also are not considered outstanding until they have vested. Contingently issuable shares
associated with outstanding PSUs that have cliff vesting based on achievement of a performance condition were not included in the earnings per share calculations for the periods
presented as the applicable vesting conditions had not been satisfied.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution. Dilutive common shares outstanding is computed using
the treasury stock method and reflects the additional shares that would be outstanding if dilutive warrants were exercised and restricted stock units and restricted stock awards were
settled for common shares during the period.

For warrants that are liability-classified, during the periods when the impact would be dilutive, the Company assumes share settlement of the instruments as of the beginning of
the reporting period and adjusts the numerator to remove the change in the fair value of warrant liability and adjusts the denominator to include the dilutive shares using the treasury
stock method.

The computation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is shown below (in thousands, except for share and per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

EPS numerator:
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 83 
Less: Change in fair value of warrant liabilities — — (29)

        Numerator - diluted $ (38,096) $ (58,752) $ 54 

EPS denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 42,483,083 41,481,079 38,505,458 
Effect of dilutive securities — — 1,370,929 

Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 42,483,083 41,481,079 39,876,387 

Net earnings (loss) per share:
Basic $ (0.90) $ (1.42) $ 0.00 
Diluted $ (0.90) $ (1.42) $ 0.00 
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, 20,263,300 warrants, 2,116,671 RSUs, and 214,556 RSAs were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation because they were
determined to be anti-dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2022, 20,263,300 warrants, 1,538,759 RSUs, and 131,470 RSAs were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation
because they were determined to be anti-dilutive. Additionally, at December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 1,530,360, 631,377 and 282,141 PSUs, respectively, were excluded from the
diluted EPS calculation because they are subject to performance conditions that were not satisfied.

NOTE 15: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following table summarizes accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”), net of taxes, by component (in thousands):

Net Currency
Translation

Gains
(Losses) Cash Flow Hedges

Funded
Status of

Benefit Plans

Total
Accumulated

Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 8,758 $ — $ 929 $ 9,687 
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (13,469) — 2,926 (10,543)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — — (186) (186)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (4,711) $ — $ 3,669 $ (1,042)
Other comprehensive income (loss), before reclassifications 11,787 (28) (544) 11,215 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI — (720) (204) (924)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 7,076 $ (748) $ 2,921 $ 9,249 

NOTE 16: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In July 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Watermill Institutional Trading LLC, a registered broker-dealer (“Watermill”), to act as one of the Company’s
financial advisors for a 12-month period commencing July 22, 2020 for total consideration of $0.9 million, of which $0.5 million was expensed during the year ended December 31,
2021. Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, the Company incurred additional expense of $2.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 related to services
provided by Watermill in connection with the acquisition of Wholesome. A former director of Act II is a registered representative of Watermill and provided services directly to the
Company under the agreement.

In December 2019, Wholesome entered into a partnership agreement with Sucro Can International, LLC (“Sucro”) to form WS Services, LLC (“WS Services”), in which
Wholesome received a 50% interest and accounted for the partnership as an equity method investment. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, Wholesome expensed
$0.7 million and $0.9 million, respectively, related to costs incurred by WS Services for Wholesome’s use of warehouse space for storage of raw materials and has a liability to WS
Services for $0.1 million at both December 31, 2023 and 2022. On December 31, 2023, Wholesome sold its 50% partnership interest to Sucro and exited the partnership in
exchange for a $0.2 million promissory note, plus accrued interest, due on March 30, 2024 and recorded a loss on the sale of the equity method investment of $0.5 million, which is
included in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statement of operations. Wholesome’s investment in the partnership, which was classified as other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets, was $0.7 million as of December 31, 2022.

On February 12, 2024, the Company entered into an Agreement of Merger with Ozark Holdings, LLC and Sweet Oak Merger Sub, LLC, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Ozark Holdings, LLC. Ozark Holdings, LLC owns Royal Oak Enterprises, LLC, and is controlled by Sir Martin E. Franklin, who is an immediate family member of Mr. Michael
Franklin, a current director and former CEO of the Company. Mr. Michael Franklin has a passive economic interest in Mariposa Capital LLC, which is an affiliate of Ozark
Holdings, LLC. See Note 18 for further information.
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NOTE 17: BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company has two reportable segments: Branded CPG and Flavors & Ingredients. In addition, the Company’s corporate office functions are reported and included under
Corporate. Corporate is not a reportable or operating segment but is included for reconciliation purposes and includes the costs for the corporate office administrative activities as
well as transaction-related and other costs. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. The Company does not present assets by
reportable segments as they are not reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker for purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources.

The following table presents selected financial information relating to the Company’s business segments (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Product revenues, net
Branded CPG $ 426,287 $ 422,638 $ 389,174 
Flavors & Ingredients 124,626 115,634 104,799 

Total product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 

Operating income (loss)
Branded CPG $ 8,167 $ (30,182) $ 34,918 
Flavors & Ingredients 35,681 32,505 21,860 

43,848 2,323 56,778 
Corporate (28,453) (26,969) (33,962)

Total operating income (loss) $ 15,395 $ (24,646) $ 22,816 

The following table presents geographic information based upon revenues of the Company’s major geographic markets (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

North America $ 366,207 $ 357,175 $ 318,958 
Europe 95,095 92,272 96,013 
India, Middle East and Africa 16,201 19,940 14,801 
Asia-Pacific 57,731 53,300 51,598 
Latin America 15,679 15,585 12,603 

Total product revenues, net $ 550,913 $ 538,272 $ 493,973 

The Company has a large and diverse customer base, which includes numerous customers located in foreign countries. Branded CPG’s combined sales to a single customer
accounted for 13.8%, 14.1% and 10.6% of total sales in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. With the exception of the United States, no one country represented more than 10% of
the Company’s net sales.

The Company has an exclusive supply contract to purchase the output of licorice extract and certain licorice derivatives from a manufacturer with facilities in Central Asia. For
the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company’s purchases from this supplier totaled approximately $13.0 million, representing 32.1% of the Company’s licorice raw material
purchases for the year.
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Long-lived assets are as follows (in thousands):
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Long-Lived Assets*
United States $ 20,990 $ 24,516 
China 14,421 14,805 
Czech Republic 6,355 6,451 
France 12,079 10,960 
Other Foreign Countries 1,092 1,360 

Total $ 54,937 $ 58,092 

*Long-lived assets consist of property, plant and equipment, net.

NOTE 18: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 12, 2024, the Company entered into an Agreement of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Ozark Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Parent”) and Sweet Oak Merger Sub, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub”). Upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, upon the closing of the transaction, Merger Sub is expected to merge with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company
surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent. The transaction is expected to close in the second calendar quarter of 2024, subject to the satisfaction of closing
conditions contained in the Merger Agreement, including approval of the Merger by (a) the holders of a majority in voting power of the Company’s outstanding common stock,
voting as a single class, and (b) the holders of sixty-six and two-thirds percent of the outstanding common stock not owned by Parent or any Parent Affiliated Persons (as defined in
the Merger Agreement). Upon completion of the transaction, the Company’s common stock will no longer be publicly listed and the Company will become a privately-held
company. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”):

• each share of the Company’s common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than (i) shares of common stock owned by the Company,
its wholly owned subsidiaries, Parent or any of Parent’s affiliates and (ii) dissenting shares of common stock) will be converted into the right to receive cash consideration
equal to $4.875 per share of common stock (the “Per Share Merger Consideration”);

• each warrant to purchase shares of common stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, without any action on the part of the holder thereof, cease to
represent a warrant to purchase shares of common stock and instead represent a right by the holder upon any subsequent exercise of such warrant to receive the Per Share
Merger Consideration, provided that if the holder of such warrant properly exercises such warrant within 30 days following the public disclosure of the consummation of the
Merger in a current report on Form 8-K, the exercise price of such warrant will be reduced by an amount equal to the difference (but in no event less than zero) of (i) the
exercise price of such warrant in effect prior to such reduction minus (ii) (A) the Per Share Merger Consideration minus (B) the Black-Scholes value of such warrant;

• each award of restricted common stock will become immediately fully vested and treated as a share of common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the
Effective Time;

• each restricted stock unit award with respect to shares of common stock will become fully vested and, after giving effect to such vesting, automatically be cancelled and
converted into the right to receive an amount in cash (less any applicable tax withholding) equal to (A) the total number of shares of common stock underlying such award,
multiplied by (B) the Per Share Merger Consideration; and

• each performance-based restricted stock unit award with respect to shares of common stock will become fully vested based on target level achievement of all performance
targets (without application of any modifier) and, after giving effect to such vesting, automatically be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash
(less any applicable tax withholding) equal to (Y) the total number of shares of common stock underlying such award, multiplied by (Z) the Per Share Merger Consideration.

75



Table of Contents
Whole Earth Brands, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Merger Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub, including, among others, covenants by the
Company (i) to conduct its business in the ordinary course during the period between the execution of the Merger Agreement and consummation of the Merger and (ii) not to
engage in certain expressly enumerated transactions during such period. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, the Company is subject to a customary “no-shop” provision that
restricts the Company and its representatives from soliciting a Takeover Proposal (as defined in the Merger Agreement) from third parties or providing information to or
participating in any discussions or negotiations with third parties regarding any Takeover Proposal. However, prior to the receipt of the requisite approval of the holders of common
stock, the “no-shop” provision permits the Company, under certain circumstances and in compliance with certain obligations set forth in the Merger Agreement, to provide non-
public information and engage in discussions and negotiations with respect to an unsolicited Takeover Proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to a Superior Proposal (as
defined in the Merger Agreement).

The Merger Agreement also contains certain termination rights for the Company and Parent, with a termination fee of $20 million payable by the Company to Parent under
certain circumstances and a termination fee of $40 million payable by Parent to the Company under certain circumstances. In addition, the Company or Parent may terminate the
Merger Agreement if the Merger is not consummated by August 12, 2024.

The Merger Agreement, the Merger and the transactions contemplated thereby were (i) unanimously recommended by a special committee of the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), consisting solely of disinterested members of the Board, on February 12, 2024 and (ii) unanimously approved by the disinterested members of the Board
on February 12, 2024.

The foregoing descriptions of the Merger, the Merger Agreement, and the transactions contemplated thereby are not complete and are qualified in their entirety by the full text
of the Merger Agreement, which is attached as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and described in more detail in Item 1.01 of the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 13, 2024.
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Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted
under the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange
Act). The Company’s management and the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. Management’s assessment was based on criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013). Based upon this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2023.

As discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, this Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting
firm pursuant to an exemption made available to us as an emerging growth company.

Item 9B.    Other Information.

Insider Trading Plans

None of the Company’s directors or officers adopted or terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Item 9C.    Disclosures Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections.

None.
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PART III

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 10 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K not later than 120
days after December 31, 2023. Such information is incorporated into this Item 10 by reference.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation.

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 11 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K not later than 120
days after December 31, 2023. Such information is incorporated into this Item 11 by reference.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The number of shares to be issued upon exercise or vesting of awards issued under, and the number of shares remaining for future issuance under our equity compensation
plans at December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Number of securities to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options, warrants

and rights

Weighted average exercise price per
share of outstanding options, warrants

and rights

Number of securities remaining available
for future issuance under equity

compensation plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 3,861,587 $ — 6,963,205 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders — $ — — 

Total 3,861,587 6,963,205 

(1) Includes 214,556 RSAs, 2,116,671 RSUs and 1,530,360 PSUs outstanding under our LTIP plans.
(2) There are no amounts provided under this column because only RSAs, RSUs and PSUs have been granted.
(3) Awards issuable under our LTIP plans include stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards, stock units, performance units and other stock-based awards.

Information related to the security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management will be provided in our 2024 proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K not later than 120 days after December 31, 2023. Such information is incorporated into this Item 12 by reference.

Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 13 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K not later than 120
days after December 31, 2023. Such information is incorporated into this Item 13 by reference.

Item 14.    Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 14 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K not later than 120
days after December 31, 2023. Such information is incorporated into this Item 14 by reference.

(1) (2) (3)
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PART IV

Item 15.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements

All financial statements of the Company as set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is disclosed in our audited consolidated financial statements or the
accompanying notes.

(3) Exhibits

The following exhibits are either attached or incorporated herein by reference to another filing with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Exhibit No. Description
2.1† Purchase Agreement dated as of December 19, 2019, by and among Act II Global Acquisition Corp., Flavors Holdings Inc., MW Holdings I

LLC, MW Holdings III LLC and Mafco Foreign Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Act II’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed with the SEC on December 23, 2019).

2.2† Amendment No. 1 to Purchase Agreement dated as of February 12, 2020 by and among Act II Global Acquisition Corp., Flavors Holdings
Inc., MW Holdings I LLC, MW Holdings III LLC and Mafco Foreign Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Act II’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 13, 2020).

2.3† Amendment No. 2 to Purchase Agreement dated as of May 8, 2020, by and among Act II Global Acquisition Corp., Project Taste
Intermediate LLC, Flavors Holdings Inc., MW Holdings I LLC, MW Holdings III LLC and Mafco Foreign Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Act II’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).

2.4† Amendment No. 3 to Purchase Agreement dated as of June 15, 2020, by and among Act II Global Acquisition Corp., Project Taste
Intermediate LLC, Flavors Holdings Inc., MW Holdings I LLC, MW Holdings III LLC and Mafco Foreign Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Act II’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 16, 2020).

2.5#† Equity Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2020, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., RF Development, LLC, Swerve,
L.L.C., and Swerve IP, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on
November 12, 2020).

2.6#† Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of December 17, 2020, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., WSO Investments, Inc., WSO Holdings,
LP, Edwards Billington and Son, Limited and WSO Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 17, 2020).

2.7 Agreement of Merger, dated February 12, 2024, by and among Ozark Holdings, LLC, Sweet Oak Merger Sub, LLC and Whole Earth Brands,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed with the SEC on June 30, 2020).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 12, 2021).

3.3 Bylaws of the Registrant (as amended through June 30, 2021) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 1, 2021).

3.4 Certificate of Domestication of Act II (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
SEC on June 30, 2020).
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4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of Act II’s Form S-4, filed with
the SEC on May 11, 2020).

4.2 Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement dated as of June 25, 2020, by and between Whole Earth Brands, Inc. and Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June
30, 2020).

4.3 Description of the Registered Securities.
10.1#‡ Amendment and Restatement Agreement dated as of February 5, 2021, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., certain domestic

subsidiaries thereto, Toronto-Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent thereunder, and certain lenders signatory thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 8, 2021).

10.2 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2022, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., certain
domestic subsidiaries thereto, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC as administrative agent thereunder, and certain lenders signatory thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 17, 2022).

10.3 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2023, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., certain
domestic subsidiaries thereto, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC as administrative agent thereunder, and certain lenders signatory thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2023).

10.4 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2023, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., certain
domestic subsidiaries thereto, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC as administrative agent thereunder, and certain lenders signatory thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 9, 2023).

10.5 Form of Subscription Agreement by and between Act II Global Acquisition Corp. and the subscribers signatory thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Act II’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 13, 2020).

10.6 Registration Rights Agreement dated April 25, 2019, among Act II Global Acquisition Corp., Act II Global LLC and certain other security
holders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Act II’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 1, 2019).

10.7 Escrow Agreement dated as of June 25, 2020, by and among Act II Sponsor LLC, Whole Earth Brands, Inc. and Continental Stock Transfer
& Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on June 30,
2020).

10.8+ Amended and Restated Whole Earth Brands, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the
Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on May 24, 2023).

10.9+ Form of Indemnity Agreement, between Whole Earth Brands, Inc. and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11
of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on May 11, 2020).

10.10+ Offer Letter, dated as of January 25, 2016, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.14 of Act II’s Form S-4, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).

10.11+ Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of July 1, 2017, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).

10.12+    2018 Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of November 4, 2018, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).

10.13+ 3rd Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of June 10, 2019, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).

10.14+ 4th Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of July 23, 2019, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1753706/000110465920045600/tv538254_ex10-14.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1753706/000110465920045600/tv538254_ex10-15.htm
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10.15+ 5th Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of September 9, 2019, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Act II’s Form S-4/A, filed with the SEC on April 10, 2020).

10.16+ 6th Amendment to Offer Letter dated as of February 10, 2020, by and between Merisant Company 2 SARL and Albert Manzone
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 14, 2021).

10.17*+ Offer Letter, dated as of December 15, 2021, by and between the Company and Duane Portwood.
10.18 Offer Letter, dated as of June 19, 2020, by and between the Company and Brian Litman with amendments dated as of January 20, 2021 and

September 30, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May
10, 2022).

10.19 Offer Letter, dated as of December 2, 2020, by and between the Company and Jeffrey Robinson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2022).

10.20+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 6, 2020).

10.21+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-U.S. Participants (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2020).

10.22+ Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on October 6, 2020).

10.23+ Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on October 6, 2020).

10.24+ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 6, 2020).

10.25 Offer Letter, effective as of April 24, 2023, by and between the Company and Bernardo Fiaux (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 25, 2023).

10.26 Consulting Agreement, dated February 12, 2024, by and among Whole Earth Brands, Inc., Ozark Holdings, LLC and Irwin D. Simon
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024).

10.27 Form of Transaction Bonus Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with
the SEC on February 13, 2024).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries.
23.1* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm of the Company.
31.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2* Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.3* Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
32.2* Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
32.3* Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
97.1* Whole Earth Brands, Inc. Clawback Policy.
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within

the Inline XBRL Document
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL * XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
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101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
104* The cover page for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K has been formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101

* Filed herewith.
+ Indicates a management or compensatory plan

† Schedules to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Registration S-K. The registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of any omitted
schedules to the SEC upon request.

# Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

‡ Certain portions of this exhibit (indicated by “[***]”) have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(10).

Item 16.    Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 12, 2024.

WHOLE EARTH BRANDS, INC.
By: /s/ Rajnish Ohri
Name: Rajnish Ohri
Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Jeffrey Robinson
Name: Jeffrey Robinson
Title: Co-Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Name Position Date

/s/ Rajnish Ohri Co-Chief Executive Officer March 12, 2024
Rajnish Ohri (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jeffrey Robinson Co-Chief Executive Officer March 12, 2024
Jeffrey Robinson (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Bernardo Fiaux Chief Financial Officer March 12, 2024
Bernardo Fiaux (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Irwin D. Simon Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors March 12, 2024
Irwin D. Simon

/s/ Anuraag Agarwal Director March 12, 2024
Anuraag Agarwal

/s/ Steven M. Cohen Director March 12, 2024
Steven M. Cohen

/s/ Denise Faltischek Director March 12, 2024
Denise Faltischek

/s/ Ira J. Lamel Director March 12, 2024
Ira J. Lamel

/s/ Michael F. Goss Director March 12, 2024
Michael F. Goss
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/s/ Michael Franklin Director March 12, 2024
Michael Franklin
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Exhibit 4.3

DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following summary of the material terms of our securities is not intended to be a complete summary of the rights and preferences of such securities, and is qualified by
reference to our certificate of incorporation (the “certificate of incorporation”), our bylaws (the “bylaws”) and the warrant-related documents described herein, each of which
are incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.3 is a part. We urge to you read each of the certificate of incorporation, the bylaws and the
warrant-related documents described herein in their entirety for a complete description of the rights and preferences of such securities. Our common stock and warrants are
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “we”, “us”, and “our” refer
to Whole Earth Brands, Inc.

Authorized Capital Stock

The total amount of our authorized capital stock consists of 220,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par
value $0.0001 per share. No shares of preferred stock are issued and outstanding.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors has authority to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to fix for each such series such voting powers, designations, preferences,
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences for the issue of such series all to
the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. The issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of decreasing the trading price of our common stock, restricting dividends on
our capital stock, diluting the voting power of our common stock, impairing the liquidation rights of our capital stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control our
company.

Common Stock

General
Holders of our common stock are not entitled to preemptive or other similar subscription rights to purchase any of our securities. Our common stock is neither convertible

nor redeemable. Unless our board of directors determines otherwise, we expect to issue all shares of our capital stock in uncertificated form.

Voting Rights

Each holder of our common stock is entitled to one vote per share on each matter submitted to a vote of stockholders, as provided by the certificate of incorporation. Our
bylaws provide that the holders of a majority of the capital stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, will constitute a
quorum at all meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business. When a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast is required to take
action, unless otherwise specified by law, our bylaws or our certificate of incorporation, and except for the election of directors, which is determined by a plurality vote. There
are no cumulative voting rights.

Dividend Rights

Each holder of shares of our common stock is entitled to the payment of dividends and other distributions as may be declared by our board of directors from time to time
out of our assets or funds legally available for dividends or other distributions. These rights are subject to the preferential rights of the holders of our preferred stock, if any, and
any contractual limitations on our ability to declare and pay dividends. Any dividends declared by our board of directors to the holders of the then outstanding shares of
common stock shall be paid to the holders thereof pro rata in accordance with the number of shares of common stock held by each such holder as of the record date of such
dividend.



Other Rights

Each holder of our common stock is subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any series of our preferred stock that we may designate and
issue in the future.

Liquidation Rights

If we are involved in voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, or a similar event, each holder of our common stock will participate pro
rata in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to prior distribution rights of our preferred stock, if any, then outstanding.

Warrants

Our warrants are issued under an Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”) dated as of June 25, 2020, between us and Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent. Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, each warrant is exercisable for one-half of one share of our common stock at an exercise
price of $5.75 per one-half share ($11.50 per whole share), subject to the adjustments provided in the Warrant Agreement.

Pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, warrant holders may exercise their warrants only for a whole number of shares of our common stock. Therefore, only two warrants or
a multiple of two warrants may be exercised at any given time by a warrant holder. No fractional shares will be issued upon exercise of the Warrants. For example, if a warrant
holder only holds one warrant to purchase one-half of one share of our common stock, such warrant will not be exercisable. However, if a warrant holder holds two warrants,
such warrants will be exercisable for one share of common stock. If, upon exercise of the warrants, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share (as a
result of a subsequent share dividend payable in shares of common stock, or by a split up of the common stock or other similar event), we will, upon exercise, round down to
the nearest whole number the number of shares of common stock to be issued to such holder.

No warrant is exercisable, and we are not obligated to issue shares of common stock, until such shares have been registered, qualified or deemed to be exempt from
registration or qualification under the securities laws of the state of residence of the warrant holder. If a registration statement covering the our common stock issuable upon
exercise of the warrants is not effective within 60 business days from the completion of the Transaction (as defined in the Warrant Agreement), or at any time thereafter,
warrant holders may, until such time as there is an effective registration statement, exercise warrants only on a “cashless basis” pursuant to an available exemption from
registration under the Securities Act. In such event, each holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of shares of common stock equal to
the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares underlying the warrants, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and
the “fair market value” (defined below) by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” will mean the average reported last sale price of the common stock for the 10
trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants.

The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable on exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a share
dividend, extraordinary dividend or our recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for issuances of common stock at a
price below their respective exercise prices. We are also permitted, in our sole discretion, to lower the exercise price at any time prior to the expiration date for a period of not
less than 20 business days, provided that we provide at least 20 days’ prior written notice of such reduction to registered holders of the warrants and that any such reduction will
be applied consistently to all of the warrants. Any such reduction in the exercise price will comply with any applicable regulations under the federal securities laws, including
Rule 13e-4 under the Exchange Act generally and Rule 13e-4(f)(1)(i) specifically.

The warrants will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time on the earlier to occur of (x) the date that is five years from the completion of the Transaction, (y) our
liquidation, or (z) other than with respect to the private placement warrants, the redemption date as fixed by us pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, if we elect to redeem all
warrants as described below. Each outstanding warrant not exercised on or before the expiration date will become void, and all rights under the warrants and the Warrant
Agreement will cease as of the expiration date.



We may call the warrants for redemption, in whole and not in part, at a price of $0.01 per warrant:

• at any time while the warrants are exercisable,

• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder

• if and only if, the reported last sale price of the shares of our common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share, for any 20 trading days within a 30-day trading period
ending on the third business day prior to the notice of redemption to warrant holders, an

• if and only if, there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to our common stock underlying such warrants at the redemption date and for the entire 30-
day trading period referred to above and continuing each day thereafter until the date of redemption

If we call the warrants for redemption as described above, we will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise warrants to do so on a “cashless basis.”
Whether we will exercise our option to require all holders to exercise their warrants on a “cashless basis” will depend on a variety of factors including the price of our common
stock at the time the warrants are called for redemption, our cash needs at such time and concerns regarding dilutive share issuances

A warrant holder will not have the rights or privileges of holders of common stock and any voting rights with respect to the shares underlying any warrants until they
exercise such warrants and receive common stock. After the issuance of common stock upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to such rights with respect to
such shares of common stock as provided by applicable law, our organizational documents and any other applicable agreement.

Warrant holders may elect, at their sole option and discretion, to be subject to a restriction on the exercise of their warrants such that an electing warrant holder (and his,
her or its affiliates) would not be able to exercise their warrants to the extent that, after giving effect to such exercise, such holder (and his, her or its affiliates) would
beneficially own in excess of 9.8% of the common stock outstanding.

The Warrant Agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective
provision, but requires the approval, by written consent or vote, of the holders of 65% of the then-outstanding public warrants in order to make any change that adversely affects
the interests of the registered holders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may lower the exercise price or extend the duration of the exercise period of the warrants in
accordance with the Warrant Agreement, without the consent of any holder.

Anti-Takeover Effects of the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws

Our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws contain provisions that may delay, defer or discourage another party from acquiring control of our company. We expect that
these provisions, which are summarized below, will discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage
persons seeking to acquire control of our company to first negotiate with our board of directors, which we believe may result in an improvement of the terms of any such
acquisition in favor of our stockholders. However, they also give our board of directors the power to discourage mergers that some stockholders may favor.

Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our certificate of incorporation provides that a special meeting of stockholders may be called by the (a) the chairperson of our board of directors or (b) our board of
directors.

Removal of Directors

Subject to applicable law, any director or the entire board of directors may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 662⁄3% of
the total voting power of our then issued and outstanding capital stock entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.



Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

The DGCL provides generally that the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding stock entitled to vote on amendments to a corporation’s certificate of incorporation
or bylaws is required to approve such amendment, unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or bylaws, as the case may be, requires a greater percentage. Our bylaws
may be further amended, altered, changed or repealed by a majority vote of our board of directors.

Delaware Anti-Takeover Statute

Section 203 of the DGCL provides that if a person acquires 15% or more of the voting stock of a Delaware corporation, such person becomes an “interested stockholder”
and may not engage in certain “business combinations” with such corporation for a period of three years from the time such person acquired 15% or more of such corporation’s
voting stock, unless: (1) our board of directors of such corporation approves the acquisition of stock or the merger transaction before the time that the person becomes an
interested stockholder, (2) the interested stockholder owns at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock of such corporation at the time the merger transaction commences
(excluding voting stock owned by directors who are also officers and certain employee stock plans) or (3) the merger transaction is approved by our board of directors and at a
meeting of stockholders, not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder. A
Delaware corporation may elect in its certificate of incorporation or bylaws not to be governed by this particular Delaware law. Under our certificate of incorporation, we have
not opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Our certificate of incorporation limits the liability of our directors to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, and our bylaws provide that we will indemnify them to the
fullest extent permitted by such law. We have entered into and expect to continue to enter into agreements to indemnify our directors, executive officers and other employees as
determined by our board of directors. Under the terms of such indemnification agreements, we are required to indemnify each of our directors and officers, to the fullest extent
permitted by the laws of the state of Delaware, if the basis of the indemnitee’s involvement was by reason of the fact that the indemnitee is or was our director or officer or was
serving at our request in an official capacity for another entity. We must indemnify our officers and directors against all reasonable fees, expenses, charges and other costs of
any type or nature whatsoever, including any and all expenses and obligations paid or incurred in connection with investigating, defending, being a witness in, participating in
(including on appeal), or preparing to defend, be a witness or participate in any completed, actual, pending or threatened action, suit, claim or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal, administrative or investigative, or establishing or enforcing a right to indemnification under the indemnification agreement. The indemnification agreements also
require us, if so requested, to advance all reasonable fees, expenses, charges and other costs that such director or officer incurred, provided that such person will return any such
advance if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification by us. Any claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our
available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Exclusive Jurisdiction of Certain Actions

Our certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions brought in our name against our directors, officers or employees for
breach of fiduciary duty, any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or other similar actions may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the
State of Delaware and, if brought outside of Delaware, the stockholder bringing the suit will be deemed to have consented to service of process on such stockholder’s counsel.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, our certificate of incorporation provides that the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Section 22 of the
Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and
regulations thereunder. Similarly, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in
the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.



Transfer Agent

The transfer agent for our common stock and warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.



Exhibit 10.17

December 15, 2021

Duane Portwood, via email

Dear Duane,

We are pleased to extend to you this offer of employment for the position of Chief Financial Officer – Whole Earth Brands, at Merisant US, Inc. (the “Company”), reporting
directly to me. Summarized below are the principal terms of our employment offer.

• Your start date will be mutually agreed upon with the Company.
• Your base salary (“Base Salary”) will be paid at the rate of $435,000.00 USD per year, subject to appropriate tax withholdings and deductions, payable in accordance with

the Company’s normal payroll cycle. You will be eligible to participate in the 2023 salary increase cycle subject to your individual performance and business performance.
• After the end of each calendar year in which you are employed, you will be eligible for a discretionary bonus based on both individual and business performance and such

other performance metrics that may be set annually, with a target level of 60% of Base Salary. Final determination of the year-end bonus is in the sole discretion of the
Company. For purposes of clarity, you will be bonus eligible beginning with the 2022 bonus year.

• You will be eligible for 5 Week’s (25 days) vacation on an annualized basis, which shall be prorated for any partial year of service.
• You will receive a one-time signing bonus in the amount of $225,000, made up of $100,000 in cash and $125,000 in Restricted Stock Units (subject to approval by the

Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of Whole Earth Brands). The actual number of Restricted Stock Units will be based on the price of Whole Earth Brands
stock on the grant date, and vest one (1) year from the grant date. Should you voluntarily resign or be terminated for cause prior to two years’ of employment with the
Company, the signing bonus must be repaid by you in its entirety, within 60 days of your termination date.

• Additionally, subject to approval by the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of Whole Earth Brands, you will be eligible to participate in the Whole Earth
Brands 2022 Long-term Incentive Plan given the important strategic and leadership role you will play in the Company. Your target award value for the 2022 – 2024 plan will
be $652,500.00 USD. This award is made up of 50% Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and 50% Performance Stock Units with three (3) year vesting, and the award values have
the opportunity to grow based upon growing the enterprise value of the Company. Award values can also be reduced if the Company underperforms. The terms of these
awards will be subject to definitive documentation, it being understood that the terms of such definitive documentation will supersede this paragraph.

• You shall be entitled to all benefits for which you are eligible under the employee benefit plans of the Company, which may include, without limitation, any 401(k) plan, life
insurance, disability insurance, health insurance, or other so-called “fringe” benefit plans or policies. Benefits may be amended, modified or terminated at the Company’s
discretion. The Company’s benefit programs are described in separate official plan documents, the terms of which govern these benefits.

• This position is based in Chicago, IL, and for the foreseeable future it is agreed that you will commute from your current place of residence as needed, generally on a bi-
weekly basis, the reasonable cost of which will be paid for via Company credit card. If at any time in the future both you and the Company agree that relocation to the
Chicago area would be beneficial, relocation support will be provided.

During your employment and for 12 months thereafter (the “Non-Compete Period”), you shall not, directly or indirectly, enter the employ of, or render any services to, any
person, firm or corporation engaged in any business competitive with the business of the Company or of any of its subsidiaries or affiliates; you shall not engage in such
business on your own account; and you shall not become interested in any such business, directly or indirectly, as an individual, partner, shareholder, director, officer, principal,
agent, employee, trustee, consultant, or in any other relationship or capacity provided,



however, that nothing contained in this section shall be deemed to prohibit you from acquiring, solely as an investment, up to five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of
capital stock of any public corporation. You further agree that while you are employed by the Company and during the Non-Compete Period, you will not hire or attempt to hire
any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates, assist in such hiring by any person, encourage any such employee to terminate his or her relationship with the Company or
any of its affiliates, or solicit or encourage any customer or vendor of the Company or any of its affiliates to terminate or diminish its relationship with them, or, in the case of a
customer, to conduct with any person any business or activity which such customer conducts or could conduct with the Company or any of its affiliates.

This offer is contingent upon your satisfactory completion of the Company’s pre-employment background checks including but not limited to reference checks and a drug test.
Please note that your employment with the Company is also contingent upon your execution of a Confidentiality Agreement. You hereby represent and warrant that you are not
subject to any other agreement, including without limitation any agreement not to compete or confidentiality agreement, which would be violated by your performance of
services hereunder. The validity, interpretations, construction and performance of this agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois without giving effect to
conflict of laws principles.

The Company is required by law to obtain documentation of employment authorization and identity within three days of your start date. As a condition of employment, you are
required to complete the I-9 form included in your new hire kit and, within three days of your start date, provide the documentation of employment authorization and identity
described on the reverse side of the I-9 form. The Company also requires documentation that you have received the COVID-19 vaccination.
It is with a great deal of confidence that I extend this offer of employment to you, and I look forward to working with you.

Very truly yours,

/s/ Albert Manzone
     Albert Manzone
     Chief Financial Officer

Please indicate your acceptance of this offer by signing in the space below and returning a signed original letter to me by December 17, 2021.

Accepted: /s/ Duane Portwood Date: December 15, 2021
     Duane Portwood

We call your attention to the fact that; notwithstanding the offer outlined in this letter, your employment is “at will” and can be terminated, with or without cause or notice, at any time, at the
option of either the employee or the Company. No representative of the Company, except the Chief Executive Officer, has the authority to enter into any agreement where employment is
guaranteed for any specified period of time or to make any agreement contrary to the foregoing and any such agreements are null and void, and you should not rely on any representations to
the contrary.



Exhibit 21.1

Whole Earth Brands, Inc.
List of Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2023

Name of Subsidiary State or Country
Merisant Spain SL Spain
Merisant Company 2, Sarl. Switzerland
Merisant Company Delaware
Merisant US, Inc. Delaware
Merisant Luxembourg Sarl Luxembourg
Mafco Worldwide LLC Delaware
Extraits Vegetaux ET Derives, SAS France
Zhangjiangang Free Trade Zone Mafco Biotech Co., Ltd. China
Swerve, L.L.C. Louisiana
Swerve IP, L.L.C. Louisiana
WSO Investments, Inc. Delaware
Wholesome Sweeteners, Incorporated Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-261030) of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.,
2. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-262535) of Whole Earth Brands, Inc., and
3. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-248764) pertaining to the 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.;

of our report dated March 12, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Whole
Earth Brands, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 12, 2024



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Rajnish Ohri, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Rajnish Ohri
Rajnish Ohri
Co-Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Jeffrey Robinson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Jeffrey Robinson
Jeffrey Robinson
Co-Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.3

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Bernardo Fiaux, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 of Whole Earth Brands, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Bernardo Fiaux
Bernardo Fiaux
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Rajnish Ohri, Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Rajnish Ohri
Rajnish Ohri
Co-Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Jeffrey Robinson, Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Jeffrey Robinson
Jeffrey Robinson
Co-Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.3

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Whole Earth Brands, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Bernardo Fiaux, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, that to his knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 12, 2024

/s/ Bernardo Fiaux
Bernardo Fiaux
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 97.1

WHOLE EARTH BRANDS, INC.
CLAWBACK POLICY

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Whole Earth Brands. Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to
adopt this Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), which provides for the recovery of certain incentive compensation in the event of an Accounting Restatement (as defined below).
This Policy is designed to comply with, and shall be interpreted to be consistent with, Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”),
Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act (“Rule 10D-1”) and Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608 (the “Listing Standards”).

1. Administration

Except as specifically set forth herein, this Policy shall be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, a committee thereof (the Board or such committee
charged with administration of this Policy, the “Administrator”). The Administrator is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary,
appropriate or advisable for the administration of this Policy. Any determinations made by the Administrator shall be final and binding on all affected individuals and need not
be uniform with respect to each individual covered by the Policy. In the administration of this Policy, the Administrator is authorized and directed to consult with the full Board
or such other committees of the Board, such as the Audit Committee or the Compensation Committee, as may be necessary or appropriate as to matters within the scope of such
other committee’s responsibility and authority. Subject to any limitation at applicable law, the Administrator may authorize and empower any officer or employee of the
Company to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to carry out the purpose and intent of this Policy (other than with respect to any recovery under this Policy
involving such officer or employee).

2. Definitions

As used in this Policy, the following definitions shall apply:

(a) “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement of the Company’s financial statements due to the Company’s material noncompliance with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the
previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

(b) “Administrator” has the meaning set forth in Section 1 hereof.

(c) “Applicable Period” means the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, as
well as any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years (except that a
transition period that comprises a period of at least nine months shall count as a completed fiscal year). The “date on which the Company is required to prepare an
Accounting Restatement” is the earlier to occur of (a) the date the Board, or any Committee thereof that has authority to conclude an Accounting Restatement is required,
concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement or (b) the date a court, regulator or other legally
authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement, in each case regardless of if or when the restated financial statements are filed.

(d) “Covered Executives” means the Company’s current and former executive officers, as determined by the Administrator in accordance with the definition of executive
officer set forth in Rule 10D-1 and the Listing Standards.

(e) “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” has the meaning set forth in Section 5 of this Policy.
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(f) A “Financial Reporting Measure” is any measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial
statements, and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from such measure. Financial Reporting Measures include but are not limited to the following (and any measures
derived from the following): Company stock price; total shareholder return (“TSR”); revenues; net income; operating income; profitability of one or more reportable segments;
financial ratios (e.g., accounts receivable turnover and inventory turnover rates); earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”); funds from
operations and adjusted funds from operations; liquidity measures (e.g., working capital, operating cash flow); return measures (e.g., return on invested capital, return on
assets); earnings measures (e.g., earnings per share); sales per square foot or same store sales, where sales is subject to an Accounting Restatement; revenue per user, or average
revenue per user, where revenue is subject to an Accounting Restatement; cost per employee, where cost is subject to an Accounting Restatement; any of such financial
reporting measures relative to a peer group, where the Company’s financial reporting measure is subject to an Accounting Restatement; and tax basis income. A Financial
Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the Securities Exchange Commission.

(g) “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.
Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” for purposes of this Policy in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the
Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of such Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

3. Covered Executives; Incentive-Based Compensation
This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by a Covered Executive (a) after beginning services as a Covered Executive; (b) if that person served as a
Covered Executive at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation; and (c) while the Company had a listed class of securities on a national
securities exchange.

4. Required Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in the Event of an Accounting Restatement
In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company shall promptly recoup the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation
received by any Covered Executive, as calculated pursuant to Section 5 hereof, during the Applicable Period.

5. Erroneously Awarded Compensation: Amount Subject to Recovery

The amount of “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” subject to recovery under the Policy, as determined by the Administrator, is the amount of Incentive-Based
Compensation received by the Covered Executive that exceeds the amount of Incentive- Based Compensation that would have been received by the Covered Executive had it
been determined based on the restated amounts.

Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be computed by the Administrator without regard to any taxes paid by the Covered Executive in respect of the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation.

In the case of Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to
mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Restatement, the amount shall reflect a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or
total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received, as determined by the Adminstrator in its sole discretion. The Administrator may determine
the form and amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in its sole discretion.
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6. Method of Recoupment

The Administrator shall determine, in its sole discretion, the timing and method for promptly recouping Erroneously Awarded Compensation hereunder, which may include
without limitation (a) seeking reimbursement of all or part of any cash or equity-based award, (b) cancelling prior cash or equity-based awards, whether vested or unvested or
paid or unpaid, (c) cancelling or offsetting against any planned future cash or equity-based awards, (d) forfeiture of deferred compensation, subject to compliance with Section
409A of the Internal Revenue Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder and (e) any other method authorized by applicable law or contract. Subject to compliance with
any applicable law, the Administrator may affect recovery under this Policy from any amount otherwise payable to the Covered Executive, including amounts payable to such
individual under any otherwise applicable Company plan or program, including base salary, bonuses or commissions and compensation previously deferred by the Covered
Executive.

The Company is authorized and directed pursuant to this Policy to recoup Erroneously Awarded Compensation in compliance with this Policy unless the Compensation
Committee of the Board has determined that recovery would be impracticable solely for the following limited reasons, and subject to the following procedural and disclosure
requirements:

(a) The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the recoverable amounts; provided that the Company has made a reasonable attempt to
recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, has documented such attempt and has (to the extent required) provided that documentation to Nasdaq;

(b) Recovery would violate home country law where the law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022, and the Company provides an opinion of home country counsel to that
effect to Nasdaq that is acceptable; or

(c) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan to fail to meet the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

7. No Indemnification of Covered Executives

Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification or insurance policy or any contractual arrangement with any Covered Executive that may be interpreted to the contrary, the
Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of
third-party insurance purchased by any Covered Executives to fund potential clawback obligations under this Policy.

8. Administrator Indemnification

Any members of the Administrator, and any other members of the Board who assist in the administration of this Policy, shall not be personally liable for any action,
determination or interpretation made with respect to this Policy and shall be fully indemnified by the Company to the fullest extent under applicable law and Company policy
with respect to any such action, determination or interpretation. The foregoing sentence shall not limit any other rights to indemnification of the members of the Board under
applicable law or Company policy.

9. Effective Date; Retroactive Application

This Policy shall be effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). The terms of this Policy shall apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation that is received by
Covered Executives on or after the Effective Date, even if such Incentive-Based Compensation was approved, awarded, granted or paid to Covered Executives prior to the
Effective Date.

10. Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend, modify, supplement, rescind or replace all or any portion of this Policy at any time and from time to time in its discretion, and shall amend this Policy as
it deems necessary to comply with applicable law or any rules or standards adopted by a national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.
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11. Other Recoupment Rights; Company Claims

The Board intends that this Policy shall be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other
remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company under applicable law or pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement,
equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company.

Nothing contained in this Policy, and no recoupment or recovery as contemplated by this Policy, shall limit any claims, damages or other legal remedies the Company or any of
its affiliates may have against a Covered Executive arising out of or resulting from any actions or omissions by the Covered Executive.

12. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.
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